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CHAIRMAN’S -STATEMENT

RESULTS

The consolidated turnover of the Company
and ifs subsidiaries for the year ended 31
March 2019 amounted to HK$21,715,000 (2018:
HK$34,910,000) of which HKS$11,059,000 (2018:
HK$8,367,000) was attributable to the business
of publishing and intellectual properties
licensing; HKS$1,337,000 (2018: HK$3,147,000)
was affributable to online and social business;
HK$5,784,000 (2018: Nil) was attributable
to digital marketing; HK$26,000 (2018:
HK$20,378,000) was attributable to retailing and
wholesales business; and HK$3,509,000 (2018:
HKS$3,018,000) was attributable to the business
of catering. Loss for the year attributable to
equity holders, tfaking into account of taxation,
was HKS$31,335,000 (2018: HKS$58,042,000). The
loss per share was HK2.3 cents (2018: HK4.2
cents).

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board of Directors has resolved not to
declare any final dividend for the year ended
31 March 2019 (2018: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year, the Group has continued on
streamlining operations and business segments,
controlling costs and developing IPs marketing
and related businesses, employing technology
and digitalisation with a broad data base of
IPs transactions and evaluation, to support
customers in formulating marketing strategies,
using fraditional or digital media channels.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

FRBEE

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

The net loss for the year was reduced from
HK$57,796,000 in 2018 by HK$25,756,000 to
HK$32,040,000 in 2019, a 44.6% reduction. The
Group recorded a gross profit of HK$15,156,000
comparing to a gross loss of HK$18,637,000 of
last year. This turn-around reflects the payoff
of our continuing development of IPs related
businesses, our efforts in disengaging from the
risky film production and distribution business
and online social and media business. The
Group continues to focus on the development
of IPs marketing, adding values to our
customers’ IPs and investing in quality IPs and
the right to use exclusively certain prominent
IPs owned or developed by third parties.

The Group while cautious on costs control,
is also deploying additional resources, in
particular hiring and adding capable human
resources, in managing and expanding
business. The Group is on solid and stable
growth path to return to profit and becoming
a reckoned participant in the IPs marketing
business.

Publishing and intellectual properties
licensing

The higher publishing and IP licensing income of
HK$11,059,000 comparing to HK$8,367,000 from
last year was mainly affributable to increased
efforts on IP licensing, while revenue from
publishing of comic books has remained rather
static, generating income of HK$4,688,000
comparing to HK$4,556,000 in the last year.
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F3R 2018-2019 XLBEEEARQF

CHAIRMAN’S -STATEMENT

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Publishing and intellectual properties
licensing (Continued)

As digital media is replacing fast printed
version, the Group has re-aligned its operations
in adapting to the change and ftrying to
capture more readers and customers. The
Group has devoted more resources to
build a digital presence by digitalising and
commercialising its IPs, connecting with online
platforms for our publications and producing
content using new technologies such as
animation videos and Virtual Reality (VR)
effects. The Group is investing in a transition
to digitalisation of its IPs licensing and comic
publishing business.

Online and social business

The Group suffered heavy losses in impairment
and writing off of film rights and film production
in progress, which amounted to HK$32,788,000
in 2018; and the Group stopped investing in
film production and distribution. The Group
continued to scale down and divest from
investing in online and social media business
this year. Segment loss during the year has
reduced from HK$34,930,000 in 2018 to
HK$1,481,000.

In March this year, the Group disposed Ucan
Commercial Limited and its subsidiary, a
subsidiary engaged in building an online and
social business. While shunning from investing
in the online and social media platform, the
Group is deploying its resources to focus on
only producing media, including short films,
for customers’ IP marketing or promotional
events. The Group is expecting this new media
marketing segment, while both online and
offline, will generate additional revenue and
profit for the Group.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

FRBEE

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Digital marketing

The Group announced in March last year
that it entered info an agreement to take a
controlling stake of 55% in At ZFZFFAREAER
A\ ("EQmen”). EQmen is principally engaged
in the digitalisation and commercialisation of
IPs, content creation and digital marketing.
The investment amount is RMB40,000,000 (or
about HK$47,555,000) for new shares of the
company. An unexpected delay in completion
of this acquisition due to finalisation of certain
formalities, contributed revenue of HK$5,784,000
from September 2018. After becoming a
subsidiary of the Group, EQmen has embarked
on the strengthening of its fechnical and
marketing teams and its management system.
Starting a period of investment to build a
strong base for expansion its IPs marketing
and commercialisation business. EQmen has
been collaborating with certain prominent IPs
owners, including the Palace Museum #WE &
¥ B. While it is trying to secure the right to
use certain prominent IPs, it is difficult to gain
exclusive licensing arrangement. The Group
is rendering its full support to EQmen to either
gain access to exclusive licensing right of
quality IPs or acquisition of IPs outright. The
Group and EQmen both realize the possession
of a portfolio of quality IPs is foundation to build
a sfrong base to develop business. In March
this year, EQmen signed a 3-year licensing and
IP marketing agreement with a government
unit directly under the National Copyright
Administration of the PRC BIRMMER., which is
responsible for the registration of all copyrights,
including written, musical, or images. The
collaboration aims at promoting the licensing
of registered IPs and to facilitate IP owners in
the bridging of a commercial relationship with
customers thereby broadening the services
offered to registered IP owners and, at the
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F3R 2018-2019 XLBEEEARQF

CHAIRMAN’S -STATEMENT

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Digital marketing (Continued)

same time, creating and adding values to the
registered IPs. EQmen, in addition to putting
forth IP marketing plans, is also responsible for
creating derivatives of the IPs for IP owners
to broaden their commercial usages. EQmen
is allowed to gain access to the |IP database
of registered IPs and to use official platforms
of the government unit to launch programs in
promoting IP marketing services. The program
under this arrangement, is tentatively labeled
as “IP E@E “or “IP Express”, to be launched
on the government unit’s official platforms. The
Group is prepared to commit to fully support
EQmen in securing access to a broad portfolio
of IPs and to assist EQmen in the transformation
tfo become a prominent, fechnology driven, IP
licensing and marketing operator in Hong Kong
and the PRC.

In May this year, the Group has entered into
a joint-venture with =i B AlE E R KR H
B BR 2 8 ("WeiResearch”). WeiResearch has
ongoing business relationship and contfractual
arrangements with a number of electronic
media and electronic social media including
but not limited to Sina Weibo, WeChat, TikTok,
Kuaishou, etfc. The collaboration enables
the development of the Group’s digital
business through proactive marketing with
its existing and new clients, and enhancing
tfarget marketing effectiveness through the
expertise of WeiResearch, employing more
comprehensive data analysis techniques
focusing on actual results of market media.
This business venture allows the Group
to supplement EQmen’s IP marketing by
deepening the overall technical capabilities of
marketing media analysis.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

FRBEE

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Digital marketing (Continued)

A subsidiary of the Group using media data
analysis commenced a ftrial project in February
2019 with Vipshop Holdings Limited (NYSE:
VIPS), a New York Stock Exchange listed
leading e-commerce operator, to enlist new
customers utilizing our tfechnical knowledge
and [P marketing skills to select KOLs (Key
Opinion Leaders) and MCNs (Multiple Channels
Network) tfo promote Vipshop’'s products on
Weibo platform. In a two-month trial period,
over 6,000 new customers were enlisted, with
enhancement fo existing customer spending.
Although the full impact and actual overall
performance of this trial project were yet to be
fully assessed and performance standard to be
fine funed. The Group proved that its technical
ability of digital IP marketing is solid and
effective, and The Group is looking forward to
continue and to deepen our collaboration with
Vipshop.

The Group is fully committed to become
a prominent player of IP marketing. The
slogan for our IP Marketing is “All Businesses
are Digitalised, and All Digitalisation are
Commercialised, —)¥EBHE L —IHBEEK
£
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CHAIRMAN’S -STATEMENT

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Retailing and wholesales

Faced with the uncertain global economic
outflook and the vulnerable Hong Kong retail
market, the overall retail and wholesale of
premium wine business environment has been
unstable and challenging for the year ended
31 March 2019.

The Group hired a wine and beverage
consultant to study the various distribution
channels for premium wine. The Group
continues to explore new marketing channels,
with particular focus on wholesale or block
sales, and adjusting its sales and marketing
strategies aiming at volume rather than price.

Catering

The Group is conftrolling tightly running costs
of its catering services, combining with a
slightly improved market conditions, overall the
segment loss during the year is reduced 53.8%
from HK$2,944,000 to HKS$1,360,000.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

FRBEE

PROSPECT

It is the primary objective of the Group in the
past fwo years to streamline existing businesses.
Looking ahead, the Group will continue tfo
seek new business opportunities, to strive to
build on and expand its IP marketing business
in Hong Kong and the PRC. The focus will
be on enhancing our core competitiveness
in content production, IP digitalisation and
commercialisation, by investing in businesses
and human resources with strong technical
and marketing capabilities. This year, the
Group has been successful in fransforming
from the fraditional IP licensing and publishing
to digitalisation, coming off from online and
social media to focusing on IP marketing and
licensing.

The Group aims to strengthen and expand our
client base and business operations, expand
and deepen our existing scope of digital
marketing services and fto continue fo pursue
growth through internal growth or investments
in capable digital marketing teams or
operations, employing advance technical and
market driven methodologies.

The Group is confident that it has and will
continue to build a solid foundation for
expansion and a path fo return to profitability.
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CHAIRMAN’S -STATEMENT

APPRECIATIONS

| would like to express my sincere thanks to the
Board of Directors, our management and staff
for their continued dedication in the past year,
and to all our customers, suppliers, business
partners and shareholders for their enthusiastic
support of the Group.

Kwan Kin Chung
Managing Director
Hong Kong, 28 June 2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THEM®ESH

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group’s consolidated net loss attributable
to the owners of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2019 decreased by 46.0% to
HK$31,335,000 or 45.2% to HK2.3 cents per share
(31 March 2018: loss of HK$58,042,000 or HK4.2
cents per share).

The analysis of consolidated statement of profit
and loss and other comprehensive income for
the year ended 31 March 2019 is as follows:

1.

Revenue

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the
Group’s overall furnover decreased by
approximately 37.8% to HKS$21,715,000
of which approximately HK$11,059,000,
HKS$1,337,000, HK$5,784,000, HK$26,000 and
HK$3,509,000 (31 March 2018: HKS$8,367,000,
HKS$3,147,000, nil, HK$20,378,000 and
HK$3,018,000) were attributable to our
business of publishing and intellectual
properties licensing, online and social
business, digital marketing, retailing and
wholesales and catering respectively.

The Group has recorded an increase in
turnover for the business of publishing
and intellectual properties licensing,
representing an increase of approximately
32.2%. The increase was mainly attributable
to increase efforts on intellectual properties
C'IP™) licensing.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the
furnover of the online and social business
segment has decreased by 57.5% to
HK$1,337,000 compared to last year. The
drop was mainly due to the industry of
digital cinema experiencing a slowdown in
the PRC.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL RESULTS (Continued)

1.

Revenue (Continued)

The turnover of HK$5,784,000 in the digital
marketing business is from an acquisition of
a new subsidiary and a newly incorporated
subsidiary in the PRC.

The turnover of retailing and wholesales
segment represents the sales of premium
wine of HK$26,000 for the year ended 31
March 2019.

The catering services in Macau reported
an increase in revenue of 16.3% to
HKS$3,509,000 as compared to the year of
2018 due to improvement of the market
conditions in general.

Gross profit and gross profit
margins

The Group recorded a gross profit of
approximately HK$15,156,000 with a
gross profit margin of 69.8% for the year
ended 31 March 2019 as compared fo
the year of 2018, which recorded a gross
loss of HK$18,637,000. The gross loss for
the year of 2018 was due fo the one-off
amortization of film right of *On the Pitch”
of HK$29,405,000 on the completion of the
film’s theatrical release in the PRC during
the year of 2018. The amortization of film
right for the year of 2019 was HK$540,000.
Comparing the gross profits for both
periods, the improvement was due to the
improvement of cost confrol and market
conditions in general.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
THEM®ESH

FINANCIAL RESULTS (Continued)

3.

Other expenses

The Group recorded an aggregate other
expenses from continuing operations of
approximately HK$18,132,000 for the year
ended 2019 (2018: HK$10,891,000) and from
discontinued operation of approximately
HKS$7,396,000 for the year ended 2019
(2018: HKS$8,483,000) respectively. Such
other expenses include audit fee,
corporate fee, directors’ emolument,
consultancy and other professional fee.
The increase in other expenses from
continuing operations was mainly due to
the new subsidiaries in the PRC for digital
marketing.

The other expenses from discontinued
operation were mainly research and
development expense incurred for the
development of multi-media applications
in the amount of approximate HK$6,490,000
and HK$6,600,000 for the year ended 31
March 2019 and 2018 respectively. Despite
the increase in the total expenses for the
year ended 31 March 2019 as compared
to the same period of previous year, the
Group was able to cut and conftrol its total
loss.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL RESULTS (Continued)
4. Loss before tax

The Group recorded a loss before tax from
continuing operations of approximately
HK$22,579,000 for the year ended 31 March
2019 (2018: HK$45,889,000). Loss from
discontinued operation of approximately
HK$9,467,000 for the year ended 31 March
2019 (2018: HKS$11,889,000). The Group has
been successful in controlling costs and
cutting off non-profitable operations. The
Group is confident that with continuous
control and reduction of costs, and
continuous development in our core IPs
related business, the Group will return to
profitability.

Also, as at 31 March 2019, the Group has
net asset of approximately HK$302,192,000
(31 March 2018: HK$310,682,000). Net asset
value per share of HKS0.22 (2018: HKS0.22).

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 28 March 2018, Culturecom (Hong Kong)
Limited, a wholly-owned indirect subsidiary of
the Group has entered into a capital increase
agreement (the “Agreement”) with Egmen
Technology Limited ("EQmen”) and its existing
equity holders to increase the registered
capital and capital reserves of EQmen in
form of cash of RMB40,000,000 (approximately
HK$47,555,000). EQmen is principally engaged
in the digitalisation and commercialisation of
IPs, content creation, agency of IPs services
and digital marketing. Upon completion, the
equity interest in EQmen is owned 55% by
Culturecom (Hong Kong) Limited and 45% by
the existing equity holders. This transaction was
completed on 31 August 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THEM®ESH

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the
Group implemented measures to streamline its
operations.

On 28 March 2019, the Group entered
info an agreement to dispose of the entire
shareholdings of its wholly owned subsidiary,
Ucan Commercial Limited and its subsidiary,
fo an independent third party for a cash
consideration of HK$30,000. The transaction was
completed on 29 March 2019.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

As of 31 March 2019, the Group had bank and
deposits with financial institutions balances in
aggregate of approximately HK$220,370,000
and financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss of approximately HK$5,379,000.
The Group has no significant exposure to
foreign exchange rate fluctuation except
for the currency of RMB. As of 31 March
2019, the Group had a net current asset of
approximately HK$269,187,000 (31 March 2018:
HK$305,872,000) and a current ratio of 26.0 (31
March 2018: 31.6). The Group’s total liabilities as
of 31 March 2019 amounted to approximately
HKS$12,167,000 (31 March 2018: HK$10,706,000)
and represented approximately 4.3% (31 March
2018: 3.4%) to equity attributable to owners of
the Company.

Upon consideration of the above, the Directors
have no doubt that the Group will have
sufficient liquidity to finance its daily operations,
as reflected by its healthy financial status with
a wealth of cash flow and other resources.
As always, the Group will continue to follow
prudent and disciplined cash management
practices on any excess liquidity.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As of 31 March 2019, the Group had a total
of 99 employees of which 32 are based
in Hong Kong, 9 in Macau and 58 in the
PRC. Total staff costs from continuing and
discontinued operations incurred for the
year ended 31 March 2019 amounted fo
approximately HK$18,120,000 (31 March 2018:
HKS$13,826,000). Remuneration packages are
maintained at competitive levels and reviewed
by the management on a periodical basis.
Discretionary bonuses and incentive share
options are awarded to certain directors and
employees according to the assessment of
individual merit and performance.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEHREE

The Directors present their annual report and
the audited financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding
company. The activities of its principal
associate and subsidiaries are set out in
notes 15 and 36 fo the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATE

Details of the Group’s associate and of the
Company’s subsidiaries at 31 March 2019 are
set out in notes 15 and 36 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2019 and the state of the Company’s
and the Group’s affairs as at that date are set
out in the financial statements on pages 79 to
250.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate turnover during the year
attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for 65.7% of the Group’s
turnover from continuing operations, of which
16.8% was attributable to the largest customer.

The aggregate purchases during the year
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for 47.8% of the Group’s total
purchases from continuing operations, of which
16.2% was attributable to the largest supplier.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
(Continued)

At no time during the year did a Director, an
associate of a Director or a shareholder of
the Company (which to the knowledge of the
directors own more than 5% of the Company’s
share capital) have an interest in any of the
Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2019 including a fair review
of the business and discussion of the principal
risks and uncertainties facing the Group and
indication of likely future developments in the
Group’s business, are set out in the "Chairman’s
Statement”, “Management Discussion and
Analysis” and “Financial Summary” sections of
this Annual Report. Save as disclosed in the
Company’s announcement, no important event
affecting the Group that has occurred since
the end of the financial year ended 31 March
2019.

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed during
the year of 2019, nor has any dividend been
proposed since the end of the reporting period
(2018: nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group spent approximately
HKS410,000 on the acquisitions of property,
plant and equipment.

Details of these and other movements during
the year in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group are set out in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEHREE

SHARE CAPITAL, WARRANTS AND
SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements during the year in the
share capital, the warrants and the share
option schemes of the Company are set out
in notes 26, 27 and 28 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and
the Company during the year are set out in
consolidated statement of changes in equity
and note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of 31 March 2019, the Company has
no reserves available for disfribution to
shareholders.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and
liabilities of the Group for the past five financial
years is set out on pages 251 and 252.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year
and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia (Vice Chairman)

Mr. Huang Mingguo (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 3 July 2018)

Mr. Kwan Kin Chung (Managing Director)

Mr. Yuen Kin

Mr. Tang Kwing Chuen Kenneth
(resigned on 11 March 2019)

Mr. Chen Man Lung (resigned on 16 April 2018)
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DIRECTORS (Continued)
Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Kwan Kit (appointed on 3 July 2018)
Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew
Mr. Mung Yat Lik

(appointed on 14 December 2018)
Mr. Lai Qiang (resigned on 31 January 2019)
Ms. Ng Ying (resigned on 25 March 2019)

The Directors of the Company, including
Executive, and Independent Non-Executive
Directors ("INEDs”) are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company. In accordance
with Clauses 101, 110(A) and 190(v) of the
Company’s Bye-Laws, Messrs. Chow Lai Wah
Livia, Mung Yat Lik and Kwan Kin Chung will
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves, for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting
has a service contract which is not terminable
by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

The Company has received the annual
confirmation of independence from each of
the INEDs as required under Rule 3.13 of Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”). The Company considered all INEDs to
be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEHREE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia, aged 58, joined the
Company in April 2008 and was appointed as
an Executive Director on 17 May 2011, and as
Vice Chairman of the Company on 26 March
2012. Currently, Ms. Chow is a member of
the Corporate Governance Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Ms. Chow is the
Director of L&W Holding Limited which is one of
the substantial shareholders of the Company.
Ms. Chow presently is responsible for corporate
management of the Group. Ms. Chow holds a
Master of Business Administration from Stillman
School of Business at Seton Hall University
and has more than 25 years of extensive
experience in executive development and
corporate management. Aside from business
management, Ms. Chow is also actively
involved in charity work. Presently, she is the
President of the Cai Ting Kai Charity Association
and the Vice Chairman of Trustee Committee
of the Chu Bong Foo Culture Foundation.

Culturecom Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2018-2019

EENEREERAEL
EEEAER

HITES

BEELZL: 88m R=ZZEZENFEAMAR
RNERZE-——FRHATLHEZERHTE
B URZZFB-—-F=ZA-T+RBEZERER
AEERE - ALt RBERALRARLCEERZE
S -FHEESRREEEEEZRE - ALLH
AATEERR 2 —L&W Holding Limited z
B - AT HAEAEEZCXERER -
BZtHEXERARAZHEHERTERNIE
BHBETEY WEHBDFEELELER
BRRITBHEELR -BRTEBERZIN ALt
ERARRARRETY REAREHREASH
BNEERABEILECEETEZEENE =
fE o



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Huang Mingguo, aged 47, was appointed
as an Executive Director and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company in July 2018. Mr. Huang
is a member of the Corporate Governance
Committee of the Company and is a Director
of certain subsidiaries of the Group. He holds
a Bachelor Degree in Chemistry from Peking
University and a Certificate of Advanced
Management Program from Harvard Business
School. Mr. Huang was the project manager of
market research division in P&G, China. He has
also set up and operated numerous companies
which were engaged in advertising media,
market research, capital management and
investment business. In 2010, he was appointed
as the Chairman of Panmedia Institute which
is the first nonprofit making think tank in China
established to undertake the development and
study of media knowledge and management.
In 2011 to 2014, he served as an Executive
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of
Shanghai Midas Media Limited. In August 2015,
Mr. Huang set up the venture fund - k& &
B S HA¥RE D EDaker investing in new
business startups. Mr. Huang has equity interest
in ETMHRBLZAREEEEMR A A, of which is
a general partner of RBEHBEZBEH A ER
B ZE(BERAK). Mr. Huang is also a limited
partner of BRBH B PASHRAIERELE(BRE
££) which holds a 6.75% equity interest in Egmen
Technology Limited ("EQmen”), a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Huang
is the legal representative and a Director of
EQmen.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEHREE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Kwan Kin Chung, aged 50, joined the
Group in 1998 and was appointed as an
Executive Director and Managing Director
of the Company in March 2008. Mr. Kwan is
the Chairman of the Corporate Governance
Committee of the Company and is a Director
of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Kwan
held the position of Vice President of the Group
from 1998 to 2002 and was appointed as an
acting Chief Executive Officer of the Company
in April 2007. During the period of serving as the
Vice President of the Group, Mr. Kwan was also
the vice publisher of Tin Tin Daily News where
he gained wealth of experience in the media
industry. Mr. Kwan has extensive experience
in businesses restructuring and corporate
investment. He holds a Bachelor Degree of
Arts in Economics from Zhongshan University,
Guangzhou, PRC. Mr. Kwan had been an
Executive Director of Cloud Investment Holdings
Limited, formerly known as China Bio Cassava
Holdings Limited, from February 2001 to May
2017 (stock code: 8129).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Yuen Kin, aged 64, was appointed as
an Executive Director of the Company in
September 2017 and Mr. Yuen is a Director of
certain subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Yuen holds
a Master of Business Administration degree
from the University of Toronto, Canada. He is a
Chartered Professional Accountant in Canada
and he is a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. He has extensive experience in
corporate finance, financial planning, reporting
and management.

He is an Independent Non-Executive Director
of Lafe Corporation Limited (SGX:AYB), a
company listed on the Singapore Exchange.
He is also an Independent Non-Executive
Director of Emerson Radio Corporation
(NYSEMKT: MSN), a company listed on The
American Stock Exchange. He is currently an
Independent Non-Executive Director of Huayi
Tencent Entertainment Limited (stock code:
0419), a company listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr.
Yuen had been a Non-Executive Director of
Kong Sun Holdings Limited from January 2017 to
November 2017 (stock code: 0295), the shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFEHREE

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Chen Man Lung, aged 53, was appointed as
Executive Director of the Company in October
2009 (resigned in April 2018) and appointed
as Chief Operation Officer of the Company
in October 2012 (resigned in June 2017). He
has been an Executive Director of Cloud
Investment Holdings Limited, formerly known
as China Bio Cassava Holdings Limited, from
May 2007 to June 2012 (stock code: 8129) and
he has been an Independent Non-Executive
Director of Zhuoxin International Holdings
Limited, formerly known as Mobile Telecom
Network Holdings Limited, from March 2002 to
November 2004 (stock code: 8266), the shares
of which are listed on the Growth Enterprise
Market of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. He had been an Independent Non-
Executive Director of China Internet Investment
Finance Holdings Limited, formerly known as
Opes Asia Development Limited, fromm May 2007
to June 2012 (stock code: 0810), a company
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited, and he has also been
the Chief Financial Officer of ViaGold Capital
Limited from 2007 to 2010 (VIA.AX), a company
whose shares are listed on the Australian Stock
Exchange.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Chen is also the Director and founder of
fwo private equities focusing on antique and
art investment, as well as media investment.
For public services, he currently serves as the
director of The Hong Kong Baptist University
Alumni Association Limited, the Director of the
Hong Kong Comics & Animation Federation
Limited (HKCAF), Advisor to the Federation
of Hong Kong Brands, Advisor to Hang Seng
Management College and Hong Kong Bapftist
University as well as founding member of
the International Federation of Creative and
Technology. He served as Academic Advisor
of Academy of Visual Arts and the Humanities
program of Hong Kong Baptist University, and
Committee Member of the Hong Kong Inbound
Travel Agent Association Limited (HKITA). He
was granted the Bachelor Degree of Artfs in
Sociology and the Master Degree of Arts in
Chinese Studies from The Hong Kong Baptist
University and The Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology respectively. Mr. Chen
has over 26 years of extensive experience in
the investment industry.

Mr. Tang Kwing Chuen Kenneth, aged 41,
was appointed as an Executive Director of
the Company on December 2008, Mr. Tang
was a member of the Corporate Governance
Committee of the Company. Mr. Tang has
resigned as Executive Director and resigned as
member of Corporate Governance Committee
of the Company on 11 March 2019. Mr. Tang
holds a Master of Commerce Degree majoring
in Finance and a Bachelor of Science Degree
majoring in Information Systems from the
University of New South Wales. He joined the
Group as Project Manager in October 2003.
He has extensive years of experience in the
banking and finance industry.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Kwan Kit, aged 47, was appointed as
an Independent Non-Executive Director of the
Company in July 2018. Mr. Wong is a member
of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee
of the Company. Mr. Wong is currently an
Independent Non-Executive Director of Man
Sang International Limited (stock code: 0938),
which is listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

He holds a Master of Business Administration
degree from the Chinese University of Hong
Kong. Mr. Wong is a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Mr. Wong has over 18 years of experience
in accounting and financial management,
mergers and acquisitions gained from certain
finance related positions in companies listed in
Hong Kong.

Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew JP, aged 40, was
appointed as an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company in April 2015. Mr.
Fan is a member of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Fan is a
practicing certified public accountant in Hong
Kong with over 12 years of experience. He holds
a Bachelor Degree of Business Administration
(Accounting and Finance) from The University
of Hong Kong and a Bachelor Degree in
Laws from the University of London. Mr. Fan
is a member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom
and an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He
is also a committee member of the tenth to
twelfth Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference of the Zhejiang Province, the fourth
and fifth Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference of Shenzhen and the Tenth Vice
Chairman of Zhejiang Province United Young
Association.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
(Continued)

Mr. Fan is currently an Independent Non-
Executive Director of Fulum Group Holdings
Limited (stock code: 1443), Sinomax Group
Limited (stock code: 1418), Chuang’s China
Investments Limited (stock code: 0298), Space
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 2448),
Nameson Holdings Limited (stock code: 1982),
and Universal Star (Holdings) Limited (stock
code: 2346), all of which are companies listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Fan is also currently
an Independent Non-Executive Director of
Omnibridge Holdings Limited (stock code:
8462), Sanbase Corporation Limited (stock
code: 8501), CNC Holdings Limited (stock
code: 8356) listed on the Growth Enterprise
Market of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. Mr. Fan had been an Independent
Non-Executive Director of LT Commercial Real
Estate Limited from March 2013 to December
2016 (stock code: 0112), Far East Holdings
International Limited from October 2009
to February 2012 (stock code: 0036), Milan
Station Holdings Limited from March 2013 to
July 2015 (stock code: 1150) and Hong Kong
Resources Holdings Limited from July 2015
fo May 2017 (stock code: 2882), the shares
of both companies are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, and On Real International Holdings
Limited from September 2015 to August 2016
(stock code: 8245), the shares of which are
listed on the Growth Entferprise Market of
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
(Continued)

Mr. Mung Yat Lik, aged 61, was appointed
as an Independent Non-Executive Director of
the Company in December 2018. Mr. Mung
is a member of the Audit Committee of the
Company.

He has 30 years of experience in investment
management, tourism, logistics and investment
property. In particular, he has extensive
experience in cooperation with state-owned
enterprises in investment and operations, as
well as cable media management. Mr. Mung
acted as the Vice President and general
manager of Guangdong Southern Yinshi Cable
Media Company Limited (BRm AR A K EE
ABR2F)and as a Director of Hoteline Network
Limited. Mr. Mung is currently the Managing
Director of Guangdong Guoye Greenhouse
Technology Limited (BERBEIE#ZEREERAT),
the vice president and investment director of
Xiamen Xinyou Logistics Company Limited (&
FIZXYRAEMRAT)and the Vice President and
investment director of Hainan Shenxing Travel
Limited (B8R TRITHER A F) .
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
(Continued)

Mr. Lai Qiang, aged 45, was appointed as
an Independent Non-Executive Director of
the Company in December 2008. Mr. Lai
was a member of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Lai has
resigned as Independent Non-executive
Director and resigned as member of Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee of the Company
on 31 January 2019. He is an intermediate level
economist. He holds a Bachelor Degree in
Infernational Finance (Professional Economics),
International Trading Finance Department, from
Zhongshan University, Guangzhou, PRC. Mr,.
Lai is currently the Vice President of Shenzhen
Spring Woods Holdings Limited (G& Il & & R
ERARADT). Mr. Lai has over 21 years of
practical experience in group enterprise fund
management and financial management.

Ms. Ng Ying, aged 50, was appointed as
an Independent Non-Executive Director of
the Company in December 2012. Ms. Ng
has resigned as Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company on 25 March 2019.
She has over 22 years of experience in
accounting and finance management for
private and listed companies in Hong Kong and
Mainland China. Ms. Ng holds a Higher Diploma
of Arts in Economics from Zhongshan University,
Guangzhou, PRC.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Senior Management

Mr. Gao Yu, aged 44, is one of the founders
of R SFFIBFEBMR AR (EQmen Technology
Limited), a subsidiary of the Group. Mr. Gao
was one of the founders of Dopod, a high-
end smartphone brand now acquired by HTC
in China. Prior to being an entrepreneur, he
worked for over 12 years in Microsoft and
acted as the marketing director of Windows
in the Greater China region, he was in charge
of the marketing and business development of
Windows OS and Windows Phone in Microsoft
Greater China.

Mr. Gao has a good understanding of customer
needs, a sfrong systematic and execution
ability and many years of tfeam management
experience. He holds Bachelor Degrees in
Business Administration (1> ¥ & 2 2 + )and in
Chemistry and Environmental Engineering ({1t
EEIRE T), both from Beijing University of
Technology, Beijing, PRC.

Ms. Zhang Jingyu, aged 47, joined Culturecom
Group as Vice President in October 2018. Ms.
Zhang was the Chief Operating Officer of E
KAENLEEREAR LA from 2016 to 2018 and
of ERFHPEEMEAR AT from 2010 to 2012, and
the Senior Vice President of E8 5@ K AR QA
from 2012 to 2014. She holds a Bachelor Degree
in Accounting and Audit from Zhongshan
University, Guangzhou, PRC, and a Master of
Business Administration degree from Alliance
Manchester Business School, The University of
Manchester, in United Kingdom. Ms. Zhang has
over 20 years of extensive experience in the
marketing industry.

Ms. Lee Yuk Ping, aged 51, joined the Group
in September 1997. Ms. Lee holds a Master
Degree of Professional Accounting. She is a
fellow member of both the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
She has extensive experience in auditfing,
accounting and corporate finance.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company has fterminated its share option
scheme adopted on 21 August 2002 (the “2002
Scheme”) and adopted a new share option
scheme (the "2013 Scheme”) on its 2013 annual
general meeting held on 12 August 2013.

No shares are available for issue under the 2002
Scheme and 2013 Scheme as of the date of
this Annual Report.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors of the
Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
(A) Interests of the Directors

As of 31 March 2019, the interests and
short positions of each Director of the
Company in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")) which are
required (a) to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions
which he/she is taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO); or (b)
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein;
or (c) pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Companies to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange:
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS B E(E)
(Continued)
(A) Interests of the Directors (A) EEzRER(E)
(Continued)
Interests in the shares of the Company REANGRG Z D
Approximate
percentage
Number of of issued share
Name of Director Capacity Nature of interest shares held capital
HERTRA
Esps 54 BEHE FrsRHEE ZBHRELH
Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia (i) Beneficial owner Personal interest 32,962,800 23.25%
ABELL EREEA BARER
(i) Interests of a confrolled Corporate interest 271,502,312
corporation NEER (Note 1)
RRARZER (H=E1)
(i) Interests of spouse Personal interest 18,895,000
EBER AR (Note 2)
(M= 2)
Mr. Huang Mingguo (i) Beneficial owner Personal interest 14,460,000 1.08%
ERERLE EGERA BARER
(i) Interests of a controlled Corporate Interest 500,000
corporation (Note 3)
ZENRZ RS ARER (£ 3)
Mr. Tang Kwing Chuen Beneficial owner Personal interest 135,000 0.01%
Kenneth EREEA EPN: (Note 4)
BRREE (M=x4)
Mr. Chen Man Lung Beneficial owner Personal interest 200 N/A
BRELE EREAA AR (Note 5)
(M= 5) TEA



DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
(Continued)

(A) Interests of the Directors
(Continued)

Interests in the shares of the Company
(Continued)

Notes:

1.

Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia (“Ms. Chow”) has
confrolling interests in L&W Holding Limited
(“L&W"), L&W is beneficially interested in
271,502,312 shares in the Company. Accordingly,
Ms. Chow is deemed to be interested in
271,502,312 shares in the Company under the
SFO.

Mr. Dizon Basilio (“Mr. Dizon”), the spouse of
Ms. Chow, is beneficially interested in 18,895,000
shares. Therefore, Ms. Chow is deemed to be
interested in 18,895,000 shares in the Company
under the SFO.

Mr. Huang Mingguo has controlling interests in
Jet Victory Investments Limited (“Jet Victory™).
Jet Victory is beneficially interested in 500,000
shares in the Company. Accordingly, Mr. Huang
is deemed to be interested in 500,000 shares in
the Company under the SFO.

Mr. Tang Kwing Chuen Kenneth resigned as
Executive Director on 11 March 2019.

Mr. Chen Man Lung resigned as Executive
Director on 16 April 2018.

All interests stated above represent long
positions.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
(Continued)
(A) Interests of the Directors

(B)

(Continued)

Save as disclosed above, as of 31
March 2019, none of the Directors of the
Company had interests or short positions
in any securities of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which are
required (a) to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions
which he/she is taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO); or (b)
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, fto be
entered in the register referred to therein;
or (c) pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Companies to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

Interests of Substantial Shareholders

As of 31 March 2019, so far as is known to
any Director or Chief Executive Officer of
the Company, the following person had
an interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded
in the register fo be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO:
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS EaEE(E)
(Continued)
(B) Interests of Substantial Shareholders B) FEREER(EF)
(Continued)
Interests in the shares and underlying RIE AL BB = e

shares of the Company

Approximate
Number percentage of

of shares issued share
Name Capacity held capital
HEBITRA
e=g 514 ERGEER ZHMABE D
L&W Holding Limited Beneficial owner 271,502,312 19.52%
BEREEA
Mr. Dizon Basilio Beneficial owner, interests in a 323,360,112 23.25%
FHELE controlled corporation and
interests of spouse (Note 1)
EREEA - ZEAQT
ZRERREBERS (1)
Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia Beneficial owner, interests in a 323,360,112 23.25%

BAEELZL controlled corporation and
interests of spouse (Note 2)
EREEA - ZEAQT
RS R EBER (MEE2)
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
(Continued)

(B) Interests of Substantial Shareholders

(Continued)

Interests in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company (Continued)

Notes:

1. Mr. Dizon Basilio (*Mr. Dizon”) is beneficially
interested in 18,895,000 shares in the Company.
Mr. Dizon also has controlling interests of 65% in
L&W Holding Limited ("L&W"). L&W is beneficially
interested in 271,502,312 shares in the Company.
Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia ("Ms. Chow"), the spouse
of Mr. Dizon and the Director of the Company,
is beneficially interested in 32,962,800 shares in
the Company. Accordingly, Mr. Dizon is deemed
to be interested in 323,360,112 shares in the
Company under the SFO.

2. Ms. Chow is beneficially interested in 32,962,800
shares in the Company. Ms. Chow is the spouse
of Mr. Dizon and has conftrolling interests in L&W.
Accordingly, She is deemed to be interested in
323,360,112 shares in the Company under the
SFO.

All interests stated above represent long
positions.

Save as disclosed above, as of 31 March
2019, the Directors and the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company were not aware
of any person who had an interest or
short position in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall
to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which were recorded in the
register to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS REEE(E)
(Continued)

(c) Interests in shares of associated (C) RELQ BB LB 2 R0 2 S
corporations of the Company

Approximate percentage of

Name of the shareholding on the associated
associated corporation Name of Director corporation
HEEEAE EEpns REBZEREZBOBE DL
EQmen Technology Limited Mr. Huang Mingguo 6.75% (Note 1)
RS EFRZERLE EHRELXE (£ 1)
Note: MisE
1. Mr. Huang Mingguo (“Mr. Huang”) has equity 1. EHEEXE(EXEDIRAKRETHABEEZARE
interest in T A BLZHREEEFBRAA, of EEERLARNEERE MEAKSHEZAS
which is a General Partner of i P BEHRE HAERELE(BREN ZEBEHKA - EX
HAEXRERLE(ERE). Mr. Huang is also a ENAKRETEZHEHAERELE(BRE
Limited partner of HkEFHBEZHASTHAXKRE D RIZERENA  BELERZFARNKEERA
#(B R4 ), which holds a 6.75% interest in AH5FHMN26.75% %% MAAREFEH
EQmen Technology Limited (*EQmen”), of which 55% R ERR - BEEEAZFAZEERETAR
the Company holds a 55% indirect interests. BEo

Mr. Huang is the legal representative and the
Director of EQmen.

All interests stated above represent long LTI BIE
positions.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

No confracts of significance fo which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party
and in which a Director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

The Group had carried on a continuing
connected transaction ("CCT”) on 24 May
2019, the details of which are disclosed below
in compliance with the requirement of Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

A subsidiary of the Company, dt =& £ EER
AR DT (Subsidiary”) and t mZ# i BAIER
BHE B M AR D (CWeiResearch”) entered into
the Servicing Agreement and the Licensing
Agreement ("CCT Agreements”) on 24 May
2019. WeiReserach holds 45% in the Subsidiary
of the Group and is a connected person of the
Company as it is a substantial shareholder of
the Subsidiary. Other than the holding of a 45%
equity inferest in the Subsidiary, WeiResearch
is otherwise not a connected person of the
Company. WeiResearch is a connected person
at the subsidiary level whilst the fransactions
contemplated under the CCT Agreements
will be continuing connected fransactions
of the Company. The Board has approved
the CCT Agreements and the transactions
contemplated thereunder. The Independent
Non-executive Directors have confirmed that
the proposed terms of the CCT Transactions
which will be conducted pursuant to the CCT
Agreements are fair and reasonable, on normal
commercial terms or better and in the interests
of the Company and the Shareholders as a
whole.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a) Servicing Agreement

FERERS (E)

(a) BR%5 1

Pursuant to the Servicing Agreement
signed on 24 May 2019, the Group
will be given priority by WeiResearch
in the procurement of the Services
to WeiResearch provided that the
material terms offered by the Group
are comparable to those offered by
independent third parties. The Scope of
the Services will be determined based on
WeiResearch’s or its customers’ marketing
campaign specifications fo be agreed
on project-based terms. The proposed
monetary cap of the Services from the
date of the Servicing Agreement up to 31
December 2019 is RMB80,000,000.

(b) Licensing Agreement

Pursuant to the Licensing Agreement
signed on 24 May 2019, WeiResearch
licenses the use of its Software to the
Group exclusively and irrevocably for three
years. The Group shall have access to the
Software to carry out digital marketing
data analysis for the purpose of its
ordinary and usual course of business. The
proposed annual caps of the licensing fee
payable by the Subsidiary to WeiResearch
pursuant to the Licensing Agreement for
the 12 months ending on the first, second
and third anniversary of the date of the
Licensing Agreement are RMB750,000,
RMB750,000 and RMB750,000 respectively.

Save as the above disclosed, no other
contracts of significance to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was
a party and in which a Director of the
Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the year or at any time during the year.

RER-ZF-AFHA-+NAFT 2RH
e MASERMCERMEREBLE=
HRRHERS  AAKEESENREAE
TERBZRBRE - RFBLEAZZ MR TAIH
HEFRBEBGRRBE 2T SHEREER
BIRE - BERBHZEHEEZE_F—H
F+ZAZ+-BLZBRBEZEELRA
AR 80,000,000 7T ©

(b) RKEHZ

BRER-ZZE-NAFALA-+HART 2 RKE
% i A SUE S A AT B ith [ A<
SERLBHZERE  BB=F - ~KH
BRECHBFETEBNSEE I L&
T-HREBEEXE  REZENHS  HWEQ
ARBEREMRZARE - F-RE={E
BFELB12EABRAMRIBRIZREEH
ZEZFE LR B H AR 750,000
A B 750,000 ;T & A K% 750,000 7T °

Br EXFrR T E S EFE RN FAEAE
B ARARESEARAIEEMHELQF
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors nor their respective
associates had any business which competed
or was likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights
under the Company’s Bye-Laws, or the laws of
Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-Laws, every
Director or other officers of the Company shall
be enfitled to be indemnified out of the assefts
of the Company against all losses or damages
which he may sustain or incur in or about
the execution of the duties of his office, or
otherwise in relation thereto.

The Company has arranged appropriate
Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance
coverage for the Directors and Officers of the
Group.
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REPURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION
OF LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries have
repurchased, sold or redeemed any of the
listed securities in the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2019.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company,
with written terms of reference in line with
the code provisions set out in the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices (the "Code”)
as stipulated in Appendix 14 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the "Stock Exchange”), currently
comprises of three Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Wong Kwan Kit, Mr. Fan
Chun Wah Andrew and Mr. Mung Yat Lik.

Following the retirement of Mr. Joseph Lee
Chennault on 22 August 2017, the Company
comprises of fwo Audit Committee members,
Mr. Lai Qiang and Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew,
the number of which fell below the minimum
number required under Rules 3.21 of the Listing
Rules.

After the appointment of Mr. Wong Kwan Kit
as Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company on 3 July 2018, the Company has
then complied with the Rules 3.21 of the Listing
Rules.

The Audit Committee of the Company
has reviewed with the management the
accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group and discussed the internal
control, risk management and financial
reporting matters including the review of the
audited financial statement for the year ended
31 March 2019.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year, the Group has complied
with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a material impact on the business of the
Group in all material aspect and there were
no circumstances of material breach or non-
compliance of applicable laws and regulations.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

Regarding the ESG performance, the Group
strictly complied with applicable regulations,
laws, and standards related to environmental
and social aspects. For the year ended 31
March 2019, managerial focus on digitalization
contfinues to assist the Group to achieve long-
term business resilience, fulfilling its economic,
environmental and social sustainability.
Engagement with stakeholders has resulted
in raised concerns on key material issues
on various social aspects. The Group will
continue to identify areas of improvement
for the concerned aspects and keep close
communication with its stakeholders for
advancing ESG management.

A separate environmental, social and
governance report is expected to be published
on the website of the Stock Exchange no later
than three months after the publication of this
report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principle corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company is set out
on pages 48 to 67 of the annual report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF
LISTED ISSUERS

The Company has adopted the "Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers” as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules as its own code for dealing in securities
of the Company by the Directors (the "Model
Code”). Having made specific enquiry of all
Directors, the Company confirmed that all
Directors have complied with the required
standard as set out in the Model Code during
the year ended 31 March 2019.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly
available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, as at the date
of this report, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float as required under the
Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2019 were audited by
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, who will retire and a
resolution to re-appoint Deloitte as auditors
of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Kwan Kin Chung
Managing Director

Hong Kong, 28 June 2019
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LAFEARSE

INTRODUCTION

The Group is committed to achieving high
standards of corporate governance which
is crucial to the development of the Group
and safeguard the interests of the Company’s
shareholders. To accomplish this, the Group has
adopted practices which meet the Code as set
out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. During
the year, the Company has complied with the
Code except for the following deviations:

CODE PROVISION A.4.1

Under the code provision A.4.1, Non-
executive Directors should be appointed for
a specific term, subject to re-election. The
current Independent Non-executive Directors
of the Company are not appointed for a
specific term. However, all Directors (including
Executive and Non-executive) of the Company
are subject to retirement by rotation at the
annual general meeting in accordance with
Bye-Law 110(A) and 190(v) of the Bye-Laws
of the Company. As such, the Company
considers that sufficient measures have been
taken to ensure that the Company’s corporate
governance practices are no less exacting than
those in the Code.

CODE PROVISION A.5.5

Under the code provision A.5.5, the Nomination
Committee should have a policy concerning
diversity of board members, and should
disclose the policy or a summary of the policy
in the corporate governance report. The
Board is actively considering the adoption
of the relevant policy. In view of achieving
a sustainable and balanced development,
the Company sees increasing diversity on the
board of directors (“the Board”) as an essential
element in supporting the achievement of
its strategic objectives and ifs sustainable
development.
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CODE PROVISION A.5.5
(Continued)

The Company recognizes the benefits of having
a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its
performance. All Board appointments will be
considered against objective criteria, having
due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

A summary of a Policy aiming to set out the
approach to achieve a balanced and a
diversified Board together with the measurable
objectives set for implementing this Policy,
and the progress made towards achieving
those objectives are disclosed in the corporate
governance report.

CODE PROVISION E.1.2

Under the code provision E.1.2, the Chairman
of the Board should attend the annual general
meeting. The position of the Chairman of the
Board was not filled before the Company’s
annual general meeting held on 22 August
2018. However, an Executive Director, present
at the annual general meeting then fook the
chair of that meeting in accordance with the
Bye-Laws of the Company.

The Company will arrange for the election of
the new Chairman of the Board as soon as
practicable in order to fill up the vacancy of
Chairman.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
as its own code for dealing in securities of
the Company by the Directors. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company
confirmed that all Directors have complied with
the required standard as set out in the Model
Code during the year ended 31 March 2019.
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l\_lﬁ iEﬂ:

MINIMUM NUMBERS OF AUDIT
COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Following the retfirement of Mr. Joseph Lee
Chennault on 22 August 2017, the Company
comprises of two Audit Committee members,
Mr. Lai Qiang and Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew,
the number of which fell below the minimum
number required under Rules 3.21 of the Listing
Rules.

After the appointment of Mr. Wong Kwan Kit
as Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company on 3 July 2018, the Company has
then complied with the Rules 3.21 of the Listing
Rules.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 March 2019, the Board comprises
of the Vice Chairman, the Chief Executive
Officer, the Managing Director, one Executive
Director and three Independent Non- executive
Directors. The Board of Directors is principally
accountable to the shareholders and is
responsible for the leadership and conftrol of
the Group including overseeing the Group’s
businesses, strategic directions, financial
performance, setting objectives and business
development plans, and monitoring the
performance of the senior management.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued) EEE (&)

The Board of Directors meets regularly EEgTecAMeE®E  URIFTRERE
throughout the year to formulate overall EEREEEBBRRERMBRE  UHEFE
strategy, monitor business development as well ERARCEERAERREF EEGEETH
as the financial performance of the Group REBAEBEETHROAUEBEARAEBZHEEE -
and has formal procedures on matters for EERNFRAETZESEGECHBEREUT -

consideration and decision-making. The Board
of Directors has delegated certain authorities
to the senior management for the day-to-day
management of the Group’s operations. The
attendance of Directors at the board meetings
held during the year is as follows:

Attendance/
Number of
Directors Meetings
HERE,
5= BERE
Executive Directors ITES
Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia (Vice BRE#ELZ+ (FZE) 14/20
Chairman)
Mr. Huang Mingguo (Chief Executive E&E St (7THA#E#) 13/14
Officer) (R=F—-NEF+HA=HZH)
(appointed on 3 July 2018)
Mr. Kwan Kin Chung BRI E 20/20
(Managing Director) (EFHBAAHE)
Mr. Yuen Kin = BEx 20/20
Mr. Tang Kwing Chuen Kenneth WRREE 16/18
(resigned on 11 March 2019) (R=F—-NF=F+—HEFE)
Mr. Chen Man Lung PR BESLE 0/0
(resigned on 16 April 2018) (R=—ZF— VEG A+ HEHE)
Independent Non-Executive Directors B EHITES
Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew SBERELLE 19/20
Mr. Lai Qiang B ks 11/16
(resigned on 31 January 2019) (R-ZEFE—NF—HF=+—HEFE)
Ms. Ng Ying R "Lt 17/19
(resigned on 25 March 2019) (R=F-NF=F=1FHHEFF)
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit HEEANLEE 13/14
(appointed on 3 July 2018) (R=ZF-NEFEtA=ZHZHF)
Mr. Mung Yat Lik S—hE%E 5/5

(appointed on 14 December 2018) (R=F—-NE+=FA+HHZF)
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Company has received the annual
confirmation of independence from each of
the Independent Non-Executive Directors as
required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company considered all Independent Non-
Executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING
AND PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to code provision A.6.5 of the CG
Code, all Directors should participate in
continuous professional development to refresh
their knowledge and skills. This is fo ensure
that their confribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. Reading materials on
relevant topics are issued to Directors where
appropriate. Each Director received induction
on the first occasion of his/her appointment,
so as to ensure that he/she has appropriate
understanding of the business and operations
of the Group and that he/she is sufficiently
aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and other relevant legal
and regulatory requirements.

During the year ended 31 March 2019,
all Directors participated in continuous
professional development relevant to the duties
and responsibilities of the Directors under the
relevant legal and regulatory requirement.
Such continuous professional development was
delivered via reading materials in relation to
legal or regulatory updates and/or attending
fraining courses provided by the legal advisors.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit
Committee with written terms of reference
which is aligned with the code provisions set
out in the Code.

The Audit Committee meets at least twice
a year for reviewing the reporting of annual
and interim results and other information to
the shareholders, and the effectiveness and
objectivity of the audit process. Additional
meetings may be held by the Audit Committee
from ftime to time to discuss special projects
or other issues which the Audit Committee
considers necessary. The external auditors
of the Company may request a meeting
if they consider that one is necessary. The
Audit Committee also provides an important
link between the Board and the Company’s
auditors in matters coming within the scope of
its tferms of reference and keeps under review
the independence and objectivity of the
auditors.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued) BERZEEE®(E

Currently, the Audit Committee comprises of R BERZEESERE=-BBIFHATES -F
three Independent Non-executive Directors. REEGZEREAERARLEE

The Audit Committee was chaired by Mr. Wong

Kwan Kit.

During the year, the Audit Committee reviewed FR BRZESCHEEEENASRERMZ
with the management the accounting SHRAIRER - WO BT - REEE - Ak
principles and practices adopted by the Group EERMERBREE(BREHCERMHERERR
and discussed about auditing, internal control, RECBEZPEBE]RER) EITHW ©

risk management and financial reporting
matters including the review of the audited
financial statements and unaudited interim
financial statements.

During the year, the members and attendance FRNETZERZESGTRZHNEREREREN
of the meetings of the Audit Committee are as T
follows:
Attendance/
Number of
Directors Meetings
HERE
B= SRRH
Mr. Lai Qiang B OEEkE 3/3
(resigned on 31 January 2019) (R=ZFE—NF—F=+—HFFE)
Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew SEERESLE 3/3
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit BEEARE /1
(appointed on 3 July 2018) (R=FB-NELtA=HZF)
Mr. Mung Yat Lik E 3P 0/0

(appointed as an Independent Non- (R=ZZE—NFE+F+HAZERETIH
Executive Director on 14 December SHITEBERRKR=-E—NF—HA=+—HZ
2018 and appointed as a member HIRERZEEEZHKE)

of Audit Committee on 31 January

2019)
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ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Under Code Provision A.2.1, the roles of
Chairman and Chief Executive Office ("CEQO")
should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual. The division
of responsibilities between the Chairman
and CEO should be clearly established and
set out in writing. The Chairman’s roles are
convening meetings of the Board and make
decision of the Group’s business sftrategies.
Currently, the CEO, Mr. Huang Mingguo, is
primarily responsible for the daily operations of
the Group in accordance with the goals set
up by the Board and no Chairman has been
designated yet.

The CEO is also supported by other Executive
Directors and Senior Management. The Board
believes that the Company has already a
strong corporate governance structure in place
to ensure effective oversight of management.
The Board will continue to review the
effectiveness of current management structure
from time to time and may make changes
if and when appropriate. The Board will also
continue to monitor and review the Company’s
corporate governance practices to ensure
compliance with the Code.
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TERMS OF NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Under the code provision A.4.1, Non-executive
Directors should be appointed for a specific
term, subject to re-election. The current
Independent Non-executive Directors of the
Company are not appointed for a specific
term. However, all Directors (including
Executive, and Independent Non-executive
Directors) of the Company are subject to
retirement by rotation at the annual general
meeting in accordance with Bye-Law 110(A)
and 190(v) of the Bye-Laws of the Company.
As such, the Company considers that sufficient
measures have been taken fo ensure that the
Company’s corporate governance practices
are no less exacting than those in the Code.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee of the Group
has been established in November 2005 with
written terms of reference in line with the
Code. The Remuneration Committee will
meet as and when necessary or as requested
by any Committee member to consider
and recommend to the Board the Group’s
remuneration policy and structure and to
review and detfermine the remuneratfion
packages of the Executive Directors and senior
management. The Directors are remunerated
with reference to their respective duties
and responsibility with the Company, the
Company’s performance and current market
situation.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
(Continued)

Currently, the Remuneration Committee
comprises of two Independent Non-executive
Directors and one Executive Director. The
Remuneration Committee was chaired
by Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew. Details of
emoluments of the Directors from the Group
for the year are as disclosed in note 12 of the
consolidated financial statements.
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Statistics of each Remuneration Committee BN ZEERKEE TN EEEERE2ATH
member’s attendance at the Remuneration %
Committee Meeting:
Attendance/
Directors No. of Meetings
HERE,
2= BB NRE
Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew SBERELE 3/3
Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia BAEZERL 2/3
Mr. Lai Qiang ¥ OBEE 3/3
(resigned on 31 January 2019) (R=F—ANEFE—HA=+—HFHE)
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit BEEALE 0/0
(appointed as an Independent (R=FE—-NFt+tA=HZTBETHFHIT
Non-executive Director EERR - E-NF—HA=1+—HZLHBFH

on 3 July 2018 and appointed as a MWEEEZHKE)

member of Remuneration Committee
on 31 January 2019)
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

According to the Bye-laws of the Company,
the Company established a Nomination
Committee on 26 March 2012 with written tferms
of reference, to formulate nomination policy
for the Board’s consideration and implement
the Board’s approved nomination policy. The
Board of Directors has the power from time to
time to appoint any person as a Director either
tfo fill a casual vacancy or as an addition fo
the Board of Directors. The nomination shall
be faken in consideration of the nominee’s
qualification, ability and potential contribution
tfo the Company.

According to the written terms of reference,
the Nomination Committee shall consist of
three Directors, a majority of whom shall
be Independent Non-executive Directors
appointed by the Board of Directors from time
fo fime. Currently, the Nomination Committee
comprises of one Executive Director, Ms.
Chow Lai Wah Livia, and two Independent
Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Fan Chun
Wah Andrew and Mr. Wong Kwan Kit.

Statistics of each Nomination Committee
member’s attendance at the Nomination
Committee Meeting:

REZESE
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MHEE - REBAZRREAZERE - T8
ARARRAERZER -

REEHHESZE REZE8eHm=fE34
B HAB¥BAAESTETRKREE 2B ILHFY
TES-BR REZEEREEEHTESH
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REERNLE -

Attendance/

Directors No. of Meetings
HEZE

= BRXE
Ms. Chow Lai Wah Livia ABEEzL 2/2
Mr. Fan Chun Wah Andrew STBHRERLE 2/2
Mr. Lai Qiang ¥ omisE 1/2

(resigned on 31 January 2019) (R=F—-NF—HA=1+—HEF)

Mr. Wong Kwan Kit BEEAERE 0/0

(appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director

on 3 July 2018 and appointed as a
member of Nomination Comittee
on 31 January 2019)
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE
(Continued)

Nomination Policy

During the year under review, in response fo
the amendment to the CG Code effective
on 1 January 2019, the Company has also
adopted the Director Nomination Policy.
Such policy sets out the selection criteria and
process and the Board succession planning
considerations in relaftion to nomination and
appointment of Directors of the Company, and
aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the Company, the confinuity of
the Board and appropriate leadership at Board
level.

The Director Nomination Policy sets out
the factors for assessing the suitability and
the potential confribution to the Board of
a proposed candidate, including but noft
limited to the following: character and
intfegrity;, qualifications including professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience
that are relevant to the Company’s business
and corporate strategy; diversity in all aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age (18
years or above), cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of sevice;
requirements of Independent Non-executive
Directors on the Board and Independence
of the proposed Independent Non-executive
Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules;
and commitment in respect of available time
and relevant interest to discharge duties
as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE
(Continued)

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted its own board diversity
policy ("Board Diversity Policy”). The Board
Diversity Policy aimed to achieve diversity of
the Board through consideration of a number
of factors, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural, educational background and
professional experience. The Nomination
Committee of the Company shall review the
Board Diversity Policy as appropriate and make
recommendations on any proposed revisions to
the Board.

Board appointments will be based on objective
criteria having due regard to the benefits of
diversity of the Board.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
COMMITTEE

According to the Bye-laws of the Company, the
Company established a Corporate Governance
Committee (the "CGC”") on 26 April 2010
with written terms of reference. The CGC
obligates to advise upon any transaction of the
Company which the Board is proposed to enter
or transact for and on behalf of the Company,
and give a collective opinion to the Board as
to the propriety, feasibility and prudence of
entering intfo such transactions.

According fo the written terms of reference,

the CGC comprised of 4 members. Currently
the CGC is chaired by Mr. Kwan Kin Chung.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ Responsibilities for the
Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements for
each financial period which give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group
and of the results and cash flows for that
period. In preparing the financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2019, the
Directors have selected suitable accounting
policies and applied them consistently, made
judgments and estimates that are prudent, fair
and reasonable and prepared the financial
statements on a going concern basis. The
Directors are also responsible for keeping
proper accounting records which disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Group, for safeguarding the
assets of the Group and for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud
and other irregularities.

Auditor’s Responsibilities and
Remuneration

During the year, the audit fee for the Group
amounted to approximately HKS1,682,000.

The statement of the auditor of the Company
regarding their reporting responsibilities is set
out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on
pages 68 to 78.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
(Continued)

Risk Management and Internal control

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to
ensure sound and effective risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing
their effectiveness on an ongoing basis. The
risk management and internal confrol systems
are reviewed at least annually to ensure the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programs and budget
of the Group’s internal audit and financial
reporting functions.

Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Group’s risk management and internal
control systems are designed to manage and
mitigate risks, rather than eliminate risks, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Through the Audit Committee and Corporate
Governance Committee, the Board conducts
annual review of the effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal
control systems, covering the material
control, including financial, operational
and compliance controls. The management
are primarily responsible for applying and
for supporting the risk management and
infernal control processes. The operating units
and support functions are facilitated and
coordinated by the management, and ensure
that risk management processes and mitigation
plans follow good practices and guidelines
established in their day-to-day operations. Any
risk events and incidents identified are reported
by the operating units and support functions to
the management in a timely manner.

Culturecom Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2018-2019

BEKkEF&(E)

E bz EER AR

EFSTHIEAEIRRAREERABER
EEEEAN TFERTEBRME - HMAHE
REEBRABEZRARELOSFETR - UHE
RER BETERKRER  BIRBURAEH
NBETAERMBERROT M

REREERANEZERLS

AEBNEREERAPEZERAGSEEERR
ERE  MIEHRRER - WETHERERNE
BIRHSERI I BERE

ERBENEEEREXERZES  EEEYHR
SENEREERAMBEERFCREEARER
BRENE  EERSREE)NERMETFER
e EREETRREXRIEFAREERANE
ERiRF EEESHBBESRSEBEEUR
& URREREEERFRAEFHEBTEE
EEREVHRFEMRIES - MBERETE
BEHAREW EEEURIENIMSRELR
EIEE o



3 2018-2019 XILEEEERRAT 63

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
(Continued)

Main Features of Risk Management
and Internal Control Systems

The key elements of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems
include the establishment of strategic risk
register fo monitor the identified risks, the
assessment and evaluation of risks, the
continuous updating of risk responses for each
key risk identified to ensure the effectiveness of
the mitigation procedures on an ongoing basis.
A risk maftrix approach is adopted to determine
the significance of the risk after evaluation
of the risk in accordance to the likelihood
of occurrence and severity of the risk event
identified. The significance of the risks reflects
the level of management’s attention and risk
responses.

Risk management process is integrated with
the internal control systems, so that the
Group’s ability to handle risks that hinder the
achievement of financial, operational and
compliance goals are strengthened and the
allocation of resources are more adequate.

Process used to identify, evaluate
and manage significant risks

The Group develops a preliminary inventory of
events that could influence the achievement
of the Group’s business objectives. The
Group identifies outside and inside events by
reviewing its external and internal environment
and stakeholders, that have an influence or
potential influence on the Group’s ability to
achieve its strategy and business objectives.
The risk identification process takes place at
least once a year. Furthermore, any risk events
and incidents identified by the operating units
and support functions will be reported to the
management in a fimely manner.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
(Continued)

Process used to identify, evaluate and
manage significant risks (Continued)

The risks identified are evaluated with a
risk matrix which prioritises risks according
to the likelihood of their occurrence and
the significance of their impact on the
achievement of the Group’s business
objectives. Following the review of the risk
matrix, the Group selects and deploys the
corresponding risk responses and investigates
the mitigation procedures to be executed
to ensure the identified significant risks were
managed to an acceptable level.

Process used to review the effectiveness
of the Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Group does not have an intfernal audit
function due to the size of the Group and for
cost effectiveness consideration. The Board
would be directly responsible for internal
control of the Group and for reviewing its
effectiveness. The Group contfinues to review
the need for an internal audit function annually.
An independent consultant (“the Consultant”)
was engaged to perform a review on the risk
management and internal control systems. The
Consultant has reported findings and areas for
improvement to the Board and management.
The Board and management are of the view
that no material defects are noted in the
Group’s risk management and internal control
systems.

The recommendations from the Consultant are
properly followed up by the Group to ensure
that they are implemented within a reasonable
period of time. The Board considers the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems
are adequate and effective and no significant
control failings or weaknesses was identified for
the year ended 31 March 2019.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
(Continued)

Inside Information Policy

The Group has established policies for
the handling and dissemination of inside
information. Such policy is set out inside the
staff manual and all staff is required to comply.
In addition, each personnel are granted a
specific level of access to the price sensitive
and inside information. The Directors, senior
management and employees are informed with
the latest regulatory updates.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Lee Yuk Ping, the company secretary of
the Company, is a full fime employee of the
Company. During the year, the company
secretary has duly complied with the relevant
professional fraining requirement under Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company is aware of its responsibility fo
look after the interests of its Shareholders.
Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws 70 and
section 74 of Bermuda Companies Act 1981
(as amended) (the “Act”), the Board, on the
requisition of Shareholders of the Company
holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-
up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the
Company, can convene a special general
meeting ("SGM") to address specific issues of
the Company within 21 days from the date of
deposit of written notice to the registered office
of the Company. If the Board fails to proceed
fo convene a meeting, the requisitionists,
or any of them representing more than one
half of the total voting rights of all of them,
may themselves convene a meeting, but any
meeting so convened shall not be held after
the expiration of three months from the said
date.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
(Continued)

The written requisition must state the purposes
of the meeting together with proposals to be
put forward at such meeting, signed by the
Shareholder(s) concerned and may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by
one or more of those Shareholders. Besides, the
writfen requisition must be valid in pursuant fo
section 79 and 80 of the Act. The requisition will
be verified with the Company’s share registrar
and upon their confirmation that the requisition
is proper and in order, the Company Secretary
will ask the Board of the Company to convene
the SGM after the deposit of such requisition
by serving sufficient notice in accordance with
the statutory requirements to all the registered
Shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged
by the Company to attend the Company’s
general meeting.

All resolutions put forward at shareholder
meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to
the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company after each shareholder meeting.

Shareholders are provided with contact details
of the Company, such as felephone number,
fax number, postal address and the Company’s
website address in order to enable them fto
make any query that they may have with
respect to the Company. Shareholders may
make enquiries to the Board by writing to the
Company at the Company’s head office in
Hong Kong at Suite 1502, 15/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Admiralty, Hong
Kong. In addition, Shareholders can contact
the share registrar of the Company, if they
have any enquires about their shareholding
issues.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy
(the "Dividend Policy”) which does not have
any pre-determined dividend payout ratio. In
considering dividend payment, the Board will
take info account factors such as depending
on results of operations, working capital,
financial position, future prospects, and capital
requirements, as well as any other factors which
the Directors of the Company may consider
relevant from time to time. The Board will
review the Dividend Policy from time to time
and the Dividend Policy does not constitute
any commitment or obligation of the Company
to declare dividends.

INVESTORS RELATIONS

The Board gives high priority to balanced, clear
and transparent communications which allow
shareholders and investors to understand the
Group’s prospects and the market environment
in which it operates. The Company engages
with shareholders and other investors through
various channels of communication to help
ensure that their views and concerns are
understood and addressed in a constructive
way.

The Company’s constifutional documents
have been posted on the Company’s website
at www.culturecom.com.hk. During the year,
there had been no significant change in the
Company’s constitutional documents.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B XBER RS

Deloitte

To the Shareholders of
Culturecom Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial
statements of Culturecom Holdings Limited (the
“*Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the "Group”) set out on pages
79 to 250, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March
2019, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 March 2019, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the "HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs")
issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described
in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of
the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the "Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to

provide a basis for our opinion.
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REBRERE VBB B(RAFRADOKE
BREREE -

ERNER

EMERET BSOS HMI(TBETE
AT EBHFETER DETES - AMNEXFE
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FESHNETRREEXTEREERSRMNET
RREMHER -



¥ 2018-2019 XILEEEEARAT 69

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that,
in our professional judgment, were of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the contfext
of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these maftters.

Key audit matters
BRETSEE

We identified the NRV assessment of
inventories as a key audit matter due to their
significance to the consolidated statement
of the financial position as a whole and
the significant judgement and assumptions
involved in the estimation of NRV of the
Group’s inventories which comprise premium
wine.

BMBEE 2SR FEIA BN A - HEREENS
B RERABBASREGSVBERRRERBELX
URRETTEEEFE (@?E{EEE*E)ZTQIE@E
SN PN - D53 EE

B RXBEDRE

BAREITSEE

HREFIFSEARERMANEXRAEMS - HEM
EAHENGEEVBRREAEENSR - B
LEHRAERMNEFTERGESUBERREAR
REETRE RN A SUHELEREMRERN
=R

How our audit addressed the key audit matters
RMF RS NAEERERETEE

Our procedures in relation to the NRV

assessment of the inventories included:

BEMEBEIGFENTSRFEEEENEFEREUT

RIF :

J Understanding the inventories allowance
policy of the Group;
THEEEFERBHX

. Discussing with the management and
evaluating their product-by-product
review of the inventories held by the
Group;

HEEEE ﬁj‘aﬁ&
RBEEME

FEEHERERBEEN



70

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B XBER RS

Key audit matters

BERETEE

As set out in Note 4 fto the consolidated
financial statements, the management
carries out inventory review on a product-
by-product basis at the end of the reporting
period. As further disclosed in Note 18 to
the consolidated financial statements, the
carrying amount of premium wines and other
inventories were approximately HK$35,047,000
and approximately HK$739,000, respectively.
The management performed the inventory
review including the estimation of the
respective NRV which was determined as the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business less the estimated costs necessary
to make the sale.

HMEEMBRERMTANRSE  EBEERBEDER
RENERETHFESEE - BNASVMBRRMT
18E—THE BEBERAEMEENREES A
# % 35,047,000 T K #9739,0008 T - EEEA
EHFEES  BREABERBENMGTEERE
HEHE TR RABEEMN S AT IR FEMET -

The estimation of the respective NRV takes
info account a number of factors including
prices of actual sales during and subsequent
to the reporting period and independent
market information in relation to each of the
inventories held by the Group.
BUSRFENGTNEHRZERE  BREREH
EREZNERHFEEERUREBERBEFEERIER
ENBIYMISER -
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How our audit addressed the key audit matters
BPERRUAEERRENSE

Assessing the reasonableness of the
estimation of the NRV of inventories
performed by management by:
ZBUTHAMEEEEHFEN SR FEMS
e M

1. ftesting the actual sales, on a sample
basis, during and subsequent fo
the reporting period to assess the
reasonableness of the estimated
selling price;
BREAEEAAEREPEAR ZENER
SHER  UFMh A EENSEMY

2. evaluating management’s
identification of any inventory requiring
specific write downs due to damage
or other quality issues with reference
to the information obtained during our
inventory count; and
SERMEFELHEPRENERRTGEE
EEYNERERHMEEREMEERET
EERBENEFEZTR &

3. conducting an interview with the
relevant winery and performing
independent market research fo
evaluate the market information used
by management to estimate the
latest selling prices of the wines; and
EEEERETEHARLETBEYI TSRS
LAt EREEANLHBESNEEMER
MHSER R

Assessing the accuracy of the allowance
for inventories in those instances where
the estimated NRV is lower than respective
cost of the inventory.
ERFATZRFEERERAFERETNERT
AL FEREBHERM -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Key audit matters
BRETSEE

B RXBEDRE

How our audit addressed the key audit matters
BPERRNAEERRENSE

We identified the impairment assessment
of goodwill as a key audit matter due to its
significance to the consolidated statement
of financial position as a whole, significant
judgment exercised and assumptions
involved in the projection of future
performance of the cash-generating units
CCccuU.

RSB EBRENAHENA - HERETSE > RE
RERAGHREGREMBRARERBRBEAR » URNE
BReELBEN((REELEN ) 2RRRRABIR
B AR AR R AR

As set out in Note 4 fto the consolidated
financial statement, the management
is required to carry out impairment
assessment of goodwill annually irrespective
of whether there is any indication of
impairment. As further disclosed in Note 14
to the consolidated financial statements,
the carrying amount of goodwill was
HK$19,949,000. The management performed
the impairment assessment which take
info consideration the estimation of the
recoverable amount which were determined
as the higher of its fair values less costs of
disposal and its value in use.
BMEEMBERERMEANE ERERIKRFET
BMEBRENML THRESFETARETR - RUWH
EMBRERMNILVE—SHE BHEZKREER
19,949,000 T - EEBEITREEL  HERA
WEIEEzhst > MZESBENEAFEEREER
AREFAEEMEFRSEMERE -

Our procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of goodwill included:
RPEEFEREMENEFBEUTEE:

. Understanding the management’s process
for estimating the recoverable amount of
the CGU and challenging the judgment
exercised in the identification of the CGU
containing the goodwill;
THREEEMMAFREELEUNTRESHE
RESFRBNEEBENRSEESEURFITET
2B

. Assessing the reasonableness of key
assumptions used in the cash flow
projection, including growth rates,
budgeted sales and gross margin, based
on the future business plan and industry
frend;

BIERREBFERTEBE  FHRRERER
BAREANEIERR (BEERE - HEBAERE
ME)NESEME
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B XBER RS

Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters

BRESEE BAFELSNMEERRESNSE

The recoverable amount of the CGU has

been determined based on value in use
calculation. The calculation uses cash
flow projection based on financial budget
approved by management and certain
key assumptions which included discount
rates, growth rates, budgeted sales and
gross margin and their related cash inflow
and outflow patterns. The management
also engaged an independent professional
valuer to assist in determining the discount
rates. During the year ended 31 March 2019,
there is no impairment made to the CGU
containing the goodwill.

REELBENNATREESENREEAEBEFEME
EoZ T EERENERBMENVBEENRER
ERARETEERSR  BEWRRER - ERE - HE
BEREMNZUREBREAARALEES - EEE

TEFBUEXGEMBYHEERRR - BEZZT

—NF=ZA=+T—BLFE BEBPENRSELE
U3 R AE ©

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company ("Directors”) are
responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included
in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial
statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
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Evaluating the competence, capabilities
and objectivity of the independent
professional valuer and involving our
internal valuation experts to assess
reasonableness of the discount rates
applied by the independent professional
valuer by developing an independent
estimation based on market data and
certain specific parameters of the Group
and comparing such estimation to the
discount rates used by the management;
and

AEBVEEGEMNAR  EIREEME - I
ZRRBETSEBRAEERE THESHSHZ
By REREREEREARREFEMH
AP EEERTHBE LS EHEMERMBRE
WEEM &

Evaluating the historical projection of the
forecasted future cash flows by comparing
them to acfual results in the current year
and understanding the causes for the
significant variances.

BREAFENEREFETHRYTHRERE
ENEE > FEEFBEARKBRSRENELTEAR -

Htz8

ERAEB(EFNFHHMEREE - HtfE
EEENHENFHRANEE  EFBEREUK
BRREMIOZBAERE -

EMEGEVBRRNERALTREEMBES -
BN AHZEEMEERRREARLANERE

=A
afg ©
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OTHER INFORMATION (Continued)

In connection with our audit of the
consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors deftermine
is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial
statements, the directors are responsible for
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group
or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

B RXBEDRE

Hief5 8 (/&)

FBERMYGEMBHRRVEFT  RMANEER
FMEEMES  EUBRES  TREMFEERS
HGAMBRRAEMEETERTRTHENE
MEEERBEBREUFFEERERFRAHE
R ERBEMEHTHIE WRKMIA B
EEFEEAERRL  RMFEREZEE -
REFE @ BRIRBEMHRS -

ESENAEERSRSMBERRAR
EHEE

BB ELENIREFB(R AR DAVIKEZER
BEEEMTENARESUBERER  THARKE
REMBRRNEBIFEARNKFRERME
BMERERBLAFENAPEHNEE -

ERBESYBRRE  EXREFAERER
BEENRED  LEERBRATHRERFELE
BENEE UAREAFESERSHER K
FESERBEEEBRIAFLEE  FHEH
ERNBERLE -
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Those charged with governance are responsible
for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of
this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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EEAEERGASMBRRAX
EHNEEGE)

REEASEEEERENMBHREBRE -

BRBMRET SRE M B RRAREN
BfE

EMNER  RURSHBBRREBRESAFHE
HREFFSERMERMNERERRAEEEE
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BET(FREE)LEEERMASR VX EEN®R
& oo RIS RPNRETTHERMBAR -
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with
HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the
audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of
infernal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal
control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.

J Evaluate the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the
directors.

B RXBEDRE

BREMAEFT RV BERRAEN

BEE(E)

ERB(ERBFAERETENNBRES &K
FMERTERAE R TERRERE - B
N

o BAIFFEHRRFRERMERGFS MK
BREFEEANERRAWER - RITRAT
EfRFUREELRAR  UREDNEEM
BENENERE FREMSRNER - B
REGFRIRES R BHK ~ R EBER - E
BB - FERBRABES Z £ FIbREE
HERRFMEFNEARERRANERS
RARBER R H R E A B AR FERRAH
2Bz o

o THEFEIEBENARES  URAEEN
E:RF  EENAEFHERERIESD
BRMBERER -

s FMEEEFRASHBEENREMRAELS
AT MERE BN SR -
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the
directors’ use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability fo continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, fo modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, sfructure
and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.
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BRHM BT RE M BRRAEN

BE(E)
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HHESEHFRBENERNTEEN - M
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TREFELE -

o FESSHMBHRRNERIRLSN  EBA
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BRRZZMEHE -
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BRER -HMEEEREFENANEG &
BNHT RMABFFERAERIER -
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We communicate with those charged with
governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in intfernal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with
governance with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those
charged with governance, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter
or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

B RXBEDRE

BREMAEFT RV BERRAEN

BEE(E)

BREMBIEN  RMEGEEBE T HENES
gE KEZH EAFTBRRE  8EEMNE
Far PR B B MY B KR BA o

EMEALREERREN  SHARMNECHERH
BUMNEBERERESR  SHEMMEERT
REEMRAASFERMB UMM AEREN
Hts|E  UREEANIERT - HEFEE
i o

REDREEBEMNSBAT KB ERLEEY
FHEREUBBRRNEARAEE  AMBEKE
REAFR BEMELZBARSHIHAELES
B RFEFERTIAFLAFAREELSE R
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TEERSHEMNEERRBEBELENLRA
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The engagement partner on the audit resulting
in the independent auditor’s report is Lee Po
Chi.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 June 2019
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FelRakHtMZERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
Notes HK$’000 HKS$000
Byt THET FET
(Restated)
(&%)
Continuing operations BEKSEEL
Revenue N 5 21,715 34,910
Cost of sales HERA (6,559) (53,547)
Gross profit (loss) ER(EE) 15,156 (18,637)
Other income Hip g A 6A 2,511 1,896
Other gains and losses, net HihW R R EE - F5 6B (3,565) 1,648
Other expenses HiEHA (18,132) (10,891)
Salaries and allowances ETIHFSRIER (11,540) (7.832)
Operating lease rentals in respect HESH#h 2 LEHHAERS
of rental premises (5,888) (6,635)
Depreciation expenses EEA (405) (1,722)
Share of profit (loss) of an B E QBT (BE)
associate 247 (333)
Impairment loss on film right EXMERREREL 2R
and film production in progress EEE (963) (3,383)
Loss before tax BRE AT E 18 8 (22,579) (45,889)
Income tax credit (expense) FrefiEe (FAx) 9 6 (18)
Loss for the year from continuing REBFELSEELK 2
operations FEEE (22,573) (45,907)
Discontinued operation BIEREERK
Loss for the year from discontinued REKIEE XK 2
operation FEEB#E 30 (9,467) (11,889)
Loss for the year FEFE (32,040) (57.796)
Other comprehensive income Hih 2 HE W=
Items that may be reclassified BENREEN D EZERZ
subsequently to profit or loss: EH :
Exchange gain on franslation of REGHNEBTHHRERZ
financial statements of foreign PE X Uk &
operations 689 316
Reclassification of exchange BN BHESNEBLZ
loss on disposal of a foreign EHEE
operation — 854
Other comprehensive income for FEHM2E WG
the year 689 1,170

Total comprehensive expense for FEZHEMAXAEE
the year (31,351) (56,626)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FelRaRREttZERaR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

2019 2018
—ZE-h#EF —E-N\F
Note HK$°000 HKS$000
Bt =E FET FHBT
(Restated)
(LEY))
Loss for the year attributable to RABEEAELFE
owners of the Company: B8 -
— from continuing operations — REFELSEER (21,868) (46,153)
— from discontinued operation — RERIEREEK (9,467) (11,889)
(31,335) (568,042)
(Loss) profit for the year REFELSEER
attributable to non-controlling FERERELFEE
interests from continuing (E518) &R
operations (705) 246
(32,040) (57,796)
Total comprehensive expense EEEHAXERE
attributable to:
Owners of the Company KAREE A (31,392) (56,313)
Non-conftrolling interests IR ER 41 (313)
(31,351) (56,626)
Loss per share BREEB 11
From continuing and REFERRILEEEER
discontinued operations
Basic (HK cents) B (B (2.3) (4.2)
Diluted (HK cents) #5E OBAL) N/ATEHA 4.2)
From continuing operations REFELEHEL
Basic (HK cents) EHARGB) (1.6) 3.3)
Diluted (HK cents) #E (B) N/ATEHA 3.3)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
HEeMBRAR

AT 31 MARCH 2019

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000
WO FET F&T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERZE 13 837 805
Goodwill RS 14 19,949 —
Interest in an associate RN o v 15 1,390 1,143
Intangible assets BE&ERE 16 6,162 1,385
Film right E S i 17 117 1,620
Rental deposits Heme 20 555 555
Financial assets at fair value BATFEEFABRERZ
through profit or loss EREE 21 5,379 —
34,389 5,508
Current assets RBEE
Inventories FE 18 35,786 38,548
Trade receivables EWE S BRI 19 9,969 23,167
Other receivables, deposits and HihERARIE ~ mERFER
prepayments IR 20 12,583 7,821
Tax recoverable o] Y =] %% 18 1,262 871
Held for trading investments BEEERE 21 — 7,080
Bank balances and cash RITERERERS 22 220,370 238,393
279,970 315,880
Current liabilities REBAEE
Trade payables B E 5 R 23 737 437
Other payables and accrued HithENRBRETER
charges 23 9,932 9,571
Conftract liabilities eHNaE 24 114 —
10,783 10,008
Net current assets RBEEFE 269,187 305,872
Total assets less current liabilities REEBARBAE 303,576 311,380




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FeaMBRAR

AT 31 MARCH 2019
R-ZEBE—-hhE=B=+—H

2019 2018
—ZE-h#EF —E-N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt =E FET FHBT
Non-current liability FRBEE
Deferred tax liabilities EEREE G 25 1,384 698
Net assets EEFE 302,192 310,682
Capital and reserves EXR#E
Share capital (&N 26 13,907 13,907
Share premium and reserves BB ERHE 270,842 302,234
Equity attributable to owners of RAREBAELRER
the Company 284,749 316,141
Non-controlling interests IR R 17,443 (5,459)
Total equity mrEs 302,192 310,682
The consolidated financial statements on pages FIVEEF20EZHREUBBENR-Z—LEF
79 to 250 were approved and authorised for RAZTNHRKESSHENRETIE AT

issue by the board of directors on 28 June 2019 JIEBERKRESR
and are signed on its behalf by:

KWAN KIN CHUNG YUEN KIN
A {2 8 =g

DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EE EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FeHERBEDRR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

Aftibufable fo owners of the Company

RAAREARE

Capital Share Non-
Share Share  Contribufion Warrant  redempfion  Translafion options Other ~ Accumulated controling Total
capital premium surplus fesemve feseve fesenve fesenve fesenve [osses Sub-fotol inferests equity

Bk v EdBH  OREIRE  EARERR EXiE  EREGG Eftfif itk Nt FERER E2 i
HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HK§'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS'000
in fin Tin Tin Tin T Tir Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin
(Note 0) (Nofe b)
(Kita) (Kitb)

A1 Aprl 2017 H-E-15mA-8 13907 2005401 1nen 431 Ao (1.209) 47194 (3030)  (1.890.208) 368,723 (5419) 363,308

(Loss) profifor th yeor EE (BB - - - - - - - - (B0 G800 o (51.796)
Other comprehensive Income 0N
Bichonge goin on fronsofion - EEENERERRRL
of financial statements of EidE
foreign operations - - - - - 415 - - - 75 (5%9) 3o
Reclossficotion of exchange  EXABRERNEHL
loss on csoosal offoreign EVEE
operafion - - - - - 84 - - - 84 - 84

Total comprehensive income EEARENA(ER)

(expense) for e year - - - - - 1709 - - (56,042) (86313) @19 (86,626)
Lapsed of warrants (Nofe 27) IRERRAMED) - - - (4301) - - - - 4301 - - -
Lapsed of share opfions (Note 28) BB (K 28) - - - - - - (7.9 - ALY - - -
Disposal of partial inferests in LERELFNBR

subsicioris (Note ¢) Bl - - - - - - - 3731 - 3731 9 4000
At 31 March 2018 HZE-NEZf=1-R 13907 2005611 men - ) 50 - ] (1,896,69) 316,141 (5.4%9) 310,682
Lossfor he year 31 | - - - - - - - - (31.3%9) (31.3%9) (105) (3200)
Other comprehensive evpenses  EfE2ERH

Eichonge (os) gain on BERNHUERRE

fremslofion of fixancial 3(FRE

statements of foreign

operfions - - - - - 6) - - - ) Tt £
Tofol comprehensive (sxpense)  EEERE(RR)UE

income for the year - - - - - (o0 - - (31,339 (3139) 4 (31,31)
Acquistion of  subsicry (Note ) hEE-EHEAR

(HE) - - - - - - - - - - 2861 2861

At 31 March 2019 HoE-122A=1-8 13907 2005411 .87 - Ao 163 - o1 (1.928.030) 8479 17463 30219
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FeEQBDER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

Notes:

(@

®)

©

Contribution surplus represents the difference
between the nominal value of the share capital of
the acquired subsidiaries and the nominal amount of
the Company’s share capital issued as consideration
for the acquisition as at the date of the group
reorganisation in prior years.

Warrant reserve arises from the issue of warrants less
the expenses incurred on warrants issue. Upon exercise
and lapse of warrant, warrant reserve would be
transferred to share premium and accumulated losses
respectively (Note 27).

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group
has disposed of (i) 5% equity interest in a wholly-
owned subsidiary to an independent third party for
a consideration of HK$2,800,000; and (i) 20% equity
interest in a subsidiary to an independent third party
for a consideration of HK$1,200,000. The disposals
were completed upon which the Group fransferred
respective equity interests to the independent third
parties.
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o BIRER = ROEER REESE(HEE27) -

REBZE-T-\F=ZA=+—HLFE FEEE (M
—EZBUE=FHE-HEEMB LR RE  RE
%2,800,000 T ; R(DE—BABILE=HHE—REKH
BT 20%RE - K185 1,200,0008 75T - NEEGE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FeBaiER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

Share of (profit) loss of an
associate

FElL B E N B ORI B 1R

(247)

2019 2018
—ZE-h#EF —E-N\F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
s FET FET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KK
Loss for the year BREBIRIEE (32,040) (57,796)
Adjustments for: BTIRIEBEZRAE .
Income tax (credit) expense e (R )X 6) 18
Allowance for inventories FERE — 397
Impairment loss on trade FEU B 5 BRI Z BB &
receivables, net of reversal 1B HREE 215 421
Amortisation on film right B ME 2 e 540 29,405
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE#E 295 —
Depreciation of property, plant ME - BRERRBINE
and equipment 405 1,744
(Gain) loss on disposal of HERB LR (k) EE
subsidiaries 30 (473) 848
Loss on fair value change of RAFEETABRZRZ
financial assets at FVTPL PRMEEZATEES
BEiE 1,701 —
Gain on fair value change of HIFEEREATEE
held for trading investments BE) 2 WE — (428)
Loss on written off of property, WEEME BEREREZ
plant and equipment K518 — 779
Impairment loss on film right and EYMERBERELZ
film production in progress REEE 963 3,383
Other income HebUg A (1,459) (1,565)
Reversal of impairment loss on BEeZezBEBE
deposits — (1,021)

333




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FeBaiER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt =E FTHERT FERT
Operating cash flows before EEESRHAI 2K
movements in working capital BEeRE (30,106) (23,482)
Decrease in inventories FERD 25 18,596
Decrease (increase) in trade EWE 5 R (38 hn)
receivables 14,652 (20,463)
Increase in other receivables, HihEWARIE - mERFER
deposits and prepayments FRIEIE N (1,760) (448)
Increase in held for trading HIEEEREEM
investments — 12
Increase in trade payables B 5 BRFIG N 300 119
Increase (decrease) in other HitEAIRIERETER
payables and accrued charges O A) 42 (1,073)
Decrease in contract liabilities EHadERD (654) —
Cash used in operations KEMAZES (17,501) (26,763)
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid EfEAREH — (1,338)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING REXEBKBHH2RESFE
ACTIVITIES (17,501) (28,101)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEK
Acquisition of a subsidiary W iE— BB LA 29 (2,692) —
Purchase of intangible assets BEELEE (2,208) —
Net cash outflow on disposal of HEMBARZERE®
subsidiaries FREARH 30 (1,227) (1,905)
Purchases of property, plant and BEYE BERRE
equipment (410) 1,317)
Interest received 2R E 1,459 89
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REEKRFTAZ
ACTIVITIES HEFE (5,078) (3,133)

Culturecom Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2018-2019




3 2018-2019 XILEEEERRAT 87

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FeBaiER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

2019 2018
—ZE-h#EF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FExT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES mME XK
Advance from a shareholder —EBERRZERK 2,971 —
Advance from an independent —BRAE=ZF 22BN
third party 1,275 —
Proceeds on disposal of partial HEERREEFES
interests in subsidiaries without MEB AR D RS2
losing control Fr8 IR — 5,800
NET CASH FROM FINANCING MEXEREZRESFE
ACTIVITIES 4,246 5,800
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH BE&RBESZSEYRL FE
EQUIVALENTS (18,333) (25,434)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT REHNZRERBEZEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 238,393 263,532
Effect of foreign exchange rate EXxEFHosooE
changes 310 295
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT REXRZBREREESEEY
END OF THE YEAR 220,370 238,393

Represented by: 255
Bank balances and cash RITEERRS 220,370 238,393




88

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Culturecom Holdings Limited (the
"Company”) is incorporated in Bermuda
as an exempted company with limited
liability and its shares are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Stock Exchange”). The address
of the Company’s registered office is
Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street,
Hamilton HM 10, Bermuda and ifs principal
place of business is Suite 1502, 15/F, Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Admiralty, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding
company. The principal activities of ifs
principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 36.
The Group’s principal places of business
are in Hong Kong, the People’s Republic of
China (the "PRC") and Macau.

In prior years, the Group was involved in
development of multi-media application
through Ucan Commercial Limited
("“Ucan Commercial”) and its subsidiary
(collectively referred to as the “Ucan
Commercial Group”), the wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Group. The operation for
development of multi-media application
was discontinued with effect from 29
March 2019. Accordingly, the results of
the subsidiaries’ operation for the period
ended 28 March 2019 and year ended
31 March 2018 have been separately
presented as a discontinued operatfion in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income. Details
are set out in Note 30.

The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars ("HKS$"),
which is also the functional currency of the
Company.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

New and amendments to HKFRSs
that are mandatorily effective for
the current year

The Group has applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA for the first fime in the current year:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGRRMEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

R BN BRELEAN (&
EMBHREER ) REET

REAFEBFERHITERUH
WEEAREEET

RAEE  AEEREREAEBRHAA
& B2 THH E BB EEAREE
5

HKFRS @ Financial Instruments
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers and the
related Amendments
HK(FRIC)- Foreign Currency
Int 22 Transactions and
Advance Consideration
Amendments Classification and
to HKFRS 2 Measurement of
Share-based Payment
Transactions
Amendments Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
to HKFRS 4 Instruments with HKFRS 4
Insurance Contracts
Amendments As part of the Annual
to HKAS 28 Improvements to HKFRSs
2014 — 2016 Cycle
Amendments Transfers of Investment
to HKAS 40 Property

BEMBEHREER $RITH
F 9
BAVEHREER BEEFEHNWRER
%155 el
58 (BT HERE MXER
REZEY) — BRR(E
REE 225
BB UK E %A LR BER T
252 185] REZDERE
BAEMBEHREER B A B IR 2
FE AN Z1EFT FAFREBEHN—
BHEEASEBITK
WEZERIE O
SRITA
BEAETER EABEBUBRELE
2855 2185 A-ZE—mE_F
—RNFRHFENR
2 —ED
BEAETER ERIREYE
4058 2185

Except as described below, the application
of the new and amendments to HKFRSs
in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group’s performance and
financial positions for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.

BRUTIRBEEN  RAFERAN &R
BHRELZARHBIHAEE 2 AFERB
TFEERARVBRRR,RZEFEUE
BRI BEELESAE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs
that are mandatorily effective for

the current year (Continued)

2.1 HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with

Customers

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 for
the first time in the current year. HKFRS
15 superseded Hong Kong Accounting
Standard ("HKAS”) 18 Revenue, HKAS
11 Construction Contracts and the
related interpretations.

The Group has applied HKFRS 15
retrospectively with the cumulative
effect of initially applying this
Standard recognised at the date
of initial application, 1 April 2018.
Any difference at the date of initial
application is recognised in the
opening accumulated losses (or other
components of equity, as appropriate)
and comparative information has
not been restated. Furthermore,
in accordance with the transition
provisions in HKFRS 15, the Group
has elected to apply the Standard
retrospectively only to contracts that
are not completed at 1 April 2018.
Accordingly, certain comparative
information may not be comparable
as comparative information was
prepared under HKAS 18 Revenue and
HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and
the related infterpretations.
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F3R 2018-2019 XLBEEEARQF

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs
that are mandatorily effective for
the current year (Continued)

2.1 HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Continued)

The Group recognises revenue from
the following major sources which arise
from confracts with customers:

. Publishing and intellectual
properties licensing;

. Online and social business;

J Digital marketing;

J Retailing and wholesales; and

e Catering.

Information about the Group’s
performance obligations and the
accounting policies resulting from

application of HKFRS 15 are disclosed
in Notes 5 and 3 respectively.

ReMGRRMEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

2. ER#HAIERAVBBEEAN(E

MR EER ) REBET

(&)

REFEBFNER T ERUH
WEEQREERT (&)

2.1 BEERUBBEEEREISHEFSAHK
# (&
AEBERUTEERR(REEETF 2
BR)ERLA

HH R 2 0 5k A AR
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s BEWBEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs
that are mandatorily effective for
the current year (Continued)

2.1 HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Continued)

2.1.1Summary of effects arising from
initial application of HKFRS 15

The following adjustments were
made to the amounts recognised
in the consolidated statement of

2. ERHIIERVRREE
MR EER

(&)

Al
| 1) R EAZET

(&

RAFEBHERZHIBTRBYHK
WEEREERT (&)

2.1 BEBUBBEEEREISHEFSAHK
# (&

2.1 I EHE B BHEERE
15 ETELZEZHE

UTAH=-Z-NFEOA—-HZ
REMBRRRER 2 SHEH
AE U TERTIXEHHEE

financial position at 1 April 2018. ZIEE o
Line items that were not affected
by the changes have not been
included.
Carrying Carrying
amounts amounts
previously under
reported at HKFRS 15
31 March Reclassi- at 1 April
Note 2018 fication 2018
R
“E-N\E
mA-A
BER EERRE
“E-N\% REEl
=A=t+-H F15FET
ME  EHZREE BNAE RAEE
HK$"000 HK$'000 HK$"000
TARL TAR TERT
Other payables and accrued HitEMAFER
charges FETER (@) 9,571 (448) 9,123
Contract liabilities L (a) - 448 448
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGRRMEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. ERAFIERANBEREEN(SE
AMENDMENTS TO HONG B EREER ] REEET
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING (%)

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs REFERBERZHTE BT B
that are mandatorily effective for wREERREMEE (B)

the current year (Continued)

2.1 HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with 2] BEHBHEEEREISHEFSAK

Customers (Continued) = (&

2.1.1 Summary of effects arising from 211 DIEEFE BN BHHEERFE
initial application of HKFRS 15 15FELZEHE (&
(Continued)

Note: MiaE

(@ As at 1 April 2018, advances from (@) RZE-NFWB—AB - FEA
customers of HK$448,000 in respect of AEMEMAREREFEREBAL
licensing contracts in relation to the MEAMBREEREEB2EESY
publishing and intellectual properties M= EF#3448,0008 TE &
licensing business previously included FOERENAGHERE -

in other payables and accrued
charges were reclassified and
presented as contract liabilities.

No additional disclosure is REAEER-ZB—AE=ZA=+—HA2ZHE
provided on the impacts of MERRREARNEFEZ2FEERERAMS
applying HKFRS 15 as compared HRZREAEBMERESENE 15584
to HKAS 18 and its related HERE BT EAE 18R EMABR
interpretations on the Group’s B EWERMBIMIE  BRAERRE
consolidated statement of ERREEXELFTEK

financial position as at 31 March
2019 and its consolidated
statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income for
the current year as the directors
of the Company considered the
impacts are immaterial.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z-NF=A=1t—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs
that are mandatorily effective for
the current year (Continued)

2.2 HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS
9”)
In the current year, the Group has
applied HKFRS 9 and the related
consequential amendments to other
HKFRSs. HKFRS 9 infroduces new
requirement for 1) the classification
and measurement of financial assets
and financial liabilities, 2) expected
credit losses ("ECL") for financial assets
and other items and 3) general hedge
accounting.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9
in accordance with the transition
provisions set out in HKFRS 9, i.e.
applied the classification and
measurement requirement (including
impairment under ECL model)
retrospectively to instruments that
have not been derecognised
as at 1 April 2018 (date of initfial
application) and has not applied
the requirement to instruments that
have already been derecognised
as at 1 April 2018. The difference
between carrying amounts as at 31
March 2018 and carrying amounts
as at 1 April 2018 are recognised in
the opening accumulated losses and
other components of equity, without
restating comparative information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGRRMEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. ERAFIERANBEREEN(SE
AMENDMENTS TO HONG B EREER ] REEET
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING (%)

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs REFERFERNZFHTEBTB

that are mandatorily effective for wREERREMEE (B)

the current year (Continued)

2.2 HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 22 BEUBHREENEIREHBITA(E
9”) (Continued) BUBHREEREIFR ) (&
Accordingly, certain comparative At &EFHRER RS ALLE
information may not be comparable LB ER I RBEE BSFTERE 39K
as comparative information was ETHMTA: G BERARTERE -

prepared under HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and

Measurement.
Accounting policies resulting from ERERAEBMBEHREERE IS
application of HKFRS 9 are disclosed in BeastBERM T IKE -

Note 3.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs
that are mandatorily effective for
the current year (Continued)

2.2 HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS
9”) (Continued)

2.2.1Summary of effects arising from
initial application of HKFRS 9
(Continued)

The table below illustrates the
classification and measurement
(including impairment) of financial
assets under HKFRS 9 and HKAS 39

2. ER#HIIERAVHREEA
M BEREER ) R EBET

(&)

(&

RAFEBHERZHIBTRBYHK
WEEREERT (&)

22 BEEYUBHBEEREIREMTR(E
BRBHREEREH ) ()

221 WIBEFEBYBHHEERE9
BELZEHE(E

TRIARDBEAEH(=F
—NFHA—H)EBHBHREE
RIS R BB E T E RIS 395
HTEMEEZ2BRTE(BE

at the date of initial application, W) °
1 April 2018.
Financial
assets at
Held FVIPL
for frading  required by
Note investments HKFRS 9
EANKRE
BREOH
REZRAT
BEFA
BiFEE BR%Z
Mzt RE cHEE
HKS"000 HK$000
T TiEn
Closing balance at 31 March 2018 — RZE-\E=f=1-Hx
HKAS 39 ERGE —BEEE
R 7,080 —
Effect arising from initial application of AREREEBREEL
HKFRS 9: BOTMELERE
Reclassification from held for trading BIFEEREENDE
investments (a) (7.080) 7,080
Opening balance at 1 April 2018 R=B-NEMA-AENEH - 7,080
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs
that are mandatorily effective for
the current year (Continued)

2.2 HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS
9”) (Continued)

2.2.1Summary of effects arising from
initial application of HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(a) Financial assets at FVTPL

At the date of initial
application of HKFRS 9, the
Group reassessed its equity
investments classified as held
for tfrading under HKAS 39 as
if the Group had purchased
these investments at the date
of initial application, equity
investment of approximately
HK$7,080,000 were reclassified
to financial assets at FVTPL.

ReMGRRMEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs
that are mandatorily effective for
the current year (Continued)

2.3 Impact on opening consolidated
statement of financial position arising
from the application of all new
standards

As a result of the changes in the
Group’s accounting policies above,
certain line items of the opening
consolidated statement of financial
position had been adjusted.

For the purposes of reporting cash
flows from operating activities under
indirect method for the year ended
31 March 2019, movements in working
capital have been computed based
on opening consolidated statement of
financial position as at 1 April 2018 as
disclosed above.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs
that have been issued but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the
following new and amendments to HKFRSs
that have been issued but are not yet
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGRRMEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

R BN BRELEN(TEH
MR EER ) REBET

(&)

B SRR B 15 R £ AV ] &8 B 3%
WEERRAERT

AEENERFEATICEMERREN
ZHE] BB REER RIEA] ¢

effective:
HKFRS 16 Leases'
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts®

HK({FRIC)-Int 23

Uncertainty over Income
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND

AMENDMENTS TO HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs
that have been issued but not yet
effective (Continued)

1

2

3

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2019

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
a date to be determined

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2021

Effective for business combinations and asset
acquisitions for which the acquisition date is on
or after the beginning of the first annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2020

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2020

Except for the new and amendments to
HKFRSs mentioned below, the directors
of the company ("Directors”) anfticipate
that the application of all other new
and amendments to HKFRSs and the
interpretation will have no significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in the foreseeable
future.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs
that have been issued but not yet
effective (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive
model for the identification of lease
arrangements and accounting freatments
for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will
supersede the current lease guidance
including HKAS 17 Leases and the related
interpretations when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes leases and service
contfracts on the basis of whether an
identified asset is controlled by a customer.
In addition, HKFRS 16 requires sales and
leaseback transactions to be determined
based on the requirements of HKFRS 15
as to whether the fransfer of the relevant
asset should be accounted as a sale.
HKFRS 16 also includes requirements
relating to subleases and lease
modifications.

Distinctions of operating leases and
finance leases are removed for lessee
accounting, and is replaced by a
model where a right-of-use asset and
a corresponding liability have to be
recognised for all leases by lessees except
for short-term leases and leases of low
value assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs
that have been issued but not yet
effective (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

The right-of-use asset is initially measured
at cost and subsequently measured aft
cost (subject to certain exceptions) less
accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, adjusted for any remeasurement
of the lease liability. The lease liability is
initially measured at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid
at that date. Subsequently, the lease
liability is adjusted for interest and lease
payments, as well as the impact of lease
modifications, amongst ofthers. For the
classification of cash flows, the Group
currently present operating lease payments
as operating cash flows. Upon application
of HKFRS 16, lease payments in relation
to lease liability will be allocated into a
principal and an interest portion which will
be presented as financing cash flows by
the Group.

Other than certain requirements which
are also applicable to lessor, HKFRS 16
substantially carries forward the lessor
accounting requirements in HKAS 17, and
continues to require a lessor to classify a
lease either as an operating lease or a
finance lease.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs
that have been issued but not yet
effective (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are
required by HKFRS 16.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group has non-
cancellable operating lease commitments
of HK$7,870,000 as disclosed in Note 32.
A preliminary assessment indicates that
these arrangements will meet the definition
of a lease. Upon application of HKFRS
16, the Group will recognise a right-of-
use asset and a corresponding liability
in respect of all these leases, unless the
Group opts to elect certain practical
expedients. In addition, the application of
new requirements may result changes in
measurement, presentation and disclosure
as indicated above.

In addition, the Group currently considers
refundable rental deposits paid of
HK$555,000 as rights and obligations under
leases to which HKAS 17 applies. Based
on the definition of lease payments under
HKFRS 16, such deposits are not payments
relating to the right to use the underlying
assets; accordingly, the carrying amounts
of such deposits may be adjusted to
amortised cost. Adjustments to refundable
rental deposits paid would be considered
as additional lease payments included
in the initial measurement of right-of-use
assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs
that have been issued but not yet
effective (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

The Group intends to elect the practical
expedient to apply HKFRS 16 to confracts
that were previously identified as lease
applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
Determining whether an Arrangement
contains a Lease and not apply this
standard to contracts that were not
previously identified as containing a
lease applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int
4. Therefore, the Group will not reassess
whether the contfracts are, or contain a
lease which already existed prior to the
date of initial application. Furthermore,
the Group intends to elect the modified
retrospective approach for the application
of HKFRS 16 as lessee and will recognise
the cumulative effect of initial application
to opening accumulated losses without
restating comparative information.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a
Business

The amendments clarify the definition of a
business and provide additional guidance
with the objective of assisting entities to
determine whether a fransaction should be
accounted for as a business combination
or an asset acquisition. Furthermore, an
optional concentration test is infroduced
to permit a simplified assessment of
whether an acquired set of activities and
assets is not a business. The amendments
will be mandatorily effective to the Group
prospectively for acquisition transactions
completed on or affer 1 January 2020.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs
that have been issued but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8
Definition of Material

The amendments provide refinements
to the definition of material by including
additional guidance and explanations
in making materiality judgements. The
amendments also align the definition
across all HKFRSs and will be mandatorily
effective for the Group’s annual period
beginning on 1 January 2020. The
application of the amendments is not
expected to have significant impact on
the financial position and performance of
the Group but may affect the presentation
and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Listing Rules”) and by disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance ("CO”").
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on the historical cost basis
except for certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair values at the
end of each reporting period, as explained
in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the
fair value of the consideration given in
exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer
a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement
date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated
using another valuation technique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset or
a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those
characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or
disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment
fransactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
fransactions that are within the scope of
HKAS 17 Leases, and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are
not fair value, such as net realisable value
("NRV") in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in
use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting
purposes, fair value measurements are
categorised intfo Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair
value measurements are observable and
the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the
entity can access at the measurement
date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than
quoted prices included within Level
1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly;
and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs
for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set
out below.
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FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements
incorporate the financial statements of the
Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Conftrol is
achieved when the Company:

J has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, fo variable
returns from its involvement with the
investee; and

J has the ability to use its power to
affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or noft
it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three
elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins
when the Group obtains control over the
subsidiary and ceases when the Group
loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary
acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains
conftrol until the date when the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other
comprehensive income are attributed
to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is
attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling inferests even
if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made
tfo the financial statements of subsidiaries
to bring their accounting policies into line
with the Group’s accounting policies.

All infragroup assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating
tfo fransactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-conftrolling interests in subsidiaries are
presented separately from the Group’s
equity therein, which represent present
ownership interests entitling their holders to
a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group
losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s
relevant components of equity including
reserves and the non-conftrolling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in
their relative inferests in the subsidiaries,
including re-aftfribution of relevant
reserves between the Group and the non-
controlling interests according to the
Group’s and the non-controlling interests’
proportionate interests.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries (Continued)

Any difference between the amount
by which the non-conftrolling interests
are adjusted, and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and afttributed
to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a
subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of that
subsidiary and non-conftrolling interests
(if any) are derecognised. A gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss and is
calculated as the difference between
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of
the consideration received and the fair
value of any retained interest and (i) the
previous carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary attributable to the owners of
the Company. All amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted
for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities of the
subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or
tfransferred to another category of equity
as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSS).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted
for using the acquisition method. The
consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value,
which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets
tfransferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity inferests issued
by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed
are recognised at their fair value, except
that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities, and
assets or liabilities related to employee
benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with
HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19
Employee Benefits respectively;

J liabilities or equity instruments
related to share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree or
share-based payment arrangements
of the Group entered into to replace
share-based payment arrangements
of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment at the acquisition date (see
the accounting policy below); and
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations
(Continued)

. assets (or disposal groups) that
are classified as held for sale in
accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of
the sum of the consideration tfransferred,
the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity inferest in the acquiree (if any)
over the net amount of the acquisition-
date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed as at
acquisition date. If, affer re-assessment,
the net of the acquisition-date amounts
of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed exceeds the sum
of the consideration fransferred, the
amount of any non-conftrolling interests
in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held interest in the
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present
ownership interests and enftitle their
holders to a proportionate share of the
relevant subsidiary’s net assetfs in the
event of liquidation may be initially
measured either at fair value or at the
non-conftrolling interests’ proportionate
share of the recognised amounts of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The
choice of measurement basis is made on
a fransaction-by-transaction basis. Other
types of non-controlling infterests are
measured at their fair value.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a
business is carried at cost as established
at the date of acquisition of the business
(see the accounting policy above) less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing,
goodwill is allocated to each of the
Group’s cash-generating units ("CGU") (or
group of CGU) that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination,
which represent the lowest level at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than
an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of CGU)
to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is indication that the
unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising
on an acquisition in a reporting period, the
cash-generating unit (or group of CGU)
to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of
that reporting period. If the recoverable
amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill and
then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit (or group of CGU).

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on
the acquisition of an associate is described
below.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the
Group has significant influence. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of
associates are incorporated in these
consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. Under
the equity method, an investment in
an associate is initially recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group’s share of the profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associates. When the Group’s share of
losses of an associate exceeds the Group’s
interest in that associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group’s net investment
in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the associate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Investment in an associate
(Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted
for using the equity method from the
date on which the investee becomes an
associate. On acquisition of the investment
in an associate, any excess of the cost of
the investment over the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group’s share of the neft
fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of the investment,
affer reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in
which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an
objective evidence that the inferest in
an associate may be impaired. When
any objective evidence exists, the entire
carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for
impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as
a single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised
forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment. Any reversal of that impairment
loss is recognised in accordance with
HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable
amount of the investment subsequently
increases.
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3.

ETE-NFZA=Z+—HLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Investment in an associate
(Continued)

When the Group ceases to have
significant influence over an associate, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in the investee with a resulting
gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss. The difference between the carrying
amount of the associate and any proceeds
from disposing the relevant interest in the
associate is included in the determination
of the gain or loss on disposal of the
associate. In addition, the Group accounts
for all amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to
that associate on the same basis as would
be required if that associate or had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income
by that associate would be reclassified to
profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies
the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss
(as a reclassification adjustment) upon/
partial disposal of the relevant associate.

When a group entity tfransacts with ifs
associate of the Group, profits and losses
resulting from the transactions with the
associate are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements to the
extent of interests in the associate that are
not related to the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (upon application of
HKFRS 15 in accordance with
tfransitions in Note 2)

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises
revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is
fransferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a
good or service (or a bundle of goods
or services) that is distinct or a series
of distinct goods or services that are
substantially the same.

Except for granting a licence that is
distinct from other promised goods or
services, control is transferred over time
and revenue is recognised over fime
by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the
following criteria is met:

. the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided
by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

J the Group’s performance creates and
enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (upon application of
HKFRS 15 in accordance with
transitions in Note 2) (Continued)

J the Group’s performance does noft
create an asset with an alternative
use to the Group and the Group has
an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point
in fime when the customer obtains control
of the distinct good or service.

For granting of a licence that is distinct
from other promised goods or services, the
nature of the Group’s promise in granting
a licence is a promise to provide a right to
access the Group’s intellectual property if
all of the following criteria are met:

J the contract requires, or the customer
reasonably expects, that the
Group will undertake activities that
significantly affect the intellectual
property to which the customer has
rights;

. the rights granted by the licence
directly expose the customer to any
positive or negative effects of the
Group’s activities identified above;
and

o those activities do not result in the

fransfer of a good or a service to the
customer as those activities occur.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (upon application of
HKFRS 15 in accordance with
transitions in Note 2) (Continued)

If the criteria above are met, the Group
accounts for the promise to grant a
licence as a performance obligation
satisfied over time. Otherwise, the Group
considers the grant of licence as providing
the customers the right to use the Group’s
intellectual property and the performance
obligation is satisfied at a point in time at
which the licence is grated.

Notfwithstanding the above criteria, the
Group shall recognise revenue for a sales-
based or usage-based royalty promised
in exchange for a licence of intellectual
property only when (or as) the later of the
following events occurs:

. the subsequent sale or usage occurs;
and

. the performance obligation to
which some or all of the sales-based
or usage-based royalty has been
allocated has been satisfied (or
partially satisfied).

A contract asset represents the Group’s
right to consideration in exchange for
goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9. In conftrast,
a receivable represents the Group’s
unconditional right to consideration, i.e.
only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (upon application of
HKFRS 15 in accordance with
transitions in Note 2) (Continued)

A confract liability represents the Group’s
obligation to transfer goods or services
to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A confract asset and a contract liability
relating to the same contract are
accounted for and presented on a neft
basis.

Collaboration arrangement

A counterparty to the contract would not
be a customer if the counterparty has
confracted with the Group to participate
in an activity or process in which the
parties to the contract share in the risks
and benefits that result from the activity
or process rather than to obtain the
output of the Group’s ordinary activities.
The Group recognises revenue of which
it will be entitled in accordance to the
collaboration arrangement.

Contracts with multiple performance
obligations (including allocation of
fransaction price)

For contracts that contain more than
one performance obligations, the Group
allocates the transaction price to each
performance obligation on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (upon application of
HKFRS 15 in accordance with
transitions in Note 2) (Continued)

Conftracts with multiple performance
obligations (including allocation of
fransaction price) (Continued)

The stand-alone selling price of the
distinct good or service underlying each
performance obligation is determined at
contract inception. It represents the price
at which the Group would sell a promised
good or service separately to a customer.
If a stand-alone selling price is not directly
observable, the Group estimates it using
appropriate techniques such that the
transaction price ultimately allocated to
any performance obligation reflects the
amount of consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for transferring the promised goods or
services to the customer.

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable
consideration, the Group estimates
the amount of consideration to which
it will be entitled using either (a) the
expected value method or (b) the most
likely amount, depending on which
method betfter predicts the amount of
consideration tfo which the Group will be
enftitled.

The estimated amount of variable
consideration is included in the transaction
price only to the extent that it is highly
probable that such an inclusion will not
result in a significant revenue reversal
in the future when the uncertainty
associated with the variable consideration
is subsequently resolved.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (upon application of
HKFRS 15 in accordance with
transitions in Note 2) (Continued)

Variable consideration (Continued)

At the end of each reporting period, the
Group updates the estimated transaction
price (including updating its assessment
of whether an estimate of variable
consideration is constrained) to represent
faithfully the circumstances present at
the end of the reporting period and the
changes in circumstances during fthe
reporting period.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing
goods or services to a customer, the
Group determines whether the nature of
its promise is a performance obligation to
provide the specified goods or services
itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to
arrange for those goods or services to be
provided by the other party (i.e. the Group
is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the
specified good or service before that good
or service is fransferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance
obligation is to arrange for the provision
of the specified good or service by
another party. In this case, the Group
does not control the specified good or
service provided by another party before
that good or service is transferred to
the customer. When the Group acts as
an agent, it recognises revenue in the
amount of any fee or commission fo which
it expects to be entitfled in exchange
for arranging for the specified goods or
services to be provided by the other party.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXSFTHEKE)
POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with EFEANBE(RBERHTE22
customers (upon application of BEEBREAMKEBREERZES
HKFRS 15 in accordance with &) (&)
transitions in Note 2) (Continued)
Costs to fulfil a contract BRIEE
The Group incurs costs to fulfii a contract AEEREHET SERERPEEROK
in its digital marketing business. The Group Ko AKEBEHETGREEREREHME
first assesses whether these costs qualify BEAGERERA—HEE  RAUEER
for recognition as an asset in terms of BEUTEERFMZERIEREE -

other relevant Standards, failing which it
recognises an asset for these costs only if
they meet all of the following criteria:

a) the costs relate directly to a contract o) BEEHEASEEEMAERENZENN
or to an anticipated contract that the EHENEEZRE ;
Group can specifically identify;

b) the costs generate or enhance b) EERRAAKEERARRAERET
resources of the Group that will be (FEFERITIBHNETINERNR
used in satisfying (or in continuing to i N
satisfy) performance obligations in the
future; and

c) the costs are expected to be c) FEHBEWEIMKA o
recovered.

The asset so recognised is subsequently MEBERANEERESRENTFEEZSE

amortised to profit or loss on a systematic EEMBCERIRE —B2RAREERLE

basis that is consistent with the transfer to mPEE o  BREEEETRERS

the customer of the goods or services to
which the assets relate. The asset is subject
to impairment review.

Revenue recognition (prior to 1 BWABRRB(R=_F—N\FHNA—H
April 2018) ZAl)

Revenue is measured at the fair value of WAZRE WIS ERERREZ A FEEGE
the consideration received or receivable. BR - MARMGHEFEREMBMRD ©
Revenue is reduced for estimated customer

returns.

Revenue is recognised when the amount A SEEREA I T E 5 R REEF
of revenue can be reliably measured; BEUREAANEBEERNEESERER
when it is probable that future economic BERER  FERIAWE BT -

benefits will flow to the Group and when
specific criteria have been met for each of
the Group’s activities, as described below.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (prior to 1
April 2018) (Continued)

Service incomes are recognised when
services are provided.

Revenue from publication is recognised
when the books are delivered and title has
passed.

Revenue from sale of other goods is
recognised when the goods are delivered
and ftitles have passed.

Revenue from catering is recognised when
service is provided.

Revenue from online and social business
is recognised when services are provided
and products are delivered.

Royalty revenue is recognised on an
accrual basis in accordance with the
substance of the relevant agreement
(provided that it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group
and the amount of revenue can be
measured reliably). Royalty arrangements
that are based on production, sales
and other measures are recognised by
reference to the underlying arrangement.

Dividend income from investments is
recognised when the shareholders’ rights
to receive payment have been established
(provided that it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group
and the amount of revenue can be
measured reliably).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (prior to 1
April 2018) (Continued)

Interest income is accrued on a time
basis, by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to that asset’s net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases
whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. All other leases
are classified as operating leases.

Operating lease payments are recognised
as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease terms.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of
each individual group entity, transactions
in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retfranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

3 2018-2019 XILEEEEARAF 125

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGRRMEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

ERSTBEGE)

WARZ(R=-F-NFHUA—H
ZA) (&)

MEBWATIZRAREESSRER 2EER
RREELAFECER ZEBRF RENER
MRETRMEERTFHAMGTRERRESWA
EEERVNREIAR ZREFEZFIE)

HE

ARBEOERR - EREEZBAM D A
Cl3REEAEAMB 2L - 95ERER
B e FREEMBNEIELERD -

HEMINTRAEPRARERERI A
% o

S

FREREEER M HRKRE - LIZXER
WEEEBUMEBONE)ETHRZE
REERRTZERER - REEHKR - KU
SN EZERRERERRITZERERN
BE - DUNEIIERAFEESIRNIFER
HEREEQAFEEZARITHANRENGR
B o DUOMNEIIERBERASTENFERE
BEBESHBRE -



126

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the
settlement of monetary items, and on
the retfranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the
consolidated financial statements, the
assets and liabilities of the Group’s
foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e.
Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are
tfranslated at the average exchange
rates for the year. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of franslation
reserve (aftributed to non-conftrolling
intferests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation
(that is, a disposal of the Group’s entire
interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, or
a partial disposal of an interest in an
associate that includes a foreign operation
of which the retained interest becomes
a financial asset), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable fo
the owners of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal
of a subsidiary that does not result in the
Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are re-attributed
to non-controlling interests and are noft
recognised in profit or loss. For all other
partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals
of associates that do not result in the
Group losing significant influence), the
proportionate share of the accumulated
exchange differences is reclassified to
profit or loss.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme and the state-managed retirement
benefit plans are recognised as an
expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are
recognised at the undiscounted amount of
the benefits expected to be paid as and
when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another
HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of
the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits
accruing to employees (such as wages
and salaries), after deducting any amount
already paid.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment
fransactions

Share options granted to employees and
others providing similar services

Equity-settled share-based payments to
employees and others providing similar
services are measured at the fair value of
the equity instruments at the grant date.

For share options that vest immediately
at the date of grant, the fair value of
the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share
options reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are
still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in share
options reserve will be fransferred to
accumulated losses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum
of the tax currently payable and deferred
tax.

The tax currently payable is based on
taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit
differs from ‘loss before tax’ because of
income or expense that are faxable or
deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary
differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and
the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to
the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of
assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for
taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and
inferests in associates, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets
is reviewed at the end of each reporting
period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part
of the asset o be recovered.

Deferred ftax assets and liabilities are
measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in which
the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities
and assets reflects the tax consequences
that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right
to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority and the Group intends to seftle
its current tax assets and liabilities on a net
basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised
in profit or loss, except when they relate
to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case, the current and
deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred
tax arises from the initial accounting for
a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business
combination.

bR ENEERNERRR 2EEREA
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment held
for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administration
purpose are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation
and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write
off the cost of assets less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed aft
the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment
is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the confinued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of property, plant
and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and
is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intfangible assets with finite useful lives
that are acquired separately are carried
at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite
useful lives is recognised on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives.
The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for
on a prospective basis. Intangible assefts
with indefinite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment
losses.

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination are recognised separately
from goodwill and are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date
(which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible
assets acquired in a business combination
with finite useful lives are reported at
costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses
on the same basis as intangible assets
that are acquired separately. Intangible
assets acquired in a business combination
with indefinite useful lives are carried at
cost less any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (Contfinued)

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination (Continued)

An intangible asset is derecognised on
disposal, or when no future economic
benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains or losses arising from derecognition
of an intangible asset are measured at
the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and are recognised in profit or loss in
the period when the asset is derecognised.

Research and development expenditure
incurred to develop online business

Expenditure on research activities is
recognised as an expense in the period in
which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible assets
arising from development activities (or
from the development phase of an internal
project) is recognised if, and only if, all the
followings have been demonstrated:

J the technical feasibility of completing
the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale;

J the intention to complete the
intangible asset and use or sell it;

. the ability to use or sell the intangible
asset;

. how the intangible asset will generate
probable future economic benefits;
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXRSFHEE)
POLICIES (Continued)
Intangible assets (Continued) BREE (&)
Research and development expenditure BECREBEL T EREZRTH (&
incurred to develop online business
(Continued)

« the availability of adequate technical, AHABERNE UBEREMERST
financial and other resources to BRAERFEASIHEZELEE K
complete the development and to use
or sell the intangible asset; and

e the ability to measure reliably e HNHERBBUSHMIEEFLEERENL
the expenditure attributable to B HIBES ©

the intfangible asset during ifs
development.

Application and infrastructure — BRI RIEE 2 AR E MR iR
development stage., graphical design B BRRTREN AR EERAEEE &
stage and content development stage BT EEMBRBREN  LWERBRRES
of a website development are similar in WEHREERERABX  RIFEERX
nature to the development phase of an NETHESREREH(HERLAYE
intangible asset. Expenditure incurred in BERZE) NEEFERUESHRREN
these stages is recognised as an expense FREGBREF AP WHEMEBELE
when incurred, unless the expenditure SHHAREERFEEENRREE -

is incurred for purchasing or developing
hardware which is capitalised as property,
plant and equipment or directly attributed
to preparing the web site of the online
platform in the manner intended by the
Directors and meet all the recognition
criteria of internally-generated intangible
assets listed above.

Expenditure incurred in the content NAHBEREEZTH  WABRHEE
development stage to the extent that FEEREEAEENBEEERRERA
content is developed to advertise and R RESE(HI0EKREIESREE) B
promote the Group’s own products and A—IEMAX o

services is recognised as an expense when
incurred (e.g. when the advertising services
are received).
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (Contfinued)

Research and development expenditure
incurred to develop online business
(Continued)

The amount initially recognised for
internally-generated intangible asset is
the sum of the expenditure incurred from
the date when the intfangible asset first
meets the recognition criteria listed above.
Where no internally-generated intangible
asset can be recognised, development
expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-
generated intangible asset is measured at
cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses (if any),
on the same basis as intangible assets
acquired separately.

Film production in progress

Film production in progress is stated at cost
less any provision for impairment losses.
Cost includes all costs associated with the
production of films including remuneration
for the film director, casts and production
crew, costumes, insurance, makeup and
hairdressing as well as rental of camera
and lighting equipment. Film production in
progress is transferred to film rights when
the film is released.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (Contfinued)
Film rights

Film right is stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any. Amortisation for the film right
is charged so as to write off the cost of the
asset based on usage by way of various
distribution channels, such as theatrical
release, television release or internet
release, and other licensing arrangement.

Impairment losses on tangible
and intangible assets (other than
goodwill)

At the end of the reporting period, the
Group reviews the carrying amounts of its
tangible and intangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment
loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of tangible
and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.
Where a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be identified, corporate
assets are also allocated to individual Cash
Generating Unit ("CGU"), or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest
group of CGUs for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment losses on tangible
and intangible assets (other than
goodwill) (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair
value less costs of disposal and value
in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset for which
the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or
a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets
on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit. The
carrying amount of an asset is not reduced
below the highest of its fair value less costs
of disposal (if measurable), its value in use
(if determinable) and zero. The amount of
the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is
allocated pro rata to the other assets of
the unit. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment losses on tangible
and intangible assets (other than
goodwill) (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset
(or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss
is recognised as other gains immediately.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of
cost and NRV. Costs of inventories are
determined on weighted average method.
NRV represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less costs necessary to make
the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
initially measured at fair value except for
trade receivables arising from confracts
with customers which are initially measured
in accordance with HKFRS 15 since 1
April 2018. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and
financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added
to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable
to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method
of calculating the amortised cost of a
financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating inferest income and interest
expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees
and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent
measurement of financial assets (upon
application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with
transitions in Note 2)

Financial assets that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured at
amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a
business model whose objective is to
collect confractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and
inferest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured at
fair value through other comprehensive
income ("FVTOCI"):

. the financial asset is held within a
business model whose objective
is achieved by both collecting
contfractual cash flows and selling;
and

. the contractual terms give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount
outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent
measurement of financial assets (upon
application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with
transitions in Note 2) (Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently
measured at fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL"), except that at the date of initial
application/initial recognition of a financial
asset the Group may irrevocably elect to
present subsequent changes in fair value of
an equity investment in other comprehensive
income ("OCI") if that equity investment
is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in
a business combination to which HKFRS 3
Business combinations applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for
tfrading if:

. it has been acquired principally for
the purpose of selling in the near term;
or

. on initial recognition it is a part of
a portfolio of identified financial
instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

J it is a derivative that is not designated
and effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably
designate a financial asset that are
required to be measured at the amortised
cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if
doing so eliminates or significantly reduces
an accounting mismatch.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Amortised cost and inferest income

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method for financial
assets measured subsequently at amortised
cost and debt instruments/receivables
subsequently measured at FVTOCI. For
financial instruments other than purchased
or originated credit-impaired financial
assets, interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, except for financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset from
the next reporting period. If the credit risk
on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective
inferest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning
of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer
credit-impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the
criteria for being measured at amortised
cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI
are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVIPL are measured at
fair value at the end of each reporting
period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss includes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial
asset and is included in the “other gains
and losses, net” line item.

Impairment of financial assets (upon
application HKFRS 9 with transitions in
accordance with Note 2)

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
ECL on financial assets which are subject
to impairment under HKFRS 9 (including
tfrade receivables, other receivables,
deposits and bank balances). The amount
of ECL is updated at each reporting date
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon
application HKFRS 9 in accordance with
transitions with Note 2) (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will
result from all possible default events
over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL ("12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime
ECL that is expected to result from default
events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessment are
done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime
ECL for frade receivables. The ECL on
these assets are assessed individually and
adjusted for factors in relation to general
economic conditions of the specific
industry and an assessment of both the
current as well as the forecast direction at
the reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon
application HKFRS 9 in accordance with
transitions with Note 2) (Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group
measures the loss allowance equal to
12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based
on significant increases in the likelihood
or risk of a default occurring since inifial
recognition.

®

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial
instfrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon
application HKFRS 9 in accordance with
transitions with Note 2) (Continued)

®

Significant increase in credit risk
(Continued)

In particular, the following information
is taken into account when assessing
whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

e an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available)
or internal credit rating;

. significant deterioration in
external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the
credit default swap prices for the
debtor;

e existing or forecast adverse
changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

J an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;
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FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon
application HKFRS 9 in accordance with
transitions with Note 2) (Continued)

() Significant increase in credit risk

(Continued)

e actual or expected significant
adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease
in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that
the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXRSFHEE)
POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) E@MIT R (B
Financial assets (Continued) THEE(E
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Impairment of financial assets (upon
application HKFRS 9 in accordance with
transitions with Note 2) (Continued)

(i) Definition of default (i BYHERE

For internal credit risk management,
the Group considers an event of
default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the
debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full without
taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group.

Irrespective of the above, the Group
considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a
more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate,

RABEERBERMS  AKER
BoHABEXRBEIBRFEES 2
ERBETREBATATREOEGREA
(BREAKEE) 2EERXR(TZERBAE
A 2EMERR)  AREENS
e

BEREABHEOMA  AEERS 0 fid
TREEBHBEBOOR  BIBREEDN
B RILAEBESEBBENRE
HREFRRNENRESFREE A
YR °



150
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FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon
application HKFRS 9 in accordance with
transitions with Note 2) (Continued)

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired
when one or more events of default
that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable
data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of
the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of confract, such as a
default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that
the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the
borrower will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active
market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGRRMEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXRSFHEE)

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued) EMIA(E)

Financial assets (Continued) THEE(E

Impairment of financial assets (upon A EE R E (RIRIEM AL 22 8B IK X

application HKFRS 9 in accordance with BB BHEEREOHE) (B

transitions with Note 2) (Continued)

(iv) Write-off policy (iv) HEEECR
The Group writes off a financial asset HMEERBETREFFEBREMBEREH
when there is information indicating BEERKRE AR flmEFHIEE
that the counterparty is in severe TEESCEARERF  IFER
financial difficulty and there is no ESRAMES EESECHHES
realistic prospect of recovery, for “F(UURBHEERE) AEEE
example, when the countferparty has WEETHMEE HEEEBELEER
been placed under liquidation or has % CHEEREENIRBELAER
entered into bankruptcy proceedings, HREREFERESHIT - MEEX
or in the case of trade receivables, HIEEREBIE HAEBETHRE
when the amounts are over three HRIBEER ©

years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised
in profit or loss.
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FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon
application HKFRS 9 in accordance with

transitions with Note 2) (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function
of the probability of default, loss
given default (i.e. the magnitude of
the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as
the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference
between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contfract and
the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Interest income is calculated based
on the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset unless the financial
asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on
amortised cost of the financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon
application HKFRS 9 in accordance with
transitions with Note 2) (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

The Group recognises an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss for all
financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception
of trade receivables and other
receivables and deposits where the
corresponding adjustment recognised
through a loss allowance accounts.

Classification and subsequent
measurement of financial assets (before
application of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018)

Financial assets are classified into the
following specified categories: financial
assets at FVTPL and loans and receivables.
The classification depends on the nature
and purpose of the financial assets
and is determined at the time of initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent
measurement of financial assets (before
application of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018)
(Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL
when the financial asset is held for frading.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at
fair value, with any gains or losses arising
on remeasurement recognised in profit
or loss. The net gain or loss recognised
in profit or loss includes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial assets and
is included in the ‘other gains and losses’
line item. Fair value is determined in the
manner described in Note 34c.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Subsequent to initial recognition,
loans and receivables (including trade
receivables, other receivables, deposits
and bank balances) are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any impairment.

Interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate, except for short-
term receivables where the recognition of
interest would be immaterial.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before
application of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018)

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL,
are assessed for indicators of impairment
at the end of each reporting period.
Financial assets are considered fo be
impaired where there is objective evidence
that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the
financial asset, the estimated future cash
flows of the financial assets have been
affected.

For all other financial assets, objective
evidence of impairment could include:

. significant financial difficulty of the
issuer or counterparty; or

. breach of contract, such as default
or delinquency in interest or principal
payment; or

. it becoming probable that the
borrower will enter bankruptcy or
financial re-organisation.

Objective evidence of impairment for a
portfolio of receivable could include the
Group’s past experience of collecting
payments, an increase in the number of
delayed payments in the portfolio past
the average credit period of 60 days,
observable changes in national or local
economic conditions that correlate with
default on receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before
application of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018)
(Continued)

For financial assets carried at amortised
cost, the amount of the impairment loss
recognised is the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset
is reduced by the impairment loss directly
for all financial assets with the exception of
frade receivables and other receivables,
where the carrying amount is reduced
through the use of an allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the
allowance account are recognised in profit
or loss. When a trade receivable and other
receivables is considered uncollectible, it is
written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to profit
or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised
cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount
of the impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be related objectively to
an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed through profit
or loss to the extent that the carrying
amount of the investment at the date the
impairment is reversed does not exceed
what the amortised cost would have been
had the impairment not been recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset
only when the confractual rights tfo the
cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the
difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of
the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets
of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own
equity instfruments is recognised and
deducted directly in equity. No gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss on the
purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Company’s own equity insfruments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and
other payables are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s
obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the accounting
policies, which are described in Note
3. the Directors are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

Culturecom Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2018-2019

BEXREHBERE)
TRTHE(E)
SEAE(HE

BBEEA B THMEE

TRHEBE(REREMNEZRRARAMENK
) ERZBERAUERRRETE -

EREEFEBENEBCLERET - BRAE
B AEEARILBEISHMEE - RLLE
ANETHEENREERCYRENHRE
ZENEFESEBRETER

B TRERRZEERIR

BEENERASTECR (MMM & A
REFHEEBHMREESHEEREER
E{EAF H i ~ e KRR o hEt RBBER
RITENBESREASEENEMEE -
BRERTREZSMITFEEE -



KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

The key estimates and assumptions that
may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year are discussed below.

NRV assessment for inventories

At the end of the reporting period, the
Group carries out an inventory review on
a product-by-product basis. The Group
makes allowance for obsolete and slow-
moving inventory items identified that are
less than the NRV. The Group estimates the
NRV for inventories by taken intfo account
a number of factors including prices of
actual sales during and subsequent to the
reporting period and independent market
information. The amount of allowance
would be changed as a result of changes
in current market conditions subsequently.

As at 31 March 2019, the carrying
amount of the Group’s inventories was
HK$35,786,000, net of allowance of Nil
(2018: HK$38,548,000, net of allowance of
HK$15,898,000).

4.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Impairment of goodwill

Directors are required to carry out
impairment assessments of goodwill
irrespective of whether there is any
indication of impairment. Determining
whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount
of the CGU to which goodwill has been
allocated, which is the higher of the value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal.
The value in use calculation requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from the CGU and a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value. Where the actual future
cash flows are less than expected, or
change in facts and circumstances which
results in downward revision of future cash
inflows, a material impairment loss may
arise.

As at 31 March 2019, the carrying amount
of goodwill is HK$19,949,000 (2018: Nil).
Details of the recoverable amount
calculations are disclosed in Note 14,

Provision of ECL for trade
receivables

The Group assesses ECL for all trade
receivables based on individual basis. The
provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECL
and the Group’s frade receivables are
disclosed in Note 34b.
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ReMGRRMEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

5. LA
Continuing operations BFEREEK
For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZ-_ZE—-NF=A=1+—HILEFE
Disaggregation of revenue from (D) BEFEHKRAZTH
contracts with customers
Year ended 31 March 2019
BE-E-NEZR-T-ALEE
Publishing
and
infellectual ~ Online and Retailing
properties social Digital and
licensing business marketing  wholesales Catering Total
il e BLR gE
ERER HRER makR SEayE L) it
HK$'000 HKS000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TiEn TR
Time of revenue recognised:  BRKAZER:
At a point of fime RE-KS
— Comic books scles - BEEENE 4,688 - - - - 4,688
— Royalty income - RENBEER
from infellectual Bzl
properties BA
licensing 6,371 - - - - 6,371
— QOperation of digital - EBYBEER
cinema - 1,337 - - - 1,337
— Digital marketing - HENREE
fevenue BA - - 5784 - - 5784
— Sales of wine - EERE - - - 2% - 2%
— Catering services - HREH - - - - 3,509 3,509
Total h 11,099 1,337 5,784 2 3,500 21,115
Principal BN 11,009 1,337 4,703 26 3,509 20,634
Agent 183 - - 1,081 - - 1,081
Total Eh 11,009 1,337 5,784 26 3,509 21,715
Geographical markets: BERS
Hong Kong Bh(ERML)
(place of domiclle) 11,009 - - 26 - 11,085
The People’s Republic of HEARLAE
China (*PRC") (e ) - 1,337 5,784 - - 7121
Macau 35 - - - - 3,509 3,509
Total st 11,099 1,337 5,784 26 3,509 21,715
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE
5. REVENUE (Continued)

Continuing operations
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2019
(Continued)

5. KWA(#E)
HEREEER(E)

BE-—FT-NFZHA=1+—HILFEE

(i Performance obligations for contracts (D) BEFEHZEHEMF

with customers

Publishing and intellectual properties HiR R ANEEERRE
licensing

The revenue from publishing and
intellectual properties licensing
includes comic book sales to the
wholesale market and intellectual

properties licensing.

Bk ABEREREZBRARERL
BMSHEREERRANBERKE -

For comic book sales, revenue is REEEBEEEMS  WARERE
recognised at a point in time when FIEERESEEEHERNGERER

control of the goods has transferred (MEREXRTEHEHEEHE)

according to respective agreed terms
of delivery, i.e. the goods have been
delivered to the wholesaler’s specific
location. Following delivery, the
wholesaler has full discretion over the
manner of distribution and price to sell
the goods and has the right to return
unsold goods within 60 days under the
Group’s standard contract terms. The
normal credit term is 60 days upon
delivery.

For licensing business, the Group
grants its intellectual properties to
customers. Without any promise to
deliver other goods or services, the
customer can benefit from the license
that are readily available and the
license is considered as a distinct
performance obligation.
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5. REVENUE (Continued) 5. IRA(EE)
Continuing operations BFERSEER(EB)
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2019 BE - NF=FA=1+—HIFE(&

(Continued)

(i Performance obligations for contracts (D) BFEXZBHEF(E

with customers (Continued)

Publishing and intellectual properties
licensing (Continued)

The performance obligation provides
the customers with a right to use the
Group’s infellectual properties as they
exist at the point in fime at which the
license is granted. Given there is no
explicit or implied obligation for the
Group to undertake activities during
the license period to change the form
or functionality of the intellectual
properties, or support or maintain the
value of the intellectual properties,
revenue is recognised at a point in
fime.

The Group generally collects 1) the full
amount of contracted royalty income
before or when the intellectual
properties are provided fo customers;
or 2) sales-based royalty income
that are attributable to a license of
the intellectual properties when the
subsequent sales occurs. For sales-
based royalty, customers agree the
sales volume with the Group each
month and setftle the royalty with a
credit term of 60 days.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE
5. REVENUE (Continued)

Continuing operations
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2019
(Continued)

5. KWA(#E)
HEREEER(E)

BE-—FT-NFZHA=1+—HILFEE

(i Performance obligations for contracts (D) BFEHZEXET(E

with customers (Continued)

BRERERER
BERUREBZBATERBARE

Online and social business
Revenue from online and social

business is primarily derived from
collaborative arrangement with a
cinema circuit on the operation of a
digital cinema, in which the Group
provides the infrastructure of the
digital cinema while the source of
movies is provided by the cinema
circuit. The Group and the cinema
circuit jointly deftermine the manner
of ticketing, such as ticket price and

BHEREFLZE BARHBBE
FERRE HBEXLEE  BKMH
EXEGREAEIRE - XAEERE
THESABBEEERESX  NRER
BRITRE - AKREREWES DR
DI RFERS0%RE WA o WARE
RimEFRABBERE 2 B HER -
EEBRA-—RUBRBEREFTARX
30 HEAS SR B — AR @ B 4R 7L A SR [ AT
BEEBRERLYEERREEZ

timing of release. The Group shares HMAZEERARTFOZRIOAZEER -
and recognises 50% of the ficket box
office income accordance to the
agreed contract terms. Revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the
related services have been rendered
to the end customers. Tickets box
office income normally settled on cash
or by electronic payment, but the
Group normally grant the credit terms
for 0-30 days to the cinema circuit for
the portion of ticket box office income
enfitled to the Group in which the
tickets are sold and settled through
online platform of the cinema circuit.
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5. REVENUE (Conftinued) 5. IRA(EE)
Continuing operations BFERSEER(EB)
(Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2019 BE - NF=FA=1+—HIFE(&
(Continued)

(i Performance obligations for contracts (D) BFEXZBHEF(E

with customers (Continued)

Digital marketing

As a principal

Revenue from digital marketing is
primarily derived from the marketing
services provided to the customer
through internet channel including
social media and internet website. The
marketing services include design and
coordination and intellectual property
digitalisation. Since the Group does
not have an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed
to date, revenue from digital
marketing is recognised at a point in
tfime when the control of services or
goods is transferred to the customer,
being when the services are rendered
and control of goods are transferred
to the customers. Certain contracts
with customers contain multiple
distinct performance obligations to be
performed by the Group. The Group
uses its best estimate of selling prices
by expected cost plus approach of
these service obligations as the basis
for the allocation of the fransaction
price.

HBTSER

EREEA
BETSEETEEBEHARE(R
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE
5. REVENUE (Continued)

Continuing operations
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2019
(Continued)

(i) Performance obligations for contracts

with customers (Continued)

Digital marketing (Continued)

The Group normally grants credit
period of 30 to 60 days to customers
and requires certain customers to
provide upfront deposits. When the
Group receives a deposit before
production commences, this will
give rise to contract liabilities which
represent the Group’s obligation
to fransfer goods or services to a
customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount
of consideration is due) from the
customer. Conversely, the contract is
an asset if the measure of remaining
conditional rights to consideration
exceeds the satisfied performance
obligations. The contract assetfs are
fransferred to trade receivables when
the rights become unconditional, i.e.
upon completion of all performance
obligations within a contract.

As an agent

The Group mainly assists customers,
i.e. advertising companies, in sourcing
digital marketing products on online
platforms, such as mobile applications
or social media platforms, in the
capacity of an agent rather than
as the principal in a fransaction,
revenue recognised is the net amount
of commission made by the Group
on a monthly basis. The credit terms
granted by the vendors may or may
not be consistent with the credit
period of 30 fo 60 days granted by the
Group to the customers.
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5. REVENUE (Continued)

Continuing operations
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2019
(Continued)

(i)

)

Performance obligations for contracts
with customers (Continued)

Retailing and wholesales

Revenue from retailing and wholesales
is primarily derived from sales of wine.
Revenue is recognised at a point in
time when the goods are delivered
and titles have passed. The normal
credit term is 60 days upon delivery.

Catering

Revenue from catering is primarily
derived from operation of the
restaurant by providing fine dining
services. Revenue is recognised when
the control of services is fransferred
at a point in time, being the related
services have been rendered fo
customers. Normally, no credit term
are granted fto the customer as the
amount will be seftled once the
services is rendered.

Transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligation for
contracts with customers

All goods or service provided by the
Group are for contracts with orginal
expected duration of one year or
less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
fransaction price allocated to these
unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

ReMGRRMEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE
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FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

6A.OTHER INCOME 6A. HUg A
Continuing operations BFEREER
During the year ended 31 March 2019, RBE-ZE-NF=A=+—-BLEFE"
other income included bank interest Hiw A\ BFEHRTREWA 1,459,000 5T
income of HK$1,459,000 (2018: HK$89,000). (ZZE— )\ : 89,000/87T) °

6B. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET 6B. Bt K& 18 - F

Continuing operations FRAERE
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
TR FiERT
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR ZEE
(Note 30) (K5 30) —_ (848)
Loss on fair value change of financial ZRAFEEFABERZS
assets at FVTPL MEEZAVEEZEZ
5Fi] (1,701) —
Gain on fair value change of held for FEBESRE LA FEE
trading investments 2Bz W& — 428
Net foreign exchange (loss) gain B (E518) W F 5 (1,649) 2,247
Reversal of impairment loss on deposits & & FEEERE — 1,021
Impairment loss on trade receivables, EWE FIRF 2
net of reversal WEEE - HREE (215) (421)
Loss on written off of property, plant WEEE BMERREZ
and equipment 518 — (779
(3,565) 1,648
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive
directors, being the Group’s chief
operating decision maker ("CODM"), for
the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance
focuses on types of goods or services
delivered or provided. This is also the
basis upon which the Group is organised
and specifically focuses on the Group’s
operating divisions. No operating segments
identified by the CODM have been
aggregated in arriving at the reportable
segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group’s operating and
reportable segments under HKFRS 8
Operating Segments are as follows:

— Publishing and intellectual properties
licensing: publication of comic books
and royalty income from licensing
infellectual properties of comics.

— Online and social business: operation
of digital cinema, film production
and development of multi-media
application.

— Digital marketing: providing digital
marketing and communication,
intellectual property digitalisation
and agency of intellectual property
services in the PRC.

— Retailing and wholesales: retailing of
wine in Hong Kong and Macau.

— Catering: catering services in Macau.

During the year ended 31 March 2019,
the Group commenced the business in
digital marketing through acquisition of a
subsidiary as detailed in Note 29,
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

7 EER
BUTES(NAEEZEIREEREKE
([EBEERRE D)) BEABRIEERR
AHE D MRR2EREEINARINHREM 2
EmRBRE2EE - R AEBAEE K
BzEE WHKBHEIRNAREB ZEER
Pl e REBAEB 2T HMED MW - WER
SEXRKERRERHER 2EEDE -

BRI ARIEE B E B2 8 AT

ZE ARBEEERTHREDFUT -

— HRRAIEBEERE: ﬁﬁa%ﬂm
RRBEBEAREEREZRERA

— BIRHRER: CEHBELHR
EFRFEUNRBEREZEBERES

— HETSEE: RTERMHBETS
HERBEM  ABEEABCRAOE
ERNERE -

— TEEME  EFERRMZEEE-

B E 29 RBEZF-AF=
A=+t—HLEE AEEEBWE—>BKH
BRARRBIEMSHERRS -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z-NF=A=1t—HILFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2019, Ucan
Commercial Group was disposed and its
operation in development of multi-media
application is presented as discontinued
operation. Details of the discontinued

operation is further set out in Note 30.

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s
revenue and results by operating and

reportable segments.

For the year ended 31 March 2019

Revenue A
Extemal soles g

Segment results from confinuing ond FERAL

disconfinued operations e
Loss for the year fiom Arfeziy
dsconfinued operction FERE

Segment results from confinuing operations  £EEEEH 5524

Unallocated expenses RARER
Unallocated income RARKA
Other gains and losses, net EftWERES 58

Loss before fox and disconfinued operctions BERA tEEERHER

7. 7HERGE)
BE-Z-NAF=ZA=Z=+—-HLFE"
Ucan Commercial Group B HERHE
FEZEREAREAZKECE2IA/LL
R o RILTE RIS — SRR
Fit=E 30 °
DEBRA R FAE
UTAREBZWARXEREERATRE
PEFAEZ A
BE-ZT-hF=A=+—-HLEFE
Publishing
and
infellectual Retailing
properties Onling and Digitol and
licensing social business markefing ~ wholesoles Cotering ~ Consolidated
HRR L
AEERRR BIRHRRE £ SERME ig &8
HK§'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK§'000
thn Thn Tin TEn in in thn
(Continuing  (Disconfinued
operations) operation)
i | (Rt
£228) £228)
11,089 139 - 5784 % 3,509 25
2,585 (1,481) (9,467) (5,396) (921) (1,360) (16,046)
-
(6,579)
(15319)
2,128
(2,809)
(22579)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGRRMEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. DEBER(E)
(Continued)
Segment revenue and results (Continued) DESRARFEE(E)
For the year ended 31 March 2018 BE-Z—-N\F=A=+—HILLEE
Publishing
and
infellectual Refailing
properfies Onling ¢nd Digial and
licensing sociol business markefing wholesales Catering Consolidafed
R gE
viEE] ST RLRRRER TEEE  RERME R fa
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 K000 HKS 000 kS 000 HKS000
T T T T T L T
(Confinuing  (Disconfinued
opetofions) ~ operations)
(8 (A1
fizzh) fz28)
Revenue WA
Extemal soles bk 8,367 314 - - 0378 3018 34910
Sogment resulfs fom confinuing ond - BEREERRALAEER,
discontinued operations PEES 182 (34,930) (11,889) - A (2944) (47.527)
Loss for e yeor fiom disconfinued Ariezhy
operation EEE 11889
Segment results from continuing operations EEREEK 2955 (%,636)
Unalocated expenses FAERR (13282)
Unallocated inome FARMA 159
Other gains and losses, net HMERFE ¥ 14%
Loss before tox ond disconfinued BRRALEZERH
operation g2 (45,889)



172

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

7.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

The accounting policies of the operating
segments are the same as the Group’s
accounting policies described in Note 3.
Segment results represent the profit (loss)
before tax incurred by each segment
without the allocation of certain other
income, loss on disposal of subsidiaries, loss
on fair value change of financial assets at
FVTPL, gain on fair value change of held
for trading investments, share of profit (loss)
of an associate and unallocated corporate
expenses. This is the measure reported to
the CODM for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment.,

As the Group’s assets and liabilities are
only reviewed by the CODM as a whole
and hence no analysis of the Group’s
assets and liabilities by operating segments
is disclosed.
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7. SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Other segment information Bt EH
For the year ended 31 March 2019 BE-Z—NWGF=A=+—HLEFE

Amounts regulary provided fo CERIEEERRARLY
fhe CODM: $E.
Addifon fo non-curent cssefs FERnEER

Amounts included in the measure of  STEABERARALSE:
segment profit or loss:
Depreciafion of property, plontond 1% BERGE25E

equipment
Impaimen loss on fim right EYRELHARR
Amortisafion of infongible osses alEERS
Amorisafion of i right Ehlitd
Bank inferest income LN

Consulfancy ond professional fees FHREZER
mpaiment loss on frade receivables,  ENBAE: 2 HEER

nef of reversal L3
Research and development expenses TR
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FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION 7.

(Continued)

Other segment information (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2018

2 EER (&)

B ZBEH (E)
BE-ZE-NF=ZA=+—HLEE

Publishing
and
Infellectucl Refailing
properties Onling and Digital and Segment
licensing sociol business markefing  wholesoles  Catering fofol - Unallocated  Consolidafed
Gl (i
HEERRE RLRHRER THEE  BEEME ) FAE 6
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS 000 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HK$ 000
i1 7 Tin i1 i1 Tin Tin i1 Tin
(Confinuing  (Disconfinued
operafions)  operations)
(8 (&1
fxzR)  g23))
Amounts reqularly provided fo the CODM:  RHRTERE R RE,
£
Addition to non-curent ssefs REETEEE 5 726 - - - 1 125 8l 1317
Amounts included in the meoswre of  HEAFREAAELE
segment profit or loss:
Depreciafion of property, plontond -~ 4% BERREITE
equipment 12 JLA) 2 - P 097 1,614 130 1784
Reversol of mpaiment losses on fevnEFEAD
depasfs - - - - - )
mpaiment losson fimight ond fim -~~~ EZREREEDEZ2
production in progress HEEE - 3383 - - - - 3383 - 3,38
Amortation of i right B0 - 9,405 - - - - 2405 - 040
Bank inferest income BRlEMA () 0 @ - - - @) (66) (89)
Consulfoncy and professonol fees HiREEER Rl 9 - - 109 - 580 203 2614
mpaiment loss on frade receivables,  EEAEHZHBER
net of reversal ke - - - - i) - 0 - o
Reseorch ond development expenses  ERR - - 6,600 - - - 6,600 - 6,800
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

Geographic information

The Group’s operations are located in the

ReMGRRMEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. 7HERGE)

HhEEH
AEEZEENRPE(BEEFBREM) -

PRC, including Hong Kong and Macau.

Information about the Group’s revenue

FBEAKERBIINETF ZBAZER TR

from external customers is presented EERERIT2HESHOEFIRERBE 2

based on the location of goods physically
delivered to or location of services

M2 MABEFRADEEZERE
REEZFEMBE -

provided fo the customers and information
about its non-current assets is based on
geographical location of the assets.

Revenue from
external customers Non-current assets
REMBERZWA FRBEE

2019 2018 2019 2018
“E-NEFE —E-N\F ZB-NEFE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000 | HK$'000  HK$'000
FEx FEx FBx FEx

Hong Kong

(place of domicile)
The PRC
Macau

&g
(EZEPiEih) 11,085 29,123 3,975 5,309
ey 7,121 2,769 24,840 6
P 3,509 3,018 195 193
21,715 34,910 29,010 5,608




176

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the
corresponding years conftributing over 10%
of total sales of the Group are as follows:

2 EER (&)

EHETEEFZEH

HEFERBEMASEREERD 10% 2
FEEZBWAMT

2019 2018

—E-hEF —E-N\EF

HK$’000 HK$ 000

FHET FHBT

Customer A' ZER] N/A* 10,157
@M

Customer B’ 257 N/A* 10,145
TERY

Customer C? 2ER?2 3,180 3,581

Customer D? E2ET?2 3,439 2,789

Customer E® EEKS 3,640 N/A?

TEme

Customer F? 2ED? 2,907 N/A*

@AY

Revenue from retailing and wholesales segment.
Revenue from publishing and intellectual
properties licensing segment.

Revenue from digital marketing segment.

No revenue is recognised in profit or loss for the
corresponding year.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Revenue from major products and services

The following is an analysis of the Group’s
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGRRMEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

2 EEF (&)

FEEmRBEHERA

AEBNEZEmKRBELENRA DI

revenue from its major products and ™
services:

2019 2018
—Z-hF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HKS$000
THER FHExT
Comic books BEEE 4,688 4,556
Premium wine BERE 26 20,378
Royalty income hi FE W A 6,371 3,811
Digital cinema operation KE RIS B 1,337 2,769
Digital marketing HIEMSHEE 5,784 —
Catering service RRRE 3,509 3,018
Others Hith — 378
21,715 34,910
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FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

8. LOSS BEFORE TAX

8. BRBAIEIR

Continuing operations BFEREER
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$°000 HKS$'000
FERT FHBT
Restated
(&=E5)
Loss before tax has been arrived at REAIBIBEHNRT
after charging: I8 ¢
Staff costs BT
Directors’ emoluments (Note 12) EEME (FEE12) 5,053 3,669
Other staff costs: HE TR :
— Retirement benefit scheme — RRERFEIHK
contributions 278 284
— Salaries and other benefits — HEREMER 11,262 7,548
16,593 11,501
Auditor’s remuneration 2 E AT &
— Audit services — BITR®E 1,352 1,520
— Non-audit services — FETRE 132 461
Amortisation of film right (included in T RE#H (G AEE
cost of sales) ) 540 29,405
Consultancy and professional fees BAREXERGTAHEM
(included in other expenses) (Note) BH) (M) 1,263 2,614
Cost of inventories recognised as BRAMI2FERAEA(E
expenses (including allowance for EERBI2FERE
inventories in Nil (2018: HK$397,000)) (ZZ—\& : 397,000
BEIT)) 2,002 26,080
Costs to fulfil the contracts with EREFENZHEA
customers 2,322 —
Note: MiaE

The amounts represent fees paid to consultfants

providing professional advices on business operations.
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INCOME TAX CREDIT (EXPENSE)
Continuing operations

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of
Bermuda, the Company is not subject to
any income fax in Bermuda for both years.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated aft
16.5% (2018: 16.5%) on the estimated
assessable profits for both years.

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong
Legislative Council passed The Inland
Revenue (Amendment) (No.7) Bill 2017
(the "Bill”) which infroduces the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was
signed into law on 28 March 2018 and
was gazetted on the following day. Under
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime,
the first HKS2 million of profits of qualifying
corporations is taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2 million is taxed at 16.5%. The
profits of group entities not qualifying for
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of
16.5%. No provision for taxation in Hong
Kong Profits Tax was made as there is
no assessable profits for both reporting
periods.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on Enterprise Income Tax (the
“EIT Law™) and Implementation Regulation
of the EIT Law, the fax rate of the PRC
subsidiaries is 25% for both years. Taxation
arising in other jurisdictions is calculated
at the rates prevailing in the relevant
jurisdictions.

9.
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FiEBER (FX)
HFEREXEL

RBEEBREZEARBRL - A2 RWIEF
EHEANERESE[AHAES -

BB GBI ARE M B F E 2 fh 5T ERBUS
ME16.5% (ZF—\F 1 16.5%) < R EiR
o

R-ZE-NF=A=+—B BEBILEEE
BOV7TERBUEET) (BT RBIER)
(TZEBIER]D > SIAFIBHMAE - Z
BOEER=_ZE-NE=ZA=-+N\BHERE
X URBEEFRTE - RIBFESH M
ME > BEBEEIRE 2% ZHEMEANE
CEHEBITEBMBIE > WiR16.5% 2R EH
WM2ABRARTULZRZHE -  TEFER
MAFNER2EBER TS EERS —
FE16.5% HF - AR MERS HEDEE
RERA > ML EHRBEBFSHELBIEER
& o

BB EARLAE L EAHERIA (TR
B ) RO RFERAS HiRMR - R E
B2 AR BB R 2 B R 5 25% © R E At
AAEEEE X RADREN AL EE 2
BRI o
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FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

9. INCOME TAX CREDIT (EXPENSE) 9. EBiE% (FAxX) (&)

(Continued)
Continuing operations BFEKSEEK(E)
(Continued)
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HKS$’000
FET FiERT
Underprovision in prior years BEFERETR
— Hong Kong — BB = (32)
Deferred tax ELEBIE
— Deferred tax credit — BEERIEER 6 14
6 (18)
Details of deferred tax are set out in Note BREEERESISEH A5 -
25.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGRRMEEE

(Continued)

Continuing operations
(Continued)

The income tax credit (expense) for the
year can be reconciled to the loss before

INCOME TAX CREDIT (EXPENSE) 9.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

HEZ
Fr8tiEe () (&)

FECEXB(E)

tax per the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive

income as follows:

E-NFZA=Z+—HLEE

FRABHER (FAX)TRGESERRHEM
2HWSERAIBRHRABEYRNT

2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$"000
FET FBT
(Restated)
(&%)
Loss before tax FRELRIES 18 22,579 45,889
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of REBANEBHRZE16.5%
16.5% (2018: 16.5%) (ZE—N\F:16.5%)
STE2FIE 3,726 7,572
Tax effect of income not taxable in FTEERB R B ERY
determining taxable profit WAZHBEE 391 390
Tax effect of expense not deductible  FHEERBUERI R a7 H05K
in determining taxable profit A z2BEeE (1,306) (899)
Tax effect of share of profit (loss) for FEAh — B A BDE R
an associate (BR)ZBBTE 41 (55)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised REERAFIEEE 2 BIE
EZ 4 (3,067) 6,773)
Utilisation of tax losses previously not BALARERATIEERE
recognised 293 401
Effect of different tax rates of REMBZRELE 2K B
subsidiaries operating in other NCIWRNEE RS2
jurisdictions (72) (622)
Underprovision in respect of prior years BEFEEETRE — 32)
Total income tax credit (expense) Frietiige (B )&% 6 18)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

10. DIVIDENDS

10.

No dividend was paid or proposed during
the year ended 31 March 2019, nor has
any dividend been proposed since the end

of reporting period (2018: Nil).

11. LOSS PER SHARE

From continuing operations

11.

The calculation of the basic (2018: basic
and diluted) loss per share attributable to
the owners of the Company is based on

the following data:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FReMGHRRME

Hﬁ z%\

REZE-ZE-NFZA=Z+—-HLEFELE
RS EBIRMGBRE > BREHARERER
BRAEARE(ZE—NF &) o

BREE

RARAFEEANRBEEBRER(ZZE-NF:
EXAREE)BERILIRETHEEHE !

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$°000 HKS$000
FET FExT
(Restated)
(LEY))
Loss for the year attributable to owners ARFTESREAR(ZF
of the Company for the purposes of —N\F  EXREHE)
basic (2018: basic and diluted) loss 3= YNCIE 2SN
per share L FEEEE (31,335) (58,042)
Less: Loss for the year from W ORERIEEEEL
discontinued operation FEEE 9,467 11,889
Loss for the purpose of basic ARFTERBFELE
(2018: basic and diluted) loss per (B 2BRER
share from continuing operations (ZZ2—-N\§F  EXRK
BE)BEZEE (21,868) (46,153)
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
000 ‘000
TR F i
Number of shares for the purposes of  ARSTESRER
basic (2018: basic and diluted) loss (ZE—-N\F  EXK
per share #E) BB 2RE 1,390,657 1,390,657
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11. LOSS PER SHARE (Continued)

From continuing and discontinued
operations

The calculation of the basic (2018: basic
and diluted) loss per share attributable to
the owners of the Company is based on
the following data:
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HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

1. 3REE (&)
REFARKILEEERE

AARFEEANEBEEBRER(ZZE-NF
ERREE)BREZTEDREBEUTRE -

2019 2018
—ZE-h#EF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HKS$000
FTET FHET
(Restated)
(&%)
Loss for the year attributable to owners BRstESRER
of the Company for the purpose of (ZZ2—N\F  EXKki#
basic (2018: basic and diluted) loss H)BBR2ANRERA
per share EiRFEEE (31,335) (58,042)

The denominators used are the same as
those detailed above for basic (2018: both
basic and diluted) loss per share.

From discontinued operation

Basic (2018: basic and diluted) loss per
share for the discontinued operation is
HKO.7 cent per share (2018: HKO.9 cent
per share), based on the loss for the
year from the discontinued operation of
HK$9,467,000 (2018: HKS$11,889,000) and the
denominators used are the same as those
detailed above for basic (2018: both basic
and diluted) loss per share.

No diluted loss per share for the year
ended 31 March 2019 was presented as
there were no potential ordinary shares in
issue for the year ended 31 March 2019.

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the
computation of diluted loss per share does
not assume the exercise of the Company’s
outstanding warrants and share options
since their assumed exercise would result in
a decrease in loss per share.

Bz BREXHRERER(ZE-N
FEAREE) BRFAEMRR -

RIEREEB 2 BREXN(ZZE-N\F &
ARBE)EEAESRO7BIWZZ-N
F:8KR0.9EM)  ERRELLEEER
2 FEEE467.0008B T (=ZF—N\F:
11,889,0008 ) & ik Ao & EREA
R ZE-N\F EXRREE) BEREN £
&R o

HREBE=-E-hE=ZA=1+—BLEEL
B|EAOBTEBEEER  BUEZIEZ
—E-NEF=ZR=T+-BLFESREEE
8 e

BE-Z-/\F=ZA=1+—-HLEE 8K
BEBRZHAELNBRADTRITENZ
AREERBREZTE  REARRITE
ZEAREERBERELSIAEREER
9\ o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-ZE—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEE

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ and chief
executive’s emoluments

Directors’ and chief executive’s
remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the applicable Listing
Rules and CO, is as follows:

12. 25 TRABKRSEEEEAER
2=

(o) EERTHRASZME

REEREHRAR 2B RGIKE 2
FEEBRITHEAZZMENT :

Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme
Fees benefits  contributions Total
HeR BHER
he Hip Rl HE [ am
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000
T T TiEx THEx
2019 ZE-NF
Executive directors (Note i) BTES (M)
Huang Mingguo (chief executive ~ ZEAE (THAH)
officer) (Nofe iii) (WisEii) 89 1,633 14 1,736
Kwan Kin Chung BRnE 120 725 18 863
Yuen Kin mfE 120 881 18 1,019
Chen Man Lung (Note iv) BR3CEE (Htst iv) 5 62 2 69
Chow Lai Wah Livia BEE 120 360 18 498
Tang Kwing Chuen Kenneth B R (Bt xiii)
(Note xiii) 114 165 (] 285
Independent non-executive BUFHITES
directors (Note ii) (Kraxii)
Fan Chun Wah Andrew BEE 240 - - 240
Lai Qiang (Note v) B (fratv) 100 - - 100
Ng Ying (Note vi) RE(FrEEvi) 118 - - 118
Wong Kwan Kit (Note vii) EEA (K vil) 89 - - 89
Mung Yat Lk (Note vii) S—n(Hratvii) 36 - - 36
Total o] 1,151 3,826 76 5,053
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief

ReMGRRMEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

12.E5 - TRABKREEEEAES
2= (%)

(o) EERITHAER <M= (E)

executive’s emoluments

(Continued)
Retfirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme
Fees benefits  contributions Total
Hek BIKER
we HipFlz HE 3 aE
HKS"000 HKS"000 HKS"000 HK$"000
T TR TiEn TiEn
2018 —2-\fF
Executive directors (Note i) BTES (M)
Lai Tak Kwong Andrew REX(THAH)
(chief executive officer) GEDY
(Note ix) 2 — - 2
Kwan Kin Chung BfeE 120 725 18 863
Yuen Kin rfE 70 381 10 461
Chen Man Lung (Note iv) BRoCEE (MEEiv) 120 642 19 781
Tang U Fai (Note x) BFE (i x) 47 131 - 178
Chow Lai Wah Livia BEZE 120 366 18 504
Tang Kwing Chuen Kenneth B8R (B xiil)
(Note xiii) 120 180 6 306
Independent non-executive BUkHTES
directors (Note ii) (KisEii)
Joseph Lee Chennault (Note xii) Bz (BffzE xii) 94 — - 94
Fan Chun Wah Andrew BEE 240 - - 240
Lai Qiang (Note v) R (Matv) 120 — - 120
Ng Ying (Note vi) RE(MEVI) 120 - - 120
Total ok 1,173 2,425 71 3,669
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief
executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

Notes:

D

if)

i)

iv)

V)

Vi)

vii)

vii)

ix)

Culturecom Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2018-2019

The executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were for their services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’
emoluments shown above were for their
services as Directors.

Mr. Huang Mingguo was appointed as the
executive director and chief executive
officer on 3 July 2018.

Mr. Chen Man Lung resigned as the
executive director on 16 April 2018.

Mr. Lai Qiang resigned as the independent
non-executive director on 31 January 2019.

Mr. Ng Ying resigned as the independent
non-executive director on 25 March 2019.

Mr. Wong Kwan Kit was appointed as the
independent non-executive director on 3
July 2018.

Mr. Mung Yat Lik was appointed as the
independent non-executive director on 14
December 2018.

Mr. Lai Tak Kwong Andrew, who was
appointed on 2 April 2014, is also the chief
executive officer of the Company and
his emoluments disclosed above include
those for services rendered by him as the
chief executive officer. He resigned as the
executive director of the Company on 8
April 2017.

B EE -

it)

i)

iv)

2

vi)

vii)

vii)

ix)

12.E5 - THABRSEEEAER
2= (%)

(o) EERITHAR M= (&)

EXRAIBTEScMENHRREAHE
BARBRRAEEEHE 2 RE2ME -

EXFRHBYERITEScMETIMKRE
EEESARERE ML -

EREAER-Z-NFLE=ZHEZE
RPTESRITHAH -

RXEEER=ZZ-N\FMNA+BEHE
HITES -

BELER-_ZE-NAF-A=t—-AEHE
BYFHITES -

REZITR-FE-NF=ZA=-+HARME
BYFHITES -

BEERAEERZZE-NFLA=ZHRZEE
AEUFHTES -

E-ARERZZE-N\FE+ZA+tHNBEE
ZERBIFHITES -

REXEENR-_Z-NENA_AEZE
- EFBADATHAR - HR EXR
WENNSBEAERTRARMREM/R
BHME - FR=-ZT-LtFNOANBEBE
RDBHTES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGRRMEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 12. E5 - THREIRSEEEAER

AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S ZE (F)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(a) Directors’ and chief () EERTHARZHME (E)

executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued) F&E © (48)

X)  Mr. Tang U Fai retired as the executive ) HFEFBEER-_ZF-tFNAZ-+-HE
director on 22 August 2017. EHITES -

xi)  Mr. Joseph Lee Chennault retired as the xi) BRYBEER-_ZF—tFNA-+=-HE
independent non-executive director on 22 EBLFHITES -
August 2017.

xiii)  Mr. Tang Kwing Chuen Kenneth resigned as xi) HEREER-_Z-—NAF=AT+—HEHE
an executive director on 11 March 2019, HTEE -

During the year, no emoluments were FR AEEBTEOEEZFHESE

paid by the Group to the directors ARBRAIBEBREMAXREER

as a discretionary bonus or an IR Z S BB 2 ffE

inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as a compensation for loss of

office.
There was no arrangement under BRI A EE M E D 2 AR EE AT B
which a director had waived or SR

agreed to waive any remuneration.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

12. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 12. ES - THHRIRSEEEAER
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 2 & (&)

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Employee’s emoluments (b) EEZEE

Of the five individuals with the highest
emoluments in the Group, three
(2018: three) were directors and chief
executive officer of the Company
whose emoluments are included in
the disclosure in Note 12(a) above.
Emoluments of the remaining two
(2018: two) individual was as follows;

AEBEERBFALTHR=ZR(=ZZ
—NF ZR)AXRAEBRITHE
H BEsHEC R EXHEE12(a)H
BE HHBEWMB(ZZ—NF WE)
ATZME0T :

2019 2018

—E-hE —E-N\F

HK$’000 HKS’000

FET FBT

Salaries and other benefits FehHEMRZ 1,187 1,220
Retirement benefit scheme BRIRBE R FT B R

confributions 36 38

1,223 1,258

Their emoluments were within the
following bands:

BEZMESNMRUTAR :

2019 2018
—E-hF —Z2-N\F
Number of Number of
employee employee

EEA™ EEAH

Nil fo HK$1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000 % 7T

Culturecom Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2018-2019




13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND

¥ 2018-2019 XILEEEEARAF 189

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGRRMEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

13. 1% - RERRE

EQUIPMENT
Vehicles,
Leasehold  furniture and
improvements equipment Total
HENE AE B
&6 &L L]
HK$"000 HK$"000 HK$'000
T TiEx TiEx
COsT A&
At 1 April 2017 RZE-tENA-H 6,077 21,066 27,143
Additions RE 475 842 1,317
Disposal it (766) 873) (5,439)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBLT - (503) (503)
Exchange realignment ExHE 243 466 709
At 31 March 2018 BRZE-NE=ZB=1-H 6,029 17,198 23,227
Arising from acquisition of subsidiary WERBADEE - 46 46
Additions HE 279 131 410
Disposal of subsidiaries HENBLTE (33) (150) (183)
Exchange realignment ExRE (160) (279) (439)
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NE=A=1-H 6,115 16,946 23,061
DEPRECIATION nE
At 1 April 2017 RZE-tEmA-A 5,692 19,422 25,114
Provided for the year REERE 186 1,558 1,744
Eliminated on disposal st & (766) (3,894) (4,660)
Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries WL ERBLA - (464) (464)
Exchange realignment ExHz 244 444 688
At 31 March 2018 RZE-NF=R=1-H 5,356 17,066 22,422
Provided for the year rEERRB 137 268 405
Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries HEELERBLAR (33) (126) (159)
Exchange realignment ExRE (160) (284) (444)
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NE=A=1-H 5,300 16,924 22,224
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 March 2019 R-B-nE=R=1-H 815 22 837
At 31 March 2018 RZE-NE=B=1-H 673 132 805
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (Confinued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the
cost over their estimated useful lives, using
the straight-line method, at the following
rates per annum:

Shorter of the lease
term or 10%
15% to 20%

Leasehold
improvements
Vehicles, furniture
and equipment

As at 31 March 2019, property, plant
and equipment with an aggregate of
HK$14,854,000 were fully depreciated but

13. % ~ BER&RHE (&)

BRE 2 AT UERFHRRABESRERUAT

R RITE MR A

MEMERE  AER10% (ABREE
B%E)

AERRR 15%220%

Bai

R-ZZE-NF=ZRA=Z+t-H REAR
14,854,000 8B T 2% BERRBEEE
BITEMMEER -

in use.
14. GOODWILL 14. B&

HKS$000
FHET

At 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 R-ZE—tFMA—HEK
—E-NE=ZA=+-—H —

Acquired on acquisition of a subsidiary EERWEE—EHE A
(Note 29) (FFE29) 19,613
Exchange realignment R 336
At 31 March 2019 R-ZE-NE=A=+—H 19,949

Goodwill is allocated to the CGU of a
wholly owned subsidiary, =5 &FRIZ AR
~\] ("Egmen”), which is engaged in digital
marketing business, is arising from the
acquisition as at 31 August 2018.

The Group engaged Valor Appraisal
& Advisory Limited, an independent
professional valuer, to assist in determining
the discount rate on the cash flows
projection. During the year ended 31
March 2019, the management determined
that there is no impairment on the CGU
containing goodwill.
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HMEIREZ2EWBARLRETFIRRE
RAB(ZHMNDZREELEN  ZLQFH
REBBBTHHERERE  AFER-ZF-N
FENA=+-HUWEBREL -

AEBCZE-HBELEEGHEQAER
FERERERLDE (Valor Appraisal &
Advisory Limited)RiGBIEEERSRETE
BZBRE RBE-ZE-—NF=ZA=+—
HIEFE EEEECEREBmEC2REEE
B ERE -

9



14. GOODWILL (Continued)

The basis of the recoverable amounts of
the above CGU and their major underlying
assumptions are summarised below:

The recoverable amount of the above
CGU has been determined based
on a value in use calculation. That
calculation uses cash flow projection
based on a financial budget approved by
management covering a five-year period,
and a discount rate of 20.14% (2018: N/A),
applied by an independent professional
valuer. The cash flow of this CGU beyond
the five-year period is extrapolated using
a 2% (2018: N/A) growth rate. This growth
rate is based on the relevant industry
growth forecasts. Other key assumptions
for the value in use calculation related
to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows
include budgeted sales, gross margin and
related cash inflow and outflow patterns.
The estimation is based on management’s
expectations for the market development.

If the revenue in each of the forecast
period was 7% lower than forecast, or
discount rate increased to 24% or the
gross profit in each of the forecast period
was lowered by 3%, individually with
all other parameters remain constant,
the recoverable amount would be
approximately equal to its carrying
amount. Except for this, any reasonable
possible changes in the key assumptions
used in the value in use calculation
would not affect management’s view on
impairment at 31 March 2019.

14.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGRRMEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

BmE (&)

X ReEEER Y TRESEEERH
TEEMRRMENT

EXREELEBM 2 RESRIIRE-ES
BEFEMEE A EERAEREERE
BEZRELFHZ2MBREZRERE
A RABLNEXMGEMERZMBRR
20.14% (ZZE—N\F : TEH) - ZBBA
FHRESELBEUCREREFEA2% (=R
—N\F:AER)ERRELHER - ZEER
ZRBERITEERTEN - BREERA R
HAESHHEE 2 ERAEENEZEBEERR
BREEERE ENXRREBRER/ARR
HER - 2T EREEBHTSRECR
H o

fisi & FRRIEA R 2 W A BRFERIME 7% » SBEIR
RIBME24% 0 RETBEABHEZERETRE
3% MEBHEMEEMBSERFLE > 1
WEIEEANEEAEREE © BRitbz s -
RZE-NAEF=A=+—H AREREE
FEFERR2AMNAETHREERSETIEY
EEEEBHREZER -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

15. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 15. REFE N B 2=
2019 2018
—E-hEFE —ZF-N\F
HK$’000 HK$"000
FERT FHBT
Cost of investments in an unlisted RIELETEE QAT RERK

associate 1,476 1,476
Share of post-acquisition losses G W iBEEE (86) (333)
1,390 1,143
Particulars of the Group’s associate as at RZE-NE=A=1+—HAXEEKE QT

31 March 2019 are as follows: ZHEHMAEROT ¢

Proportion of

nominal value
Form of Place of of issued share
Name of business incorporation/ Class of capital held
associate structure operation shares held by the Group Principal activity
HAKE
BEZERf
BENT LR ERERES  HEMAY/EERE  FERHER REEERDL TEXH
2019 2018
“E-nF —ET-N\F
Culturecom Media  Incorporated  Hong Kong Ordinary 18% 18%  Production of digital
& Entertainment (Note) (Note) content and
Limited ("CMEL") enfertainment
services
XALEEFER EEa i Jo WA BE EZER (ffeE)  (FIEE) BIBRERER
EEARQF IR EE AR S
(TCMELJ)
Note: The Group has the power to appoint two out of Mzx: AEBEEZEECMELAEREEZTERRME - =&
the five directors of CMEL. In the opinion of the BRAE XEEBNCMELEEEARSFE S -
Directors, the Group has significant influence o EANREBEKENT o

over CMEL and it is therefore classified as an
associate of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGRRMEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. B E=E
Customer
contracts and
related
Club customer
memberships relationship Software Total
EFANE
efEE HHEFBMAE B aE
HK$"000 HK$'000 HK$"000 HK$"000
THER TR TR TR
(Note @) (Note b) (Note b)
(Wata) (Mzb) (MzEb)
cost AR
At 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 RZZE—t+E@mE-BRK
—E-N\E=Zf=1-H 1,385 - - 1,385
Acquired on acquisition of @ EERKE-BHRBAT
subsidiary - 2,767 56 2,823
Addition nE - - 2,208 2,208
Exchange realignment EXHE - 35 6 41
At 31 March 2019 R=B-NE=A=1-H 1,385 2,802 2,270 6,457
AMORTISATION &
At 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 RZZE—-t&ME-BRK
—E-N\E=Zf=1+-H - - - -
Charge for the year ERik - 166 129 295
Af 31 March 2019 R=B-NE=A=+-AH — 166 129 295
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 March 2019 R=B-NE=A=1-H 1,385 2,636 2,141 6,162

At 31 March 2018 RZZ-NEZA=1+-H 1,385 - - 1,385
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

BE-Z-hWEF=A=+t—BLFE
16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)
Notes:

17.

(@) Club memberships are life corporate club
memberships in recreational clubs. As the club
memberships are considered by the Directors as
having an indefinite useful life, the memberships
are not amortised until their useful lives are
determined to be finite. After considering the
prices quoted in the second hand market, no
impairment of the club memberships is made
during both years.

(b) The carrying amount of customer confracts
and related customer relationship and software
is amortised on a straight line method over its
remaining useful life, i.e. 5 years.

FILM RIGHT

Film right of HKS$117,000 (2018:
HK$1,620,000) represented interest in one
film right jointly controlled by the Group
and by an independent third party in the
PRC. During the current year, the Group
recognised amortisation of HK$540,000
(2018: HK$29,405,000) on the completion of
film’s theatrical release or internet release
in the PRC (included in cost of sales).

Due to unsatisfactory result of its box office
or internet broadcast and the uncertain
future return of the film, the Directors
conducted a review on the recoverable
amount of the film right as at 31 March
2018 and 31 March 2019 and have been
determined on the basis of its value in
use which was determined based on the
present value of the estimated future cash
flows expected to be generated by the
film right. During the year ended 31 March
2019, an impairment loss of HK$963,000
(2018: HKS$1,647,000) has been recognised
in profit or loss.
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17.

6. BN EE (M)

M EE

(o) EBFEEABREMZKFLREREE AR
SFEERESRAAERAEHAFY W
EEHERFREAARATSREBE - KB
SEMERERE  YEEAEMEFEY
SEEETRE -

(b) FFEHRNEBEEFBERBMAZREAERER
ENLERIERAEAFH (M5 F) #ds -

EXRE

E Y MR ENTO0E T(=ZF — N\ F:
1,620,000 T)IEAEEHE - EHEB T
FEZRHREEFN-EHEZMEERS o B
REE  AEEBRUKEXEPETREHRR

EHERTERRABES40,0008 T(=F
— N\ 129,405,000 %) (EBEEHE
BLAA) o

HREEREHREBRFABRRETERARZE
FRARZIEELDR  EBSHRETME
ZAWESEETERT - RZZFE-NF=A
=t+-BR=ZB-AF=ZA=t+—H8  Z%E
TREzZTREEECREFERAEEREEM
BE HEREBEDNDRZEZMEAREE
A 2REFARRBERECREMEE - RE
g—i—ﬂi:ﬂ:+_ﬁiig’ﬁﬁg
15 963,000 T (=ZF— )\ 1 1,647,000 %
T)ERBRPER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17.

18.

FILM RIGHT (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2018,
due to the unsatisfactory quality and
no concrete plan for film disfribution or
other licensing arrangement, the Directors
have fully written off a film production
in progress which is wholly owned by
the Ucan Commercial Group and an
impairment loss of HK$1,736,000 (2019: Nil)
has been recognised in the profit or loss.

17.

(—7

ReMGRRMEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

ERE(E)
RBE-Z-N\F=A=+-BLFE @

REZBE EEXFEYREF BT AR
B EMERERE MESC BEME —
#E Ucan Commercial Group 2&#HA
ZHREPES

MR {E R 8 1,736,000 78 T
NEF E)ERBRPER -

INVENTORIES 18. &
2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —ZE-N\F
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FiERT
Premium wines BE 35,047 37,809
Others Hth 739 739
35,786 38,548
During the year ended 31 March 2018, an RBE_Z-NF=A=+—HLFE ®B

allowance of HK$397,000 of inventories
was recognised in profit or loss because
the costs of certain inventories were higher
than their NRV. No allowance of inventories
was made during the year ended 31
March 2019,

At the end of both reporting periods,
premium wines held by the Group were
with net realisable value higher than the
carry amount,

EAW1IEI$&¢HH3E REBEMEREZES

iam':F'ﬁE T E#1E 397,000 REA

ETHREZRAABRRE 2R FEH R

BE-—T-—AE=A=t—ALEE LR
fEth 75

S BE o

=Pk
SRFESNEKREE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES

19. BIE 5 IR

2019 2018

—2-NF —ZT-N\F

HK$’000 HKS$’000

FET FHBT

Trade receivables EWE 5 BR™ 10,605 24,216
Less: allowance for credit losses A EEEERE (636) (1.049)
9,969 23,167

As at 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2018,
tfrade receivables from confracts with
customers amounted to HKS$9,969,000 and

HK$23,167,000, respectively.

The following is the aged analysis of trade
receivables net of allowance for credit

losses presented based on the date of

RZB-NF=ZA=+—-—BR=F-N\FHO
A—B ZBFEHNZERUESERRDAA
9,969,0008 T & 23,167,000 7T °

UTHEZEREAS2I 2 HREEBRERE
Z W E Z IR Z MR D AT

billing.
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HKS$000
FERT FET
0 — 60 days 0— 60X 1,870 22,203
61 — 90 days 61 — 90X 751 224
91 — 180 days 91 — 180Xk 7,348 670
Over 180 days HBiE 180Kk — 70
9,969 23,167

Culturecom Holdings Limited
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19. TRADE RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

As at 31 March 2019, included in the
Group’s frade receivables balance are
debtors with aggregate carrying amount
of HK$636,000 which are past due as at the
reporting date. Included in the past due
balances, impairment loss HK$215,000 has
been provided during the year ended 31
March 2019.

As at 31 March 2018, 96% of the trade
receivables that are neither past due nor
impaired have the best credit standing
under the credit assessment made by the
Directors and the directors considered
that these trade receivables have no
adverse change in the credit standing of
the debtors subsequent to the reporting
period.

As at 31 March 2018, included in the
Group’s frade receivables balance are
debtors with aggregate carrying amount
of HKS$1,018,000 which are past due as at
the reporting date for which the Group has
not provided for impairment loss as there
has not been a significant change in credit
quality of the trade receivables and the
amounts are still considered recoverable.
The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances and no inferest is
charged on overdue frade receivables.

19.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGRRMEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

BWE SRR (&)

RZZB-NF=ZA=+—R0 ' BERELEHE
FEWE 5 BR R & 8RR A BRTEI B 636,000 8 7T
ZEBA ERHEBRHECAES - REZEZ
E-NFZR=+—-BLEFE sTACAH
#EERAY 215,000 T2 MEBEEFRE -

RZE-NF=A=+—0  RBAHEKRE
BZo%EWESRRABEBESIFLZE
BEFEAREGRAMR  URESRAZE
FEWE B BRRNRE R BRERAE AR

RZZB-NF=ZA=1—-0  BEREFEE
EWE 5 RRAESHAHZIRMEE 1,018,000 %
TREBA  ARBEEHERY - HdH
REKEZERZEEEZLEEAEE
BXREENRABEFESBETWRE - HAEE
WER A LR EBERE - AEBILER
ZEEBFEIMNERD  EASRKRES
BRI TR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

The following is an aged analysis of trade

19. B E 5 BRX (&)

UTACEMERREZREES KRR ZER

receivables which are past due but not i
impaired:
2018
—E-N\F
HK$'000
FET
Overdue by: AT HEZIE -
0 to 60 days 0& 60K 857
61 to 90 days 61 290K 43
91 to 180 days 91 &180K 66
Over 180 days B8 180 Kk 52
1,018
Movements in the allowance for doubtful DERESENT
debts:
2018
—E-N\F
HKS$000
FET
At beginning of the year REHD 628
Allowance for doubtful debts R 421
At end of the year RER 1,049

Details of impairment are set out in Notfe
34b.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGRRMEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

20. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 20. EMEWFIE - ERFEAFRE
AND PREPAYMENTS
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Other receivables H bW R IE 3,905 6,418
Less: allowance for credit losses W REREME — (835)
3,905 5,583
Deposits and prepayments RERBNIE 9,233 2,793
Total other receivables, deposits HhEWARIE - RERFEF
and prepayments FRIEMER 13,138 8,376
Less: Amounts that will be settled or i : R —FEREEHE A
utilised within one year 2 FRIE (12,583) (7.821)
Amount that will be utilised for more R —F&FH2HE
than one year 555 5565
Details of impairment are set out in Note BRBEZFBEHEMME 340 °

34b.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

21.

22.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR

2. BRAFEEFABSERZEME

VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR E/%Vﬁﬁgﬁﬁ
LOSS/HELD FOR TRADING
INVESTMENTS
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$°000 HKS$’000
FET FE&T
Listed equity shares, at fair value: EHRAERYD - EBAFEE:
Hong Kong 58 1,413 2,765
Overseas I 3,966 4,315
5,379 7,080
Current i — 7,080
Non-current IR ED 5,379 —
5,379 7,080

At the end of the reporting period, the
fair values of the listed equity shares are
determined based on the quoted market
bid prices available on the relevant stock
exchanges.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances carrying interest at market
rate ranges from of 0.001% to 2.3% (2018:
from 0.001% to 1.0%) per annum.
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23. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER

PAYABLES AND ACCRUED
CHARGES

The following is an aged analysis of trade
payables presented based on the invoice
dates at the end of the reporting period.
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EBNEZRN - HUEMRIER

EETER

UTHRBEMBRRERTAR 22BN
B3 RRZIRE D AT -

2019 2018

—E-hEF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$"000

FER FHET

0 — 60 days 0Z60XK 604 406
61 — 90 days 61 90K 102 —
Over 90 days B8 90 X 31 31
737 437

The average credit period on purchases
of goods ranges from 30 to 90 days. The
Group has financial risk management
policies in place to ensure that all
payables are settled within the credit
tfimeframe.

Other payables and accrued charges
mainly represent the accrued operating
expenses for both years.

BEERZFHEEHRNFIOENORX - &

SECHENBARERRER  UBRHAAE

BAREREERBERANTUEEH -

HtBEAIREREFERATEZERMEFE
ZESHEERX -
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BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

24. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 24. SHEE
31 March 1 April
2019 2018*
—E-NF —E-N\F
=A=+—8H mA—A*
HK$’000 HKS’000
FERT FERT
Advances from customers: BFEE

Digital marketing HIEmISERE 114 —

Royalty income from intellectual HEERREZMEWA
properties licensing — 448
114 448

The amounts in this column are after the
adjustments from the application of HKFRS 15.

The following table shows how much of
the revenue recognised in the current
year relates to confract liabilities at the
beginning of the year.

ARz ERARNERAT B BEREERE 165KE
fEH 2% -

TRIGTAFERRZWATRENESH
BEREZHE -

Intellectual
propetrties
licensing
B EERE
HKS$"000
FET

Revenue recognised that was included BRRHWWAGTARED 2
in the contract liability balance at the A#HEELEE

beginning of the year

Typical payment terms which impact
on the amount of contract liabilities
recognised are set out in Note 5.

Culturecom Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2018-2019

448

FECEASHNEBESH 2 —RARGIRR
RMIEES o



3 2018-2019 XILEEEEARAF 203

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Deferred taxation is calculated in full on
temporary differences under the liability
method using the applicable tax rates
prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the
Group operates. Movements of deferred
tax liabilities of the Group during both
years are as follows:

25.

ReMGRRMEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

EERERE

EERBEBDUESZEREEELRAER
KEfERERBZBITEABRTE - K
EECEEHEEERAMEEERN ZEEM
T

Intangible
Accelerated assets
tax arisen on
depreciation acquisition Total
WEEEZ
MEBIETE BREE W
HKS’000 HKS$000 HKS$000
FET FET FET
At 1 April 2017 R-E—tFWmA—H 712 — 712
Credit to profit or loss for (T AFEEEH
the year (14) — 4
At 31 March 2018 R-ZE—-NE=A=+—H 698 — 698
Credit to profit or loss FAFEER
for the year 6) — ()
Arising on acquisition of Wi —REKM B A A
a subsidiary EEZFE — 692 692
At 31 March 2019 R-E-NF=A=+—H 692 692 1,384

At 31 March 2019, the Group estimated
unused tax losses of approximately
HK$917,235,000 (2018: HK$900,423,000)
available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of such losses due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams.
Included in unrecognised tax loses are
losses of HK$509,000, HKS1,198,000 and
HK$448,000 that will expire in 2021, 2022
and 2023, respectively (2018: HK$509,000
and HKS$1,198,000 will expire in 2021 and
2022). Other losses may be carried forward
indefinitely.

RZEBE—-—HNE=ZB=Z+—8 ' AEET7A
ALK E R R EFR <2 b5 R B) A IEE
8 # 5917,235,0008 T(= B — )\ &F
900,423,000 7T ) o M HA & & 7 8 & &
BARE AR EMRZSEEERIEL
BHEEE T ARABERBTEESEA2 IR
TR ZE--ER-FT-=FF
W 2 B 18509,000% 7T 1,198,000 T
% 4480008 T(ZE—NEF: BER -
——ER-ZFE-_FEHm2509000F TR
1,198,000 t) - HfttEi8 Ay MR HR 45 8
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26. SHARE CAPITAL 26. A

Number of Share
shares capital
i gig 4=| [N
‘000 HK$"000
TR FET

Ordinary shares of HKS 0.01 each SREEO BT 2EER

Authorised EE
At 1 April 2017, 31 March 2018 and R=Z—+tFMA—H
31 March 2019 —E-NF=ZA=+—HK

—E-hAF=ZA=+—H 200,000,000 2,000,000

Number of shares

Share capital

gy 4= i A<

2019 2018 2019 2018

—E-NF —EZ-N\F ZFT-NF =ZZ-N\F

’000 ‘000 HK$°000 HK$’000

T TR FET TiET

Issued and fully paid: ERTRHEE:
At the beginning and REDRER

the end of the year 1,390,657 1,390,657 13,907 13,907

Culturecom Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2018-2019



27. WARRANTS

2017 Warrants

On 20 July 2012, the Company entered
info a warrant subscription agreement
in relation tfo the private placing of
up to 76,790,000 warrants (the "2017
Warrants”), with subscription price of
HK$0.10, conferring rights to subscribe up
to 76,790,000 new ordinary shares of the
Company at an exercise price of HKS$1.20
per share, to not less than 6 warrant
subscribers who are independent individual
and/or corporate investor, which are
exercisable during the 5 years period from
2 August 2012 to 1 August 2017, both days
inclusive. The 2017 Warrants are classified
as equity instruments. The placement is
completed on 2 August 2012,

The proceeds from the warrant subscription
of approximately HKS$7,492,000, net of
expenses incurred on warrants issue
amounting HK$187,000, were used as
general working capital of the Company.

All the 2017 Warrants were expired
during the year end 31 March 2018 and
the Company had no outstanding 2017
Warrants as at 31 March 2019 and 2018.
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27. RREFE

—E-tERRESE
RZE—Z—FtAZ+H  ARQAFHILRRK
EFRBHZR RZEEOTLIROBEAH
BUE=ZAR,/REEREECABEZR
BAMABERZ 76,790,000 17 72 I% #E &
ZZ2—tEXREED(RBEEH0.108
T) MEEMNTE=ZE——FN\A=-HE
E_E—+tENA-HLE(EBEERWA)R
FHEARERTEEI 0B TABES
76,790,000 R AN AIFHEBR - —ZF— ¢
FRBREFCHABRAIE -RZE—ZF
NBZHEREE -

RBRREE ZEFIRL 7,492,000 7T
(MERABRIEEEITEE 2F X 187,000%
7)) TREARFE Iz -—REEET -

HRFE-ZT—tERREZHEREE=
EZ-N\E=A=+—HLEERE®  BHED
ARZE-NERZZE-—NFE=A=+—H
WEAETEY S — L FRPRRES -
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BE-Z-NF=A=1t—HILFE

28. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

Pursuant fo an ordinary resolution passed
on 21 August 2002, the Company adopted
a share option scheme (the "2002
Scheme”). The life of the 2002 Scheme
is effective for 10 years from the date of
adoption until 20 August 2012. The 2002
Scheme has been expired. Subsequent
to the expiration of the 2002 Scheme,
no further share options can be granted
thereunder but in all other respects, the
provisions of the 2002 Scheme shall remain
in force and all share options granted
prior to such expiration shall continue fo
be valid and exercisable in accordance
therewith.

Pursuant tfo an ordinary resolution passed
on 12 August 2013, the Company adopted
a new share option scheme (the "2013
Scheme”). The life of the 2013 Scheme
is effective for 10 years from the date of
adoption until 11 August 2023.

Major terms for the 2002 Scheme and
the 2013 Scheme (the “Share Opftion
Schemes”) are summarised as follows:

() The purpose is to provide incentives
to:

J award the participants who have
made contributions to the Group
and/or any entity in which the
Group holds any equity interest
("Invested Entity”); and

J recruit and retain high-calibre
employees and atftract human
resources that are valuable to the
Group.
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BREBER  AQARMBRESS-ZZ
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BRiE BERFABEMIE  —S22F5E
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BRER-ZZ-—=ZFN\AT-HEBZEBER
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FEED - —E-ZFrB2ERBPAT
F -BRMBHE BEEZZZ=ZFN\A
t—Hik-

“EECFFEARSE-=ZFE(BRE
8D 2 EERFBAMT ¢

() EMEEBTIALAETRER :

s RBAXKEER HIAKEEE
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DA DEHERZSEE I R

- BEEKREEBEERHAEH
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
(Continued)

Major terms for the 2002 Scheme and
the 2013 Scheme (the "Share Option
Schemes”) are summarised as follows:
(Continued)

@i

(i)

@iv)

The participants include any
employee, director, supplier, agent,
consultant, adviser sftrategist,
contractor, subcontractor, expert
or customer of the Group and/or
Invested Entity.

The maximum number of shares of
the Company in respect of which
share options might be granted under
the Share Option Schemes must
not exceed 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the
date of approval of the Share Option
Schemes, however this limit might be
refreshed by shareholders in a general
meeting. However, total maximum
number of shares of the Company
which might be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding share options
granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Schemes and
any other share option scheme must
not exceed 30% of the shares of the
Company in issue from time to time.

The maximum number of shares of
the Company in respect of which
share options might be granted to a
participant, when aggregated with
shares issued and issuable (including
exercised and outfstanding share
options and the options cancelled)
under any share option granted to
the same participant under the Share
Option Schemes or any other share
option scheme within any 12 months
period, must not exceed 1% of the
shares of the Company in issue from
fime to time.

28.

ReMGRRMEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

B8 (E

“ERECFHEARSE-ZFAE(EBRE
a8 ) 2 EERFPAMOT ¢ (F)

(i) 2REBEAEERRFREDT
SRS BF - 4HEE- K=
BHA - FHER - RHE - HHE
HE - BRRES o

(i) REBREFTETERH ZBRER
RBZARARDEE  BSZTEE
BAXARBRESEIMERREZE
BATIRA10% - A1 > ZREAHR
RRBRRRE EEH - RIEBRAES
&) N AE A H A B IR AE ST BT % H B 1]
RITE 2B RITEBREET L
HEBTZARARDAE  &ZF
SHEBAQRFATKERTRE Z30% °

(v) Ta2RERKRHEz2BRETRBZAR
RARGEBE - BREMTZE B HE
WAR 15 08 IR 1 5T B SR H b BB IR 48
EOMZE2REERY 2 EMBRE
(BREETERRTEBRERCEH
ZERE)MERITRITTFHEITZIRG
RY BRETEBBEAQXATKEEH
TRIDZ1% °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

28. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 28. g fEnt 8 (&
(Continued)
Major terms for the 2002 Scheme and CEECEHEARCE-=FE(BRE

the 2013 Scheme (the “Share Option HE D ETEREMMMT - (8)
Schemes”) are summarised as follows:
(Continued)

(v) There was no requirement for a V) RESEETCRAREEREZZRG
grantee to hold the share option for RMEN  BABRABERTEBRER
a certain period before exercising the EEEHEANSEERE -
share option save as determined by
the board of directors and provided in
the offer of grant of share option.

(vi) The exercise period should be any (Vi) THEHEAESESENREBRERE

period fixed by the board of directors EZEMERE  EREFERT S
upon grant of the share option but BAEZEEEAE®ET5F -

in any event the share option period
should not go beyond 10 years from
the date of offer for grant.

(vi) The acceptance of a share option, if (vi) AR ABRIRE B EIERT 28 H AEHR

accepted, must be made within 28 BRE(MER) YREEORAD A
days from the date of grant with a IHARBIBTZRE  BERAREBELT
non-refundable payment of HKS$1 from RiE o

the grantee to the Company.

(vii) The exercise price of a share option (Vi) BREZITEEXBAUTZERR

must be the highest of: 5%
« the closing price of a share of the s RELUBH(ERAEXH)ZAEAARD
Company on the date of grant ARG THE ;

which must be a business day;

e the average closing price of a e EBEERELBHASEEEHZA
share of the Company for the AERHFEIERHE S &

5 business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and

e the nominal value of a share of e ARAQT—RBRMEME -
the Company.

(ix) All the share options are vested on the (ix) IEBERERELBHHEHEE -
grant date.
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HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

28. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 28. iR RESTEI(48)
(Continued)
The following table discloses details of the TREBERBEZE-_ZE—N\FE=A=+—HL
Company’s share options granted under FERBEBRENIARE AN ABEREZ
the Share Option Schemes and movements FAERFEEREZ22E :
in such holdings during the year ended 31
March 2018:
2018 —EB—N\EF
Number of share options
Pk
Balance Balance
as of Granted Exercised Lopsed as of Exercise
Category Name of Date 1 April during during during 31 March price
parficipants scheme of gront 2017 the year the year the year 218 pershare  Exercisable period
H-%-t H-E-NE
FRA-B ZA=t-R
SREEN b it 268 ERR ERfik ERAN 6% BRARE  fRE
HKS
B
Directors 2002 Scheme — 29.6.2007 5,704,400 - - (B704400 - 216 2962007 - 28.6.2017
£ ZEECERY 611007 2523100 - - (252100 - 142 6112007 - 5.11.2017
8,227,500 - - (8227500 -
Employess 2002 Scheme  29.6.2007 10,476,350 - - (10.476,350) - 216 296.2007 — 286.2017
g ZERCERY 6112007 3,850,470 - - (3.850470) - 142 6.11.2007-5.11.2017
14,326,820 - - (14326820 -
Others 2002 Scheme  29.6.2007 27,699,250 - - (20.69,260) - 216 2962007 - 28.6.2017
4] ZEECENE 6112000 32,339,560 - - (323%9.50) - 142 6112007 =5.11.2017
60,038,810 - - (60,038,810) -
Tofal af 82,593,130 - - (8259,130) -
During the year ended 31 March RBZ-_E—N\E=A=+—HLEE =
2018, 82,593,130 options amounted EE—FEHEETSEAA7,194,000 BT
HK$47,194,000 were lapsed under the 2002 > 82 503,130 45 BE R RE D 53 o
Scheme.
During both years, there is no options RWEFE > BERE - - =FT &R

granted under the 2013 Scheme. BARAE -
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29. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

During the current year, Culturecom (Hong
Kong) Limited, a wholly-owned indirect
subsidiary of the Group, acquired 55%
equity interest by contributing capital
in form of cash of Renminbi ("RMB")
40,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HKS$47,555,000) in Egmen, a company
established in the PRC. The transaction
was completed on 31 August 2018 and
accounted for as an acquisition of
business, namely the digital marketing
business, using the acquisition method.
Egmen is principally engaged in the digital
marketing business in the PRC and was
acquired with the objective of diversifying
the Group’s business.

29. WE—EHE LT

RAFE  AEBZ2EBEENE QXL
BEEB)ARARAEEBRAEFIAEEA
R # (T A K% 1) 40,000,000 7t (18 & R 4
47,555,000 T) R—BHEKIL 2 A FA 5
AR WIBES5% AR - ZXFN=F
—NENRA=+—H=EK  LEAWEEST
AEBWE  DRBIETHSEREE - 257
FMEZRTBERBBIEHSHERRER - Ml
BEREESAEEER ST -

Consideration transferred CEEINRE
HK$'000
FET
Cash Be 47,555

Acquisition-related costs amounting tfo
approximately HK$112,000 have been
excluded from the cost of acquisition
and have been recognised directly as an
expense during the year ended 31 March
2019 and included in the “other expenses”
line item in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.
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29. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY 29. WiE—RKM B AR (&)

(Continued)

Consideration transferred EEZEZRE(E)
(Continued)

Assets and liabilities recognised at the RUBEAHERACEERERE

date of acquisition

HK$"000
FExT
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERKE 46
Intangible assets BEEE 2,823
Bank balance and cash RITHETFRES 44,863
Trade receivables W E 5 R 1,668
Other receivables, deposits and HAihpEWARIE » e RFENRIE
prepayments 3,084
Other payables and accrued charges HhEFRBRETE A (669)
Contract liabilities eHas (320)
Deferred tax liabilities EEREEE (692)
50,803
The fair value of trade receivables ERESZEREAEEMERREZ A FEEY
and other receivables amounted 1,668,000 7T & 494,000 7t » BN W BE
to approximately HKS$1,668,000 and B icBEHN<5E  BRPENESHRER
HK$494,000, representing gross contractual A2HWE o
amounts at the date of acquisition and
contfractual cash flows are expected to be
fully collected.
Non-controlling interests RS
The non-controlling interest (45%) in REBEHBERZZTMFEERESR
Egmen recognised at the acquisition A5%) 18 ZELFTSGHFMRNEERAIAZ
date was measured by reference to the CHEIALEEZTEMGEATE  €ENA
proportionate share of recognised amounts 22,861,000 Jt °

of net assets of Egmen Technology
Limited and amounted to approximately
HK$22,861,000.



212

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

29. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY
(Continued)

29.

W ke — P~ B (48 )

Goodwill arising on acquisition WEBEEEE 2 HE
HKS$000
FiERT
Consideration transferred EEECNRE 47,555
Plus: non-controlling interests hnoc SRR AER 22,861

Less: recognised amount of identifiable & : BB B EEFEZCERS

net assets acquired (100%) Z6(100%) (50,803)
Goodwill arising on acquisition WiESEEEE 2EHE 19,613

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of
Egmen because the acquisition included
the assembled workforce of Egmen and
some potential confracts which are sfill
under negotiation with prospective new
customers as at the date of acquisition.
These assets could not be separately
recognised from goodwill because they
are not capable of being separated from
the Group and sold, fransferred, licensed,
rented or exchanged, either individually or
together with any related contracts.

None of the goodwill arising on this
acquisition is expected to be deductible

for tax purpose.

Net cash outflows arising on

WEZEMELEEE  REEAKRBESEER
ZHMAZBREETBRMARNUE B EE
EHEFEBZETEEEN ZFEEN
AMBEPERRR  REAZSEETHE
B3 A A5 B % B 3t Sk E RHE AR & K
—fHHE -~ EE - K HAEmRR -

RHABELRBSEELE CEHEARIEAR
FEAHIBR o

WBEERELE RS RHFHE

acquisition
HK$"000
FHBT
Consideration paid in cash UREAFAZF2ZRE 47,555
Less: cash and cash equivalent B CWEREEREBESESBYER
balances acquired (44,863)
2,692
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29. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

(Continued)

Impact of acquisition on the
results of the Group

Included in the loss for the year is loss
amounted to approximately HKS$2,462,000
atfributable to Egmen. Revenue for the
year includes HKS$5,562,000 is attributable
to Egmen.

Had the acquisition of Egmen been
effected at the beginning of the year,
the total amount of revenue of the
Group from continuing operations for
the year ended 31 March 2019 would
have been approximately HK$23,332,000
pro forma and loss for the year from
continuing operations would have been
HK$30,294,000. The pro forma information
is for illustrative purpose only and is not
necessarily an indication of revenue and
results of operations of the Group that
actually would have been achieved had
the acquisition been completed at the
beginning of the year, nor is it infended to
be a projection of future results.

In determining the pro forma loss of the
Group had Egmen been acquired at the
beginning of the year, the Directors have
calculated depreciation of plant and
equipment and amortisation of intangible
assets based on the recognised amounts of
plant and equipment and intangible assefts
at the date of the acquisition.

29.
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W i — I P B~ B (48 )

WRESEHARERE

E/E

FEAL 5 & PI49 2,462,000 8 T 2 BEEF A
REEFE FAFEZWACBERESS
F92 5,562,000 7T °

B ZFPFIRNAFERAEN  AEEE
EZ-NFZA=T-BLFEREFE
REXEB 2 W ALELN A 23,332,000% T
(BEIRREFBELEEBZFEFEAR
30,294,0008 T - ZBEEREMHH A A
B U -—ERTWBESERANFERHAT
BMBERTAEEZEBRBAREERE T
THRIEBRREEZTER -

REEAEERAFERRBEBZEHMN 2B
ZEERK  ESCRBERRBUARERE
ERUBEHCRIASHEITERERRE
ZIEURELEE 2 #E -
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30. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

2019
Discontinued operation
Disposal of Ucan Commercial Group

On 28 March 2019, the Group entered
intfo an agreement to dispose of
its wholly owned subsidiaries, Ucan
Commercial Limited and its subsidiary
to an independent third party, for a
cash consideration HKS$30,000. Ucan
Commercial Group’s principal activity was
development of multi-media application
and production and distribution of film, in
which the operation in development of
multi-media application was considered
as a discontinued operation. The
transaction was completed on 29 March
2019, the date which the control of Ucan
Commercial Group has been passed to the
independent third party.

The Group’s share of net liabilities of Ucan
Commercial Group at the date of disposal

30. HEMWB AT
=Y B :
ARILAEE#5
HE Ucan Commercial Group

RZZE-ARF=ZBR=Z+NH AKEEF
Y-—BEHBELEEHEE2EMNBE X Ucan
Commercial Limited X KB A7 F—
BBAE=FH RENREA30,000E T -
Ucan Commercial GroupZ £ B #
AHRZHEBEAERXURESRIERE
T HPHRZEBEARNZEEER
RABARIREEK -RBERZF—NF
=A==+ ABZERK ' Ucan Commercial
Croup 2 EHIEEEZHEITFBILE=
7o

X E B R E E B B E {GUcan
Commercial Group 2 BEFERHEES

and the effect of disposal were as follows: H2HZEHINOT
HK$ 000
FBT
Consideration: RIE :
Consideration received 2RRAE 30
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30. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)
2019 (Continued)
Discontinued operation(Continued)

Disposal of Ucan Commercial Group
(Continued)
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30. HEMB AR (&)

—E-hEF(E)

RILEERE (F

HE Ucan Commercial Group(#)

28 March
2019
—E-AF
=A=+NH
HK$’000
FERT
Analysis of assets and liabilities over EBAERFIECEEREEZ
which control was lost: D
Property, plant and equipment ME -~ BERKE 24
Inventories 7E 2,737
Trade receivables B E 5 IR 14
Other receivables, deposit and HihEWRIE - e RFEFFIE
prepayments 104
Bank balances and cash ROTEERES 1,257
Other payables and accrued charges HihE(SERETTER (4,579)
Net liabilities disposed of HECZBEFHE (443)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: HEMBARZWE :
Consideration received 2R E 30
Net liabilities disposed of HECZEBEFE 443
Gain on disposal HESE WS 473
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HESHEEEZRESRLFE
Cash consideration received EWRENRE 30
Less: bank balances and cash W HEZRTEERES
disposed of (1,257)

(1,227)



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

30. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 30. EEMB AT (&)
(Continued)
2019 (Continued) —E-NF(A)
Discontinued operation (Continued) RIUBELEE(E
Disposal of Ucan Commercial Group HE Ucan Commercial Group(#
(Continued)
The loss for the year from the discontinued REALLREEBR 2FEBBHINT 48
operation is set out below. The FEEREMEZERERAZEREFEE
comparative figures in the consolidated P IR REZEBRRULEREEXRT -

statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income have been
restated to re-present the operations as a
discontinued operation.

Period Year

ended ended

2019 2018

8= BZE

—E-hEF —E-N\E

LIEHARE IEFE

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FET

Loss for the year FEEHE (9,940) (11,889)
Gain on disposal of Ucan HE& Ucan Commercial

Commercial Group Group Z Wz 473 —

(9,467) (11,889)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGRRMEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

30. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 30. HEMB AT (&)
(Continued)
2019 (Continued) “E-NF(E)
Discontinued operation (Continued) RIEBERER (&
Disposal of Ucan Commercial Group HE Ucan Commercial Group(#)
(Continued)
The results of the operation for the period H-E-N\NFOA—RZE=-ZE—NLF=A
from 1 April 2018 to 28 March 2019, which “t+HNHHEzZREXER (BT AGREERR
have been included in the consolidated REMEEAKRREZA)OT :

statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, were as follows:

Period Year
ended ended

28 March 31 March
2019 2018
Bz BZE

—F-AF =—F-N\F
=A=tNB =A=+-H

LIHHARS LEFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Other income Hipug A 3 4
Other expenses HithE A (7,396) (8,483)
Salaries and allowances e MIERL (1,527) (2,325)
Operating lease rentals in respect of AEZhLEHHEERS
rental premises (997) (1,063)
Depreciation expenses WEER (23) (22)
Loss for the year from discontinued HRBEKILELEBFE
operation 518 (9,940) (11,889)
Loss for the year from discontinued HREKIELEEE 2 FEE
operation includes the following: BEENUTIER
Auditor’s remuneration ZEETEN S 330 330
Research and development i ES B =2 (B RE)
expenses (Note) 6,490 6,600
Other staff costs: HWE TR :
— Retirement benefit scheme — BARERFEIHR
conftributions 10 4

— Salaries and other benefits — HeRkHEMEF 1,517 2,321




218

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z-NF=A=1t—HILFE

30. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)
2019 (Continued)
Discontinued operation (Continued)

Disposal of Ucan Commercial Group
(Continued)

Note:The amount mainly represent research and
development expenses incurred for fthe
development of multi-media applications.

During the year ended 31 March
2019, Ucan Commercial Group paid
HK$8,807,000 (2018: HKS$5,760,000) to the
Group's net operating cash flows and
contributed HKS$4,246,000 (2018: Nil) in
respect of financing activities.

No tax charge or credit arose on gain on
disposal.

2018

Disposal of Success Dynasty Limited
(“Success Dynasty”) and its subsidiary

On 18 September 2017, the Group entered
info an agreement to dispose of its
wholly owned subsidiary, Success Dynasty
Limited, and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the "Success Group”) to
an independent third party, for a cash
consideration US$250,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$1,950,000). Success
Dynasty’s principal activity was investment
holding with a subsidiary engaged in
crude oil exploration service business.
The transaction was completed on 18
September 2017, the date which the
control of Success Dynasty Group has been
passed to the independent third party.
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30. HEMBE AR (&)

- i j'LEF (na
ARILATEETE ()

HE Ucan Commercial Group(#)

M ZEeHEIRERRSEBRARAMEL 23
X e

RBEZE-Z-—NF=ZA=+-HLFE"
Ucan Commercial Group B AEE
REEKEIESREFES,807,0008 (=
F2— N\ :5760,00087T) W& ZE
F3EE 4,246,000 (=& — )\$ CE) e

HERSES BEEEAHEHRIESR -

—E-N\F

1 & Success Dynasty Limited
([Success Dynasty |) R B /& 4 &

R-ZZE—tFNRA+TNH XKEEFTXZ
—EHELEEHE2EK B X T Success
Dynasty Limited & H Kt B & A (% 8
[Success Group ) F—EBIUE=H " &
£ /{84 250,000 3=t (HHZE 741,950,000
#BIT) o Success Dynasty o T EEBER
EERRES —BRBRBHRRBEFEE 2
MEBLAR - RBER=_Z—tFEHhA+NA
52K * Success Dynasty Group 2 &
BEZAERTFEIE=R



30. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)
2018 (Continued)

Disposal of Success Dynasty Limited
(“Success Dynasty” and its subsidiary)
(Continued)

The Group’s shares of net assets of Success
Dynasty at the date of disposal and the
effect of disposal were as follows:
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ReMGRRMEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

30. HEMB AR (&)

—E-N\F(&)

4 & Success Dynasty Limited
([Success Dynasty |) REHI B & (&

AEBENEHE B HELSuccess Dynasty
ZEEFERLESEYEHINOT ¢

HK$'000
FHET
Consideration receivable: EWRE
Other receivable H fth W K18
(included in other receivables) (FFAE WK FRIE) 1,950
Analysis of assets over which control was ERAXEEFIRZEEZD M :
lost:
Property, plant and equipment M- BRERRE 39
Bank balances and cash RITEFRES 1,905
Net assets disposed of HECEEFHE 1,944
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries: HERBARZERE :
Consideration receivable EWARE 1,950
Net assets disposed of HECEEFE (1,944)
Reclassification of exchange loss on BN BEEECELEE
disposal (854)
Loss on disposal HEBEZEE (848)
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HESEEAZRESRLFE
Bank balances and cash disposed of HEZRTHEFERERS (1,905)

The Success Group conftributed loss of
HK$737,000 (2019: Nil) to the Group during
the year ended 31 March 2018. No tax
charge or credit arose on loss on the
disposal.

RBE-ZZ-NF=ZA=+—HBLEE"
Success Group AKX EBEEXEZEEA
737,000 8 T (ZE—AF: T)  HESIE
ZEBTEECFMAHEIHRIESR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

31. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group participates in a Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme™) for all qualifying employees in
Hong Kong. The assets of the scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in
funds under the conftrol of frustees.

The Group’s and the employees’
contributions to the MPF Scheme are each
set at 5% of the employees’ salaries up to
a maximum of HKS$1,500 effective from 1
June 2014 per employee per month. The
Group’s contributions to the MPF Scheme
are fully and immediately vested to the
employees once they are paid.

Certain employees of the Group are
members of a state-managed retirement
benefit scheme operated by the PRC
government. The Group is required to
conftribute approximately 15% of payroll
costs to the retirement benefit scheme to
fund the benefit. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the retirement
benefits scheme is to make the specified
contributions.

Total cost charged to profit or loss of
HKS364,000 (2018: HK$359,000) represents
the contributions payable to these
schemes by the Group during the year.
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31. RIREFEHE

AEBRFEREREBEETRBIMELE
S E([REEETE ) - AT 2EERS
AR ZESEHR  HAEECEEDH
A -

H-Z-HFAA-—HE AEEKEEQ
BEETEAFHZ2EAZTARRERREE
HEzb% BRERAEBABXEEE15008
T —HEXMNHRAR - AIRKEE@BESF
SRR RNEEBENZEES -

AEBZETRERERTEBRFEN 2BRE
BRABANERE - AEEBRRFERE
H15% ERABERGEELER - UBEEB
BRRMES - RRABRFEMS - A&
Bt -—SERELEEMHEK -

BB R P HIRZ KA IS 364,000 T
(ZZ—\F : 359,000 8B T) EAEEFR
FEmE b E 5T 8IS AT 2 K ©



32. OPERATING LEASE

3R 2018-2019 XILEEEERRAT 221

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ReMGRRMEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

ARRANGEMENTS AND
COMMITMENTS

32. FEMN TR ARE

THE GROUP AS LESSEE AEBEAEEA
2019 2018
—E-NF —Z-N\F
HK$’000 HKS$000
FTHET FET
Minimum lease payments paid FARBERKERNETZ
under operating leases during BRIEAENRE :
the year:
Premises LS 6,885 7,698

At the end of the reporting period,
the Group had commitments for future
minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases which fall
due as follows:

SEEESES L L Er Tt
WARRT IR FBEROCEH -

2019 2018

—ZE-hF —E-N\F

HK$°000 HK$"000

TERT FHExT

Within one year —FR 5,673 3,599
In the second to fifth year inclusive S-ZhF(EFEEEWE) 2,197 2,590
7,870 6,189

Operating lease payments represent
rentals payable by the Group for their
office premise. Lease is negotiated for an
average term of two fto three years and
rentals are fixed for an average of two to
three years.

RERNTREFAEERERLAEZWEEN
2% - HAFHERATEIME=F R
FEME=FAREEHESE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

33. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure
that entities in the Group will be able
tfo continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders
through the optimisation of the debt
and equity balance. The Group’s overall
strategy remains unchanged from prior
years.

The capital structure of the Group consists
of equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital,
share premium and reserves.

The Directors review the capital structure
on a semi-annual basis. As part of this
review, the Directors consider the cost
of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the Directors, the
Group will balance its overall capital
structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-
backs as well as the issue of new debt or
the redemption of existing debt.
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FEEEERER  URKRAKEETERE
RENEBERSECEEELE  ANER
BILEBRESRET BARRFRZERKR
Ol - AEEcEEXRBEBTFEERFT

o

FEBEZERRBUERARADETARMLZ
@ (BRERTRA - ROEERMERE)

EER¥FEEFNERRER - FHLLERH
280 EBEEEEAMAREZEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGRRMEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

34 €T H
() SR T EZER

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) Categories of financial

instruments
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$"000
FHExT FHBT
Financial assets STHREE
Financial assets at amortised cost  1REHER A2 2
EWEE 235,859 —
Loans and receivables (including &R KkEWFE(BHE
cash and cash equivalents) ReRREEEY) — 267,143
Financial assets mandatorily BEAFEBEFABRR
measured at FVTPL BEFTECEMEE 5,379 —
Held for trading investments BIEEERE — 7,080
Financial liabilities e =R
Amortised cost REERAIRzEE 3,894 3,414

(b) Financial risk management
objectives and policies

(b) BB EREREBEERBUER

The Group’'s major financial
instfruments include trade receivables,
other receivables and deposit,
financial assets at FVTPL, held for

FEBZIELRIACREERES
A HEWRERRE BAF
BEFAEBEERZERERE  FEE
BERE RIOTEHRURENEZ R

frading investments, bank balances
and trade and other payables.
Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes.
The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market
risk (currency risk, interest rate risk
and other price risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below.
The Directors manage and monitor
these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

REMEBNRIRE  KEESRHT A2
BRENSEMNZE HEEZESRIA
FEzRBEETSRAREYRRE
MEEERAGEELRR) FERR
ERBEZRER - BRENMARELE
B cBERENTX - EEEERE
FUE R 0 DR R K A M R E
EE#EE -



224

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(b) Financial risk management

objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk

There has been no significant change
to the Group’s exposure to market risks
or the manner in which it manages
and measures the risks.

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company
have foreign currency revenues and
expenses giving rise to receivables,
payables and bank balances which
expose the Group to foreign currency
risk. They are mainly denominated in
United States dollars ("USD”), Macau
Pataca ("MOP"), Japanese Yen
"JPY") and RMB. As HKS is pegged to
USD and MOP is pegged to HKS, the
Group does not expect any significant
movements in the USD/HKS and MOP/
HKS exchange rates. The Group is
mainly exposed to foreign exchange
rate risk arising from transactions that
are denominated in JPY and RMB
relative to HKS$. The Directors monitor
foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need
arise.
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34. $RI T H (48)

(b) HHEBREEERERBER(E)

5

AEEEH 2T SERBIEERTE
Rk T RIEEREE -

5

B E f

RN TE DB Q R A NS W s K B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGRRMEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 4. €RTH(E)

(Continued)

(b) Financial risk management (b) EEREEEEREE(E)
objectives and policies
(Continued)
Market risk (Continued) SRk (4E)
Currency risk (Continued) BimEk (&)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s AEBNBREEHUBER AR
JPY and RMB denominated monetary BrEBEE(BIERKESZERERER
assets (including trade and other HERREARBITEFEREZ)IRE
receivables and bank balances BKEBE(BREENSEZRAREMER
and cash) and monetary liabilities M) ZBREENT -

(including trade and other payables)
at the reporting date are as follows:

Assets Liabilities
&E afE
2019 2018 2019 2018

—E-hAFE —E-N\F Z=B-hAF E-N\F
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$"000

FBT FHExT FExT FHBxT
The Group AEE
RMB AR 74,260 25,909 2,556 1,928
JPY H — 3,036 — —
Inter-company AEEEF
balances

RMB AR = — 11,889 13.279
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(b) Financial risk management

34 ST HE(E)

(b) HHEREEEERBER(E)

objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the
RMB and JPY. The following table
details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
(2018: 5%) increase and decrease
in the entity’s respective functional
currency against the relevant foreign
currencies. 5% (2018: 5%) is the
sensitivity rate used when reporting
foreign currency risk internally to
key management personnel and
represents the Directors’ assessment
of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items
and adjusts their translation at the
end of the reporting period for a 5%
(2018: 5%) change in foreign currency
rates. A negative number below
indicates an increase in loss for the
year where HKS$ strengthen against the
relevant currency. For a 5% (2018: 5%)
weakening of HKS against the relevant
currency, there would be an equal
and opposite impact on the loss for
the year, and the negative balances
below would be positive.
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5 m g ()

AEEFZEEHRAREKRBEZR
o TRFJAKEEREELEZBZ
e ER L BRI ABERRBESS
(ZE—N\F 5%) ZHRE 5% (=
Z—N\F 5% BEAFEEEAERI
ERIEREABMAZHBELE I
EESYHIIEEXRTRESBEEH 27
e HBREDMEBFE UM EZ &
KRFEREEMWIEE > WRIREHRUN
WEXSFEHOSH(ZF—\F 5%
HERFAZ - TIHEBHRRIBIEE
BAEAEMERZFEREEEM-
MBTHBREMNEREEBEIR(ZZE—N
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HERHNEE MTIEBEREARE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGRRMEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 4. €T A (E)
(Continued)
(b) Financial risk management (b) BiEREEEZERBE(E)
objectives and policies
(Continued)
Market risk (Continued) s EEE (4E)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued) BURBRE 77 ()
RMB Impact JPY Impact
AR E AEE
2019 2018 2019 2018

—E-hE =—EB-N\F ZB-hE =—ZT-N\E
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$000

FERT FHExT FET FBT
Loss after tax PRELZE1R (2,497) (447) — (127)
In the opinion of the Directors, the EERE BERESIHUEFAREKEER
sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative ZHERE  FRERFRERIE TR
of the inherent foreign exchange risk MR Rz @B o
as the year end exposure does not
reflect the exposure during the year.
Interest rate risk FIE 2 2
The Group is exposed to interest AEBREFERITEBR A EZSEHY
rate risk through the impact of EMEENZERRE ZEESRALEE
rate changes on interest bearing FrE e 2 BB F B IRITAES(MEE22)
bank balances. The Directors have 2HeRENEREBRAER FEAB
considered the Group’s exposure to AMEB—REFRZTHSANEZHERK
cash flow interest rate risk in relation RIEE o

to variable-rate bank balances (Note
22) to be limited because the current
market interest rates on general
deposits are relatively low and stable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(b) Financial risk management

34. ¢RI T H (&)

(b) BEMEEEERBER(E)

objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price
risk through its investment in listed
equity securities which are classified
as financial assets at FVTPL (2018: Held
for tfrading investments). The Directors
manage this exposure by maintaining
a portfolio of investments with
different risk and return profiles and
will consider hedging the risk exposure
should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have
been determined based on the
exposure to equity price risk at the
reporting date.

If the equity prices had been 15%
higher/lower (2018: 15%), post-tax
loss would decrease/increase by
HKS$674,000 (2018: HKS887,000). This
is mainly due to the changes in fair
value of the financial assets at FVTPL
(2018: Held for trading investment).
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AEEEHS ETRABZREMEE
ZRAEZERAR  HoBR/ERQ
FEEFABRERZEMEE(CSE
—N\F EFEERE) EFEBHE
KEATERRRERZREAS
EELER  UERBEFEESEPHR
H R 2 LB o

UTHRBESHIDRERSE A 2R
FEZEREBREE o

HRAESESR LA TEKIS% (=
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/#8 n674,0008 T(= & — N\ F:
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FFABRERZEMEE(ZE—N\&F:
BEEERE) AT EEZEE °



¥ 2018-2019 XILEEEEARATF 229

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGRRMEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 4. TR TR ()

(Continued)

(b) Financial risk management (b) IXEKREEEERBEK (&)

objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss fto
the Group due to failure to discharge
an obligation by the counterparties is
arising from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets
as stated in the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position.

Trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the
Group has a credit control policy in
place under which credit evaluations
of customers are performed on all
customers requiring credit. Other
monitoring procedures are in place
to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group performs
impairment assessment under ECL
model upon application of HKFRS 9
(2018: incurred loss model) on trade
balances individually. In this regard,
the Directors consider that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

1= B /71 B K Bl 18 AT 1

RZZB-AF=ZRA=+—8 ' X&HE
AHFLSREETEAMELENEGS
FERR(HEEILFAEBELEYBE
B)DELEAAEERESMBRRRA
MW ACEIATHEENREE -

EFEHNELZENE G R

AEBREFERR  AEECHE
SEEFEE  AEESBLYHFA
FERECEFPETEFFEEMNMG -
AEBETHMEZERRF  BRRE
WEEEER - b AEBNER
ERNBRELENEIORRBERAE
EFERN(ZZE-N\F  BEELBE
BX)BEEERYE S ERETRE
FE-BUNE  EBERELEEZ
FERBERERLD
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

a:t—v

NE=RA=1+—-HLFE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(b) Financial risk management

objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers (Continued)

The Group measures the loss
allowance on trade receivables at an
amount equal fo lifetime ECL.

The Group has concentration of credit
risk 72% of the total trade receivables
was due from two customers from
publishing and intellectual properties
licensing segment and digital
marketing segment with credit tferms
of 30 to 60 days (2018: 82% due from
two customers from retailing and
wholesales segment). The Directors
considered that the credit risk of
amounts due from these customers
is insignificant after considering their
historical settlement record, credit
quality and financial positions.
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(b) EREBEEEERBE(E)

FEmER R BEFG (F)
EFEHNELZRENE SR (E)

REBZHES Fiﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁ SEBES

HIFERWE SRR 2EERE -
$’EIZ1=.,\ B ETRERE SR

MAEBEET2% HRBHMRRABERE
HE’“BLA&%M%%?&E’“BZW
EEF FEHANEOXR(ZE
—NF 2% REZTERMEI B2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGRRMEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 4. eI RA(E)

(Continued)

(b) Financial risk management (b) EEREEEEREE(E)

objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Other receivables, deposits and bank
balances

The credit quality of other receivables
and deposits has been assessed with
reference to historical information
about the financial position of the
counterparties. The Directors closely
monitor the credit quality of other
receivables and deposits and consider
those amounts, which are neither
past due nor impaired, are of a
good credit quality in view of the
good historical repayment record of
such parties. In addition, the Group
performs impairment assessment under
ECL model upon application of HKFRS
9 (2018: incurred loss model) on these
balances individually.

For the purpose of impairment
assessment of other receivables
and deposits, the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equals
to 12m ECL. In determining the
expected credit losses for these
assets, the Directors have taken
infto account the financial position
of the counterparties, the industries
they operate, as well as their latest
available operating results, in
estimating the probability of default
of each of these financial assets
occurring within their respective loss
assessment time horizon, as well as the
loss upon default in each case.

=B R R B EFE (E)

BttERHE » BERRITAETF

Htt B AR ERBREZFEEEZLE
SEXGHRTUBRAR ZBELERE
TEHE  c EEERYERHMEBUW
BEkEEZEEER  UEEZESR
FRREBEEBRLE  BB/ZER
BHIARBEZEEEARFFEEES
ot NREBREREEMBR
SEAFIR(ZE-NF BELE
BENX)RENRZSEEHRERBE
BB ETRERNL

BEMERFIBERZE ZBENEM
T BEBEURASRNI12EERME
EFBECEHTE - BAZEEETE
HHMEERER  EZCZEXRSY
F2BBRR  BETERERHA
BEEXE  URBSEZBRIMLE
BHEARRERENBRZBXRE
EAREZEEREECEVIRER -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(b) Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Other receivables, deposits and bank
balances (Continued)

The credit risks on bank balances are
limited because the counterparties
are financial institutions with high
credit ratings assigned by international
credit-rating agencies.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading
assessment comprises the following

categories:

Internal credit rating Description

34 ST HE(E)

(b) HHEREEEERBER(E)

=B R B EFE (E)
AtERFE BT RIRTA#F (E)

RTEFZFERRAR  RE/X
SHRTAHBERFEETREBIEES
SEENRZEEMEE -

AEBzABEERBFIREBEUT
5l -

Trade receivables Other financial assets

R EEFR i W E 5 RN HiteMEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
default. — noft credit-impaired
iz REUHENEBIE - FHREBRERE 2EARSEESE
— EREHE
Doubtful There have been significant increases  Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
in credit risk since initial recognition — not credit-impaired ~ — not credit-impaired
through information developed
internally or external resources
e BEBNBAEERINIERNIRE  FHREGERE FHRSEERE
PR RERBE KIEED — EREHE — EBREEHE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset  Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
is credit-impaired — credit-impaired — credit-impaired
BE BREEREEMREERNE FHRBRERE FHRSBEERE
— FEHE — FEHE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that Amount is written off Amount is written off
the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
fiisH EREETERARHEENRNESEE  SHECHE SHCHE

I ER e A B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(b) Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk
exposures of the Group’s financial
assets, which are subject to ECL

34.

ReMGRRMEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

TRTA(E)

(b) HEEREEEZERBEK(E)

=B R R B EFE (E)

TRHAMIHAEEEHEERNE 2
FERR HAETRHBEEEEF
&

assessment;
External Intemnal Gross carrying
2019 Notes credit rating  credit rating  12m or lifetime ECL amount
ZB-NF Wi HBEEFR ABEEFR N2EALFHRAGERS BREE
HK$"000
TEn
Financial assets at amortised cost
REEAATEZENEE
Trade receivables (Note ) 19 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL 9,969
EUWESER (Mita) TEH fERmR EHRAEERR
N/A Loss Lifetime ECL credit-impaired 636
&R 33| EHRSEERR(FERNE)
Other receivables and deposits 20 N/A Low risk 12m ECL 5,520
(Note b)
HftEUWFER &S (Fatb) Sl R 12BARBEEES
Bank balances (Note ¢) 22 AA+ N/A 12m ECL 219,044
/TR (Mitc) TEA 12EARBEEES
Bad N/A 12m ECL 854
TER 12EARBEERR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(b) Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Notes:

a.

For trade receivables, the Group has
applied the simplified approach in HKFRS
9 to measure the loss allowance at
lifetime ECL. The Group detfermines the
ECL on these items by using an individual
basis. As part of the Group’s credit risk
management, the Group applies internal
credit rating for its customers.

During the year, the Group did not provide
any impairment allowance on debtors
with no credit-impaired as the amount
is insignificant. Impairment allowance of
HK$636,000 were made on credit-impaired
debtor as at 31 March 2019.

The Group assessed the loss allowance
for other receivables on 12-month ECL
basis. In determining the ECL, the Group
has taken into account the historical
past due experience and forward-looking
information as appropriate. There had
been no significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition. As at 31
March 2019, the remaining balances of
HK$5,520,000 are neither past due nor with
fixed repayment terms and the internal
credit rating is considered as low risk.

Bank balances are repayable on demand
and the Group did not provide any
12-month ECL on bank balances as the
amount is insignificant.
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(b) HHEREEEERBER(E)

=B R B EFE (E)

FEE -

REWEZRAMS  AEEERREEY
B EERE R AL TR IEFHELY
FEBRAERRRE AEEEAER
BREEEEZSHE 2 ARFEEBE -
EAFEEEERRERZ 82 A&
EHEEFREANBEETR

RAFE  AEEVTEHBEEREZE
BASHREMRERE HREEEEL
TER-RZE-NF=ZA=+—H B
) 5 BB B 55 A F HRUE 1 5 636,000
BT °

REBEZI12EARBEEBENGHME
WRHEzBEEE REEZRBEEEE
B AEECEEZRZBEAMERR
RIBEMEE R - AYIGHERRR - FEER
WHEBAZHEN - RZFB-NF=RA=1+—
B - &k 45 175,520,000 JT 30 #5880 |
WEEEERD  MABEETREES
EE -

RITEFRREREE  MAKELERR
RITEFEHEM12EAEREEHER
B ERAERSBEYLTEK-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGRRMEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 4. cRTITAE(E)

(Continued)

(b) Financial risk management (b) EEREEEEREE(E)
objectives and policies
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment B &R E S (4E)
(Continued)
The following table shows the TRERRBELCTLIEHRIAZENR
movement in lifetime ECL that has ESRAZFHEREESEBE 22 -

been recognised for frade receivables
under the simplified approach.

Lifetime
ECL
(credit-
impaired)
FHATEH
FEBIR
(FERE)
HKS$"000
FHET

As at 1 April 2018 R-ZE—-N\FMHA—H 1,049
Eliminated upon disposal of subsidiary REEMREB A TEREUE (628)
Impairment losses recognised ERRREEE 215

As at 31 March 2019 R-ZZBE-hF=ZRA=+—H 636
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(b) Financial risk management

objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The Group writes off trade receivables
when there is information indicating
that the debftor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, e.g. when
the debtor has been placed under
liuidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings.

The following table show reconciliation

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FReMGHRRME

34. $R T H (&)

(b) HHEBREEEERBER(E)

FEEAR R BEFE (E)

ERENETREBARERBREYHRE
HEWEERAREIR(HIW : ER
BAREBRNCEANRERFRF) B
REEMFEEWE Z IRK ©

TRERCHEALMBRTEREZS

of loss allowances that has been ZEBBREHE
recognised for other receivables and
deposits:
12m ECL
(credit-
impaired)
1218 B
FEEE
(FERE)
HKS$"000
FET
As at 1 April 2018 RZZE-N\FEWME—H 835
Write-off 8K (835)
As at 31 March 2019 R=-Z2-NAF=A=+—H —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGRRMEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 4. EMITA(E)

(Continued)

(b) Financial risk management (b)) EREBEEEERBEK(E)

objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity
risk, the Group monitor and maintain a
level of cash and cash equivalents by
the Directors to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows.

The Directors regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements
to ensure it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and bank balances
and adequate funding from its
shareholders to meet with its liquidity
requirements.

The following table details the Group’s
remaining contractual maturity for
its financial liabilities based on the
agreed repayment term. The table
has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on
which the Group can be required fo
pay. The table includes principal cash
flows.

ATHERDESAR AREES
REFESRARLEAAEELE
RERSTRERD 2 HE -

EEEHERERRRPRDESE
R UBREEREAZRESRRT
HRRREBUARKBEERRZARE
T UREERBESER -

TRALAEEVBEERBEHEE
RBZHRTENEHA - ZRDRE
FEBENFRZERENREHEE
CABRREREFEH - ZREBEL
THERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

(b) Financial risk management
objectives and policies
(Continued)

34. $R T H (&)

(b) BB EMREREEERBER (&)

Liquidity risk (Continued) TEEZERE (E)
Liquidity table REEEH
Weighted ~ Repayable on Total
average demand and  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate  within one year cash flows amount
RERR  AERRERE
MEFHH =2 R-FR{EE mE REE
% HK$"000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR
2019 “E-1E
Trade and other payables EHESRTR A
ETE — 3,894 3,894 3,894
2018 ZB-N\F
Trade and other payables EHESRT KA
A — 3,414 3,414 3,414
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGRRMEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

BE-_Z-hE=ZA=+—HLEE
34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 4. €T AR (E)
(Continued)

(c) Fair value measurements of

(c) EMITREZAFEEE

financial instruments

Fair value of the Group’s financial
assets that are measured at fair value
on a recurring basis

The level in the fair value hierarchy
within which the financial asseft
is categorised in ifs entirety is
based on the lowest level of input
that is significant to the fair value
measurement.,

BEEMEELLNFEETEZLE
Bt@EEZ L FEE

TRHMEERXEMERAZAVEERE
RRzER DERYQAFEETE
ERERERZBREERBARE -

Valuation Significant Relationship of
Fair value fechnique(s) unobservable unobservable
Financil asset Fair value hierarchy and key input(s) inputs inputs to fair value
fbERER EXFTEE FEREAHES
SHER AYEE ATEEER BREHE BAME LREZBE
2019 2018
“%-1E - 2
Listed equify securities clossified Assets: - levell Quoted bid pricesinon~ N/A N/A
os financial assets ot FVIPL - = HK$5,379,000 active market
PERROTEEN\BRKLER &g 18 i e AU TR FER
AL - 5.379,000%7
Listed equity securifies held for = Assets  Level 1 Quoted bid pricesinan /A N/A
frading investment — HK§7,080,000 octive morket
FFEERE [RARS 2 %1% EEEREEAR TR TR
—7080000E%

Fair value of the Group’s financial
assets that are not measured at fair
value on a recurring basis

The fair value of other financial assets
and financial liabilities that are not
measured at fair value on a recurring
basis are determined in accordance
with generally accepted pricing
models based on discounfed cash
flow analysis.

The Directors consider that the
carrying amounts of financial assets
and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated
financial statements approximate their
fair value.

WHEAEMEEL L FEETEZ
FEEEHBEEZ L FEE

WHEBEEMHEEUQNFEENEZ
HtteMEEREREBEZLAFEE

BoMMEE

EERANGEEVBRRANRBHER
AARzEMEEREMEBBEZRE
EEANFEEES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/
BALANCES

(a) Compensation of key

5. FRAEALRS

(a) TEEBABZF M

management personnel

The key management of the
Group comprises all directors of
the Company, details of their
emoluments are disclosed in Note
12. The emoluments of the Directors
are decided by the remuneration
committee of the Company having
regard to individual’s performance,
the Group’'s performance and
profitability, remuneration benchmark
in the industry and prevailing market
condition.

(b) Related party transactions

The Group entered into the following

AEEZTEEBASBREAQAAM
BES HMESHBRMEI12HE -
EEMEemARAFHEESREE
ARB - AEERBERBNED - 17
EFWEERBITHRMERE

(b) EEREALRS
RER AEEEUTABEAL

fransactions with a related party ARG

during the year:

Associate Nature of transaction 2019 2018

BEA XEHE —E-NF —ZE-N\F

CMEL Rental expense 405 —
HeEH

CMEL Royalty income 2,907 —
F R e A

In addition to related party transactions
as disclosed above, during the year
ended 31 March 2019, one of the
shareholders of the Company, L & W
Holding Limited, which holds 19.52%
equity inferests in the Company
advanced a tfotal of MOP3,060,000
(equivalent to approximately
HK$2,971,000) to a subsidiary of Ucan
Commercial for operation purpose. The
amount is unsecured, interest free and
repayable on demand.
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REXFIEBEZEERRZ N BE
—E-hFEZRA=t—-RHLEE:
KAR—BEFEBERDQAF19.52% % &7
Z B RL & W Holding Limited @
Ucan Commercial z — B &2 7
A H3,060,000BF T(HERY
2,971,00087T) r (FREERR - Z
SHABRKHE REREAREREER-



36. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY
General information of

a.

subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries as at 31 March 2019 are as
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGRRMEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

36. KRR EEME AT

a. MEBLARZ-—KREHR

RKARARZZB-NF=ZR=+—-HB=E
EMB LR 2HAERMT ¢

follows:
Place/country Issued and Proportion of nominal
of incorporation  fully paid value of issued share
or registration/ share capital/  capital indirectly held by
Name operation registered capital the Company Principal activities
AMEYSER,  CERORERRE/  ARARAEEREZ
tH gEHY /A% EREA ERORAEELA  IEER
2019 2018
ZE-AF E-N\%
% %
Citicomics Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 10 70 Publishing and infellectual
BEULERAR B EBR2ER properties licensing
HRRAREERE
Culturecom Centre Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 100 100 Provision of management services to
WL EERLERD R B EBR2ER group compoanies
RAEERBTEENT
Culturecom Enterprises Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 100 100 Provision of management services to
UL EELERRAT B EBR2ER group compoanies
RAEERETEENT
Culturecom Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000 95 95 Investment holding and publishing
X EREERAF &k LER 10005 and intellectual properties licensing
REBRURLRRARERRRE
Culturecom Investments Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 100 100 Investment holding and securities
Y ERRERRAT Bk LER2ER trading
REEREESEE
Culturecom Media Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 100 100 Provision for multimedia service
VEERERAT &k LER2ER RIESHERY
Culturekid i-shop (HK) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 100 100 Trading of wine
YERERERE(FE)BRAR gk LER2ER EERE
Winway HK. Investments Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 100 100 Investment holding and securities
KAEBRERRAT Bk LER2ER trading

REERREXEE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

36. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

General information of
subsidiaries (Continued)

a.

36. KRR ZEEMBE AT (&)

a. MEBLARZ-—REMGE)

Place/country Issued and Proportion of nominal
of incorporation  fully paid value of issued share
or registration/ share capital/  capital indirectly held by
Name operation registered capital the Company Principal activities
aMELSER/  CERORARRE/  ARLAAEEEEZ
£ gE#Y /A% &R BRTRAEELS  FEEH
2019 2018
3-0F ZE-\%
% %
Ucan.com Group Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 100 100 Investment holding
gk HK$10,000 REER
ZBER10000% T
FEEHERREERAR Macau Ordinary 100 100 Catering
15 MOP25,000 i)
ZER 2500080
BNR-BEFREFERAT PRC Registered 55 55 Operation of digital cinema
HE RMB5,010,000 LeyEEYR
AERARS
5,010,000t
THE ONE Comics Publishing Limifed  Hong Kong Ordinary 51 51 Publishing and infellectual
-BELRERAT gk HK$1,618,900 properties licensing
L8R 1,618,900 R AR E R R
BT
IRAEANRERLR PRC Registered 55 —  Digital marketing business
e RMB533,000 HETERRRR
AMERARE
533,000 70
IREEERNEARLA PRC Registered 5 —  Digital marketing business
e RMB950,000 HETBRRRR
AMERARE
950,000t
VB (HE)RELE (BRAN) PRC Registered 100 —  Digital marketing business
HE RMB7,318,400 HETBRRER
AMERARE
7,318,400 70
B (KB REERLF PRC Registered 100 —  Digital marketing business
HE RMB35,341,400 HETRRRER
AMERARE
35,341,400 T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

a.

General information of
subsidiaries (Continued)

None of the subsidiaries had any debt
securities outstanding during the year
or at the end of the year.

At the end of the reporting period,
the Company has other subsidiaries
that are not material to the Group. A
majority of these subsidiaries operate
in Hong Kong and BVI. The principal
activities of these subsidiaries are
summarised as follows:

Principal activities

ReMGRRMEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

36. KATFZEEMBE AT (&)

a.

Principal place of business

MEBLRZ—RER(E

FEMBARMERFARFLER
TEZEMEEES -

REBEMHK AADELHYFEE
MEBERZEMHERF - K
BARASBAEERRBELHES
EE o WEMBARN T EEBMR
T

Number of subsidiaries

FEXEK FTEEENWY MEAREE
2019 2018
—E-NF —B-N\F
Investment holding BVI, Hong Kong 19 17
REEZR REELES BB
Dormant/Inactive companies BVI, Hong Kong, PRC 8 7

The Directors are of the opinion that
a complete list of the particulars of
all subsidiaries would be of excessive
length and therefore the above list
contains only the subsidiaries which
principally affect the results or assets
or liabilities of the Group.

REBELEE B8 $H

EERBLRFMERINIEZELE
BeXBEREENEBEZMNBELR
HINEHMBLAR 2FHAERBER
RBRITE °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

36. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

b.

244

Details of non-wholly owned
subsidiary that have material
non-controlling interests

The table below shows details of non-
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group
that have material non-conftrolling
interests:

36. KRR ZEEMBE AT (&)

b. ¥2EMBLAAEEREANNE

ERERZFHE

TRIINAKEEFRZEWE L AR
BEARFERER ZFE -

Place of
incorporation Proportion of
and principal ownership interests and Loss allocated Accumulated
place of voting rights held by fo non-controlling non-controlling
Narme of subsidiary business non-controlling inferests interests interests
ift
HIBER FERRERRL
i} P TRERNE BEREERAZEZHD AREFEREELHE BithihEs
2019 2018 2019 218 2019 218
20 CE-NF 0 ZRF 0 RN\ ZBnE R
HK§'000 HKS'000 HK{'000 HKS'000
Tén TE1 Tén T
Eqmen CEi! PRC 45% - (1,108) - 22,126 -
Individually immaterial ERFEANBL A ERER
subsidiaries with non-
controling interests M) LASQ)
17,443 (5.459)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGRRMEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

36. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 36. KRARZEEHB AT (&)
COMPANY (Continued)

b. Details of non-wholly owned b. ¥2EMBARIEEEEANFE
subsidiary that have material ERESEHFBE)
non-controlling interests
(Continued)

Eqmen Z&FT
2019
—E-hF
HK$’000
FET
Current assets REEE 46,237
Non-current assets FREBEE 5,012
Current liabilities NEIN=RE 1,388
Non-current liabilities FREBEE 692

Equity aftributable to owners of the  ANATEE AFEGER
Company 27,043

Non-controlling interests of Egmen ZHEMZERESR 22,126



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FReMGHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

36. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 36. AT T EME L T (&
COMPANY (Confinued)
b

b. Details of non-wholly owned . HEEWBLSERREARSF
subsidiary that have material ERERZFE(E)
non-controlling interests
(Continued)

Egmen (Continued) BEFI(E
Year ended
31 March
2019
BE-ZT-h&§
=ZA=t+—-HL
FE
HK$'000
THERT
Revenue A 5,562
Expenses 53 (8,024)
Loss for the year FEFR (2,462)
Loss attributable to owners of RARHEAEGES
the Company . ) (1,354)
Loss atftributable to the non-controlling SEMZFERERELER
interests of Egmen (1,108)
Loss for the year FEBE (2,462)
Other comprehensive income RATFEEAEGHMAZE KSR
attributable to owners of the Company ) . 455
Other comprehensive income SEMZFEREREEHM2ZEKE
aftributable to the non-conftrolling
interests of Egmen 373
Other comprehensive income for the FEHMEEKE
year 828
Total comprehensive expense RARBEARGZEMASARE
attributable to owners of the Company e (899)
Total comprehensive expense SHEMZEERETEMEZEMAX
attributable to the non-controlling R
interests of Egmen (735)
Total comprehensive expense for FEXHBXAHE
the year (1,634)
Net cash outflow from operating REEBRBERLFE
activities (8,440)
Net cash outflow Be&mt 78 (8,440)

246 Culturecom Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2018-2019



R 2018-2019 XILEEEERRAT 247

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the
Group’s liabilities arising from financing
activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from
financing activities are those for which
cash flows were, or future cash flows will
be, classified in the Group’s consolidated
statement of cash flows as cash flows from
financing activities.

37.

ReMGRRMEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

MEXBELEEBEZIHER

TRHALAEEREXBELEB2EE
BRERENFRSEY  -BHEXKELEE
ARERBIAARRREREBBNAEB 245
ERENERPIEAREXBREREZ
-

Advance
Advance from an
from a independent
shareholder third party Total
— BB/
—ERREBR F=ZFBXN nE
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FET
At 1 April 2017, 31 March R=ZZE—tFWmA—H -
2018 and —E-N\F
1 April 2018 =A=t—-HK
—E-NFMA—H — — —
Financing cash flows AMEREERE 2,971 1,275 4,246
Disposal of subsidiaries HENB QTR 2,971 (1,275) (4,246)

At 31 March 2019 RIE—RHF
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
BE-Z—-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEEE

38. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING

PERIOD

On 24 May 2019, the Group entered
into continuing connected transactions
between its subsidiary and the
subsidiary’s non-controlling interest,
Beijing WeiResearch Info Technology
Limited ("WeiResearch”). Two framework
agreements are signed befween both
parties including servicing agreement and
licensing agreement. For the servicing
agreement, the Group will provide a
project-based services to WeiResearch
and the monetary cap of the services are
RMB80,000,000 until 31 December 2019.
For the licensing agreement, WeiResearch
will provide the exclusive right to license
the software to the Group with an annual
monetary cap of RMB750,000 in the coming
three years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ReMGRRMEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
HEZZE-hF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE

39. INFORMATION ABOUT 39. EEAA R BB BARR 2 EF
FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY
Information about the statement of BREAARQATRBERRTHEMRAKZ2ER
financial position of the Company at the BEF

end of the reporting period includes:

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FE&T
Non-current asset ERBEE
Unlisted investment in a subsidiary R—REMBATZELHRE — —
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE UK B B A BRI FRIB 174,798 102,965
174,798 102,965
Current asset REEE
Bank balances RITHEER 114,690 208,186
Current liability REEE
Other payables and accrued HihENRIEREFTEA
charges 687 469
Net current assets REBEEFE 114,003 207,717
288,801 310,682
Capital and reserves B #E
Share capital (Note 26) IR 7R (B =E 26) 13,907 13,907
Share premium and reserves Iz 10 B R & (MEE)
(Note) 274,894 296,775

288,801 310,682
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
L E_E-NFE=ZA=+—HLEE

39. INFORMATION ABOUT

FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FReMGHRRME

39. FAER QXA MBRR 2 ER (F)

Note: Mz :
Movement in the Company’s share premium and EATRBEERREEES
reserves
Capital Share
Contribufion Warrant redemption opfions Accumulated
Share premium surplus reserve eserve eserve losses Total
RipEE BARY ARERRE BRARERE BRERSE 2HER ag
HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TiEn TiER TER TR TER TR TR
At T April 2017 R-E-tEMA-H 2025611 22,143 4,283 Wb 4794 (1,990.226) 349.401
Loss for the yeor EEHR - - - - - (52,626 (52,026)
Lapse of share options BREXN - - - - @7.194) 47,94 -
Lapse of warrants FRERRN - - ¢.23%3) - - 4283 -
At 31 March 2018 RE-NE=f=1-A 2025611 22,143 - b - (1,991,425) 296,775
Adjustment arising from nfticl application  IREREBHKREEY
of HKFKS 9 EREL - - - - - (2099) (2099)
At 1 January 2018 (restated) W=%-N%--R(£E3)) 2025611 262,143 7 - (1.993,478) 0412
Loss for the year FEGR - - - - (19,828) (19.29)
At 31 March 2019 RE-nEZf=1-A 2025611 22,143 - b - (2013,300) 214,694

The Company has applied HKFRS 9
in accordance with the fransition
provisions set out in HKFRS 9, i.e. applied
the classification and measurement
requirement (including impairment under
ECL model) retrospectively to instruments
that have not been derecognised as at
1 April 2018 (date of initial application)
and has not applied the requirement
to instruments that have already been
derecognised as at 1 April 2018. The
difference between carrying amounts as at
31 March 2018 and carrying amounts as at
1 April 2018 are recognised in the opening
accumulated losses, without restating
comparative information

At 1 April 2018, except for the transition
impact of HKFRS 9 as disclosed above,
the Company applied the other new and
amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective, including HKFRS 15, and there
was no material impact on the Company's

financial position at 1 April 2018.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MEBE

The consolidated results and assets and REBRBELERAEMBREE2HREXEREER
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial BENHEELERMKRE  HIOT -

years, as exfracted from the audited financial
statements are as follows:

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+-HLEE
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
“E-RF ZE-RXE ZE—tF ZE-N\F ZE-AF
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$’000
TET THET THET FTER FERT

(Restated)
(&)
RESULTS E4
Continuing operations: HELEEK:

Revenue /PN 24,891 27,792 24,026 34,910 21,715
Loss before tax BREAIE R (117,119) (61,203) (49,835) (45,889) (22,579)
Income tax (expense) credit Frig# ()&% (3,130) (294) (1,202) (18) 6
Loss for the year from REFERSEEK

continuing operations FEFR (120,249) (61,497) (561,037) (45,907) (22,573)
Loss for the year from RERIEEEER Y

discontinued operation FEEE — — — (11,889) (9,467)
Loss for the year EARBEANELEEE

attributable to owners BE

of the Company:

—from continuing — REFELEEK

operations (115,684) (58,078) (48,753) (46,153) (21,868)

—from discontinued — RERILEEEK

operation — — — (11,889) (9,467)

(115,684) (68,078) (48,753) (68,042) (31,335)

(Loss) profit for the year REFESEEKHE
attributable to non- ERESEGEE
controlling interests from  (&518) &7
continuing operations (4,565) 3.419) (2,284) 246 (705)
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

MEE=E

As at 31 March

R=A=+-8
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
“E-hF ZZ-xf ZE—tf ZZ-N\F ZE-hf
HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS"000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TERT TERT TAT TR TERT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERERE
Property, plant and ME - BERR
equipment 14,785 8,946 2,029 805 837
Film right and film EYMERBEREY
production in progress — — 31,600 1,620 117
Long term deposits REi% e — 1,645 3,796 555 555
Interests in associates N =N £ 38,180 33,828 — 1,143 1,390
Goodwill mE — — — — 19,949
Intangible assets BEEE 1,385 1,385 1,385 1,385 6,162
Available-for-sale financial A#HEERHEE
assets 2 — — — —
Financial assets at fair BOATEESFABRR
value through profit or ZERMEE
loss — — — — 5,379
Net current assets REBEEFE 213,822 200,836 325,210 306,872 269,187
268,174 246,640 364,020 311,380 303,576
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (942) (784) (712) (698) (1,384)
267,232 245,856 363,308 310,682 302,192
Share capital N 11,738 12,142 13,907 13,907 13,907
Share premium and BiDRERFEE
reserves 273,246 254,278 354,816 302,234 270,842
Equity attributable to v\ UNSIE 2PNy
owners of the Company 284,984 266,420 368,723 316,141 284,749
Non-controlling interests  3EiZMRIER (17752)  (20,564) (5,.415) (5,459) 17,443
267,232 245,856 363,308 310,682 302,192
The comparative information has not been Lk ER Y ERIEERAES B EREERE

restated on initial application of HKFRS 9 and

HKFRS 15.
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